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UCL is a financial services group operating in Bangladesh. UCL Group has two subsidiaries: UniCap Securities 
Limited and UniCap Investments Limited. Both the subsidiaries are providing capital market services while UCL is a 
non-banking financial institution that provides comprehensive financial services. UCL’s ordinary shares are traded 
on both the bourses of Bangladesh since 2007.

UCL and its subsidiaries constitute one of the largest financial groups, which began its activities more than 21 years 
ago. UCL’s predecessor, Peregrine Capital Limited was established in 1988 based in Hong Kong. UCL is involved in a variety 
of financial and nonbanking activities in Bangladesh. UCL operates through its 7 branch offices located in Dhaka, 
Chattogram, Sylhet, Gazipur, Narsingdi and Bogura along with its subsidiaries namely UniCap Securities Ltd. and UniCap 
Investments Ltd. UCL’s policy is to provide its customers with comprehensive financial solutions, high-level professional 
services, and a wide variety of products adapted to each customer’s needs. To implement its strategy, UCL operates 
through different business lines, with each business line providing financial services to a particular customer segment: 
Corporate Financial Services including leasing and term finance to SMEs and large enterprises of different sectors, 
Capital Market Services include issue management, share trading and portfolio management through its subsidiaries 
and Retail Customer Services include deposit schemes and personal lending. UCL is a publicly traded company listed 
on both the Dhaka and Chittagong Stock Exchange. UCL is a highly focused business with strong management and 
a clearly defined business plan creating value and delivering shareholder return from core operating business. UCL is 
a diversified company that creates value and delivers shareholder returns from core operating business. Our focus, 
core competency and competitive advantage is driven by our team’s depth of knowledge, experience and hands-on 
expertise.

THE GROUP SERVICES

•	 Different deposit schemes

•	 Corporate and SME finance

•	 Retail finance

•	 Investors portfolio management

•	 IPO and rights issue management

•	 Corporate advisory services

•	 Margin loan for investment in securities

•	 Share trading for retail and corporate investors

BUSINESS CLUSTERS

•	 Union Capital Limited (NBFI)

•	 UniCap Securities Limited (a Member of DSE and CSE)

•	 UniCap Investments Limited (a full fledged Merchant Bank)

BUSINESS FOCUS

•	 Local Market

•	 Access to major areas of financial & investment services

•	 Building strong investment portfolio

•	 Deliver legendary customer

EXPERIENCES

•	 Be an extraordinary place to work

•	 Operate with excellence

•	 Take only risks that we understand and can manage

•	 Enhance our brand image

•	 Increase shareholders’ value

BUSINESS LOCATION

•	 Registered office in Dhaka

•	 Major operating centres in Dhaka

•	 Branch network in Dhaka, Chattogram, Sylhet, Gazipur,   
Narsingdi and Bogura.

UCL’s policy is to provide its customers with comprehensive financial solutions, high-level professional services, and a wide variety of products 
adapted to each customer’s needs.

GROUP PROFILE
Sketch UCL’s operational sphere
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We follow our guiding principles to:

•	 Deliver legendary customer experience;

•	 Be an extraordinary place of work;

•	 Operate with excellence;

•	 Understand our business;

•	 Take only the risks we understand and can manage;

•	 Enhance our brand image;

•	 Increase shareholders’ value.

Our leaders expect to:

•	 Make a positive impact;

•	 Build for the future;

•	 Inspire the ‘will to win’;

•	 Work effectively in teams;

•	 Live transparency;

•	 Show excellent judgement;

•	 Demonstrate unwavering integrity

We have a clear vision and deliverable strategy underpinned by our values which provide the opportunity to generate excellent return.

VISION

STRATEGY COMMITMENT

MISSION

UCL Group’s framework outlines our Vision, Mission and Strategy along with our 
Guiding Principles and expectations of leaders. It outlines in a simple way who we 
are, what we stand for and how we get things done. It’s easy for employees to 
understand and incorporate in their day-to-day work. Most importantly, it applies to 
everyone at UCL Group.

CORPORATE FRAMEWORK 
Outlines Vision, Mission, Strategy and Guiding Principles

To become a leading and sustainable 
financial institution providing integrated 
financial services that reflects its 
principles and values by aligning with 
our mission giving special focus on 
enhancing values for all stakeholders 
through excellence in performance and 
good governance.

To be the best run, customer-focused 
and integrated financial institution with 
a unique and inclusive employee culture. 

Based on our vision, we have chosen 
to give priority to our overall strategic 
objectives that create the foundation 
for strong growth and focus on 
continuous value enhancement.

We are committed to returning superior 
value to our Stakeholders through 
leadership in innovation, an absolute 
focus on customers and operational 
excellence.
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OUR VISION
The overall aspiration of the business that sets out what we want to be

Our vision is to become a leading and sustainable financial institution providing integrated 
financial services that reflect its principles and values by aligning with our mission giving special 
focus on enhancing value through our continuing efforts to provide higher levels of product 
quality and customer service with excellence in performance and good governance for our 
stakeholders.

OUR
SHAREHOLDERS

OUR
CUSTOMERS

OUR
COMMUNITY

OUR
EMPLOYEES

OUR
ENVIRONMENT

Maximizing 
shareholders’ wealth 
by achieving superior 
performance.

Developing strong 
and mutual beneficial 
relationships by 
working closely with 
our customers

Be good citizen 
supporting community 
initiatives in health, 
education, arts and 
socio-economic 
development 

Protecting our 
environment and 
benefitting the 
community where 
we do business

Providing a safe and 
supportive working 
environment for our 
employees
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OUR MISSION
The overall purpose of the business that sets out how we are going to achieve our vision

Our mission is to be the best run, customer-focused and integrated financial institution with a unique and 
inclusive employee culture. We are committed to return superior value to our stakeholders. We will achieve this 
through leadership in innovation, an absolute focus on customers and operational excellence.

COMMUNITY
Contribute to the community 

development maintaining high 
ethical standards, obey all 

laws, and respect local 
customs

EMPLOYEES
Strive to have 

high-performing corporate 
structure and ensure the 

employees to work with 
winning spirit and excitement 

having vision and pride in 
their mind

SHAREHOLDERS
Increase corporate values 

and generate shareholders 
benefits through constant 

growth, profit generation and 
employee commitment to 

excellence

CUSTOMERS
Provide the most preferred 
products and services to 
customers by offering values 
that exceed customers 
expectation. We believe our 
customers’ success 
determines our future

ENVIRONMENT
Be an environmentally- 
responsible company working 
together with all stakeholders 
to reduce environmental 
impact by embedding the 
environment into our 
business and involving our 
employees, customers and 
the community

We are committed to return superior value to our stakeholders. We will achieve this through 
leadership in innovation, an absolute focus on customers and operational excellence, while costs 
need to be at least in line with our competitors.
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...Very good is not good enough, excellence is our goal.

OUR GOALS 
General statements of what business intends to achieve

GROWTH

Grow revenue faster than the market. Build on good 
performance in improving cash flow. Execute well and 
with predictability. The goal is to have an average annual 
investment growth rate of at least 30 percent that was 
established based on the company’s growth over a period 
of three years and an assessment of its future prospects.

PROFITABILITY

The goal is to have an operating margin (EBIT) of 30 
percent measured over a business cycle. The profitability 
goal was established based on historical margins and the 
company’s growth ambitions.

INVESTMENTS

The benchmark value states that as a provider of financial 
services, UCL should make significant investments in 
operating assets and human resource that will generate 
value by improving the operating performance and 
provide the best return.

CAPITAL UTILIZATION

The goal is to have a return on capital employed of at 
least 10 percent. This level was set taking into account 
the relatively low level of capital tied up in non-operating 
assets.

DEBT/EQUITY RATIO

In the long term, the debt/equity ratio, meaning the 
fund UCL borrows in relation to the carrying amount 
of shareholders’ equity, is to be less than eight percent. 
Although the ratio may exceed this level in connection 
with aggressive investment activities, this should be viewed 
as merely temporary, since deposits, surplus of operating 
cash flow and earnings are expected to offset this effect.

SUSTAINABILITY GOALS

In addition to its financial goals, UCL has a number of 
non-financial goals, including a reduction in paper 
consumption, increased energy efficiency, and a reduction 
in greenhouse gas emissions. We want to make a positive 
impact through partnership, initiatives and supporting 
the charitable efforts in our community.

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash flow from operating activities is amounting to 30 
percent of operational revenue. This value is lower than 
the goal for the operating margin, since organic growth 
normally requires an increase in borrowings. In addition, 
taxes are paid in an amount corresponding to 37.50 
percent of earnings before tax.

UCL’s operation is governed not only by the Company’s business concept, but also by the financial goals established 
with regard to growth, profitability and return. By achieving or exceeding these goals. UCL creates the necessary 
scope for its continued development, as well as generating increased value for its shareholders in the form of an 
annual dividend and by boosting the value of the Company.
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...our values and standards are the basis of our success. They always have been. They always will be. They shape the culture and define the 
character of our company. They guide how we behave and make decisions.

INTEGRITY
We act with integrity. We act consistently based on a set 
of values, ethical standards and principles. We conduct all 
our activities with fairness, honesty and integrity.

TRUST
We work diligently to build a deeper level of trust with 
our clients and fund providers through appropriate 
investment ideas and value added services.

TEAMWORK
We create a caring, engaged and enabled work 
environment that recognizes both individual and team 
contributions in pursuit of high performance. We believe 
that a good team in an entrepreneurial environment 
results in achieving UCL’s vision.

TRANSPARENCY
We are focused on the highest level of transparency 
providing timely and accurate information about 
company’s performance and financial results to meet 
the stakeholders’ expectation.

RESILIENCE
We welcome a challenge; we show strength of character, 
remain positive, even when things are tough; we see 
difficulty as an opportunity to demonstrate our ability.

EXCELLENCE
We aspire to achieve excellence in all that we do. We deliver 
what we promise and add value beyond expectations. 
We pursue continued growth and strive to achieve the 
highest levels of performance in all endeavors.

OPENNESS
We are open, honest and fair in what we say and do 
and accountable to all including the community for our 
actions and inactions.

....Seven Core value drives UCL 
employees and management 

in delivering results to our 
shareholders, client and the 
community we operate in. 

pursuing and living up to these 
values is  a responsibility we 

take great pride in.

Resilience

 Excellence

Openness 

Integrity

Trust

Teamwork

Transparency

CORE VALUES
The basis of our success that sets out what we collectively believe in and guide our behaviors

Our values highlight what is important to us, what makes us distinctive and what it’s like to work at UCL. To 
describe how we do things when we are at our best. We believe our strength is rooted in our seven core values. 
They determine the way in which we interpret and respond to business opportunities and challenges. They shape 
the culture and define the character of our company. They guide how we behave and make decisions.
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 
More precise and detailed statements of the goals

Our strategic objectives are a medium term step in the journey towards the vision what we are doing over the next 
few years. We will build on our core regulated business based on financial discipline to deliver sustainable growth 
and superior financial performance. Based on our vision, we have chosen to give priority to the following overall 
strategic objectives that create the foundation for strong growth and focus on continuous value enhancement.

... We deliver innovative solutions to cater customers’ diverse needs for our services. Our services lead the field in terms of quality and 
sophistication. In the area of capital market operations, we offer a broad, modular range of products – with well-engineered components 
like corporate reengineering, fund re- structuring, exploring diverse funding sources, etc.

Growing strongly compared
to our markets.

Intending to rank among
the top in markets

where we do business.

Building revenue 
momentum, better

marginal improvement,
high cash generation,

earnings per share
growth  and growing

returns on capital.

Regard our employees
as the key factor in

our success.

Enhancing our efficiency
and productivity.

Striving for a balanced
growth of revenues.

Growing internally
and externally.

Safeguarding our growth
in the long term with a solid

financing profile.

INTENDING TO RANK AMONG THE TOP IN MARKETS 
WHERE WE DO BUSINESS

We offer leading services in the fields of financial markets. 
Our products facilitate solving both short term and 
long-term funding requirements. We deliver innovative 
solutions to cater customers’ diverse needs for our 
services. Our services lead the field in terms of quality and 
sophistication. In the area of capital market operations, 
we offer a broad, modular range of products – with well-
engineered components like corporate re-engineering, 
capital restructuring, exploring diverse funding sources, 
etc. the constant, ongoing development of our products 
in our selected markets, leasing, term finance, SME 
finance, real estate finance and issue management, 
underwriting, portfolio management, share trading and 
corporate advisory services through subsidiaries helps us 
to rank among the leading financial institutions.

GROWING STRONGLY COMPARED TO OUR MARKETS

Our strength in innovation, our market expertise, our 
focus on the constantly rising level of quality portfolio 
and our gearing towards SME markets shall allow us to 
achieve targeted revenue in the coming years. Assuming 
no further crashes in capital market, we anticipate 
considerable growth in revenue in coming years, even 
with a relatively small rise in macroeconomic indicators. 
Our growth course will be buoyed by the rising demand 
among the customers for our products and services.

ENHANCING OUR EFFICIENCY AND PRODUCTIVITY

In recent times, we have made our presence even more 
efficient and productive providing services more in the 
areas that give better return. We will continue to pursue 
this policy systematically. The interaction of our growth, 
efficiency and productivity orientation allows us to offer 
competitive price always expected by our customers. 
Our cost discipline throughout the group extends across 
all stages of operations more particularly in the areas of 
fund mobilization and where possible, we utilize multi-
sourcing and secure our volumes in the long term.

STRIVING FOR A BALANCED GROWTH OF REVENUES

In our two pillars – the financing operations and the 
capital market operations – we have a stable footing 
that should protect us from the cyclical fluctuations 
of the financial markets. This is why we are aiming to 
generate major revenue directly from financing activities 
and adequate amount from capital market operations 
in the medium term. Today, the share of revenue from 
financing activities is still higher than capital market. We 
are pursuing three strategic directions in this regard: 
Firstly, we are investing specifically in the SME sector and 
large industries having good repayment track record and 
strong cash flow management; Secondly, we are actively 
increasing our endeavors in managing our investment 
portfolio with the objective of minimizing the NPL at a 
threshold level; Thirdly, we are boosting our business with 
customer-specific solutions. More importance will be 
attached to the growth of SME financing in this regard.
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... As an integrated financial service provider, UCL Group operates in a dynamic market environment characterized 
by high pressure in terms of competition, innovation and costs. We counter this pressure foresightedly with our 
corporate strategy.

We are well positioned in markets with attractive long-term growth prospects sustained by the continuing demand for financial services. We 
have a clear investment led growth strategy focused on building revenue momentum across all our businesses.

GROWING INTERNALLY AND EXTERNALLY 

UCL has been growing organically and has also 
successfully integrated with its subsidiaries namely UniCap 
Securities Limited and UniCap Investments Limited. UCL 
operates as one family and pursues common goals with 
the help of a strong identity based on the values given 
on page 11 of this report, that creates the requirements 
for a competitive, high-performance culture. Our proven 
ability to achieve internal and external growth will aid our 
development in the future as well.

REGARD OUR EMPLOYEES AS THE KEY FACTOR IN 
OUR SUCCESS

As an innovative company that plays a leading role in 
quality, the expertise of our employees is of enormous 
importance as it would not be possible to implement 
this strategy successfully without them. Utilizing 
comprehensive promotion and training activities, we 
strive to be seen as an employer of choice at all levels on 
the job market.

SAFEGUARDING OUR GROWTH IN THE LONG TERM 
WITH A SOLID FINANCING PROFILE

Our goal is to ensure that ongoing investment 
requirements are financed from the operating cash flow. 
Other investment projects should be financed from new 

and additional debt to achieve a constant stabilization 
or improvement in the UCL’s costs of capital. Owing in 
particular to our current investment climate and the 
effects of the lingering liquidity problem on the financial 
markets as well, we are pursuing the target of maintaining 
the gearing ratio at a realistic level. If justified by special 
financing reasons or special market circumstances, we 
can rise above this level for an appropriate period.

BUILDING REVENUE MOMENTUM, GOOD MARGIN 
IMPROVEMENT, HIGH CASH GENERATION, EARNINGS 
PER SHARE GROWTH AND GROWING RETURNS ON 
CAPITAL

We are well positioned in markets with attractive long term 
growth prospects sustained by the continuing demand for 
financial services. We have a clear investment led growth 
strategy focused on building revenue momentum across 
all our businesses. This, together with improvements in 
cost efficiency and organizational effectiveness, will flow 
through operating profitability and cash flow.

Satisfying 
customers 
(Meeting 
customer needs)

Running the 
business (organizing 

resources in the 
most effecient and 

effective way)

Beating the 
competition

(strategies and 
tactics to gain 

competitive 
advantage)

Achieving 
corporate 
objectives 
(building on 
our corporate 
framework)

Business strategy is 
concemed with decoding 

which markets and activities 
UCL should be involved in; where it 
wants to be; and how it is going to 

get there. Strategy is about 
making high-level decisions and 

forms the management 
game plan for...
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BUSINESS PRINCIPLES
The roadmap on how UCL operates and why we make our decision

Certain principles are so fundamental to our success that we would like to follow in every business we operate. 
If we can adhere to these principles – and they are not in order of importance – we will reach our goal of 
becoming the best financial services provider in Bangladesh. We also hope those give us a roadmap on how 
and why we make our decisions. We would like to create a financial group that all can be proud of, and we are 
confident that, working together, we will build one of the best financial services companies in Bangladesh.

ASPIRE TO BE THE BEST

Grow organically providing superior services in every business we operate 

To be a great Company must have the ability to deliver good returns and solid growth over time. To achieve these results, 
we must provide our customers with a broad, complete and quality products and services. We must also demonstrate 
our ability to grow organically (e.g. new products, gaining market share).

Consistently delivering the best products in a cost 
effective way 

We must offer outstanding products and services and 
being helpful, courteous, quick and consistent follow up in 
the customer’s best interest. We need to be keenly aware 
of the competitive landscape and quick to act. We must 
exceed customers’ expectations and constantly make it 
easier for them to do business with us.

Innovate in all actions we take

We need to build forward-looking ideas into every 
conversation, every analysis and every new product we 
look at for that we will take some calculated risks, knowing 
that some may fail.

Create strong brands that carry a commitment of quality 
and integrity

UCL Group is not only a promise to customers, but also 
a commitment we make to ourselves about who we are 
and just how good we want to be. This commitment 
goes well beyond creating a name. To be powerful and 
trusted, our brands must be brought to life by the people 
who represent them for which we need to deliver on the 
promise every day. We want to be one of the best financial 
services providers in Bangladesh. Because of our excellent 
platform, we believe this is within our reach. We cannot 
promise specific outcomes or risk free results. What we 
can and will promise is to share the truth, and offer 
honest assessments of our businesses and our prospects; 
act with integrity and honor; do the right thing so that 
our shareholders, employees, customers and community 
can be proud.

... We cannot promise specific outcomes or risk-free results. What we can and will promise is to share the truth, and offer honest assessments 
of our businesses and our prospects; act with integrity and honor; do the right thing so that our shareholders, employees, customers and 
the community can be proud.

Innovation

Grow
organically

Strong blance
sheet

Accountability

Trust
worthiness Leadership Superior

performance

Outstanding
Products

Reputation &
moral

Concern of
Others

BUSINESS PRINCIPLES
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EXECUTE MAGNIFICENTLY

Maintain strong financial discipline

Financial discipline is foundation of great companies, 
particularly financial companies. Financial discipline  
including sound accounting standards, transparent 
public reporting and great management information 
systems leads to high-quality earnings that are recurring 
and predictable in nature; yields high returns on capital; 
produces good margins; and provides reasonable risk 
relative to the capital deployed. Financial discipline 
must be matched with superior–risk management. If 
we properly manage risk, we should get a good return 
through the cycle, not just during the good times. It is a 
trade-off we will always be prepared to make.

Create and maintain a strong financial condition 

A strong balance sheet is critical to manage successful 
business. Having appropriate reserves, strong capital 
ratios and strong credit ratings allows us to withstand 
difficult events while giving us the flexibility to deploy 
our capital as we see fit such as increasing our dividends, 
taking sectoral exposure, investing in subsidiaries, investing 
in our businesses, or simply doing nothing. We will deploy 
our capital wisely and in the shareholders’ best interest. 
This is one of our most important goals.

To build a strong balance sheet, we must thoroughly 
understand all our assets and liabilities; make sure that we 
use sound, and appropriate accounting; and have strong 
controls in place.

Maintain the best systems and operations

Financially strong companies consistently build and 
develop the best infrastructure. The best systems and 
operations give them the ability to meet the needs of 
customers and exceed their expectations for service. 
Superior performance requires spending more and getting 
more from every amount we spend. We must relentlessly 
focus on integrating and upgrading technology, and on 
aggressively consolidating, streamlining and standardizing 
our operations, all of which help to push decision-making 
and authority to the field. We believe that efficient 
operations will be critical in the financial services business, 
and therefore we need to embrace and integrate them 
into everything we do. We need to continually strive to 
give our customers more, better and faster.

Eliminate bureaucracy

While appropriate rules and procedures are critical 
to the control and discipline of an entity, unnecessary 
rules translate into bureaucracy, which destroys 
initiative, neutralizes passion, stifles creativity, eliminates 

accountability, and makes it hard for people to do a 
good job and for managers to manage well.

Maintain good governance practices and internal 
controls

Good governance is vital for effective management. It 
ties together all our businesses we do with a common 
set of rules, expectations and oversight activities. these 
help safeguard our reputation, which we believe is one 
of our most important assets, and align the company’s 
performance with the best interests of our shareholders.

Measure performance through a balanced scorecard

A mark of a winning company is its ability to outperform 
its competitors, regardless of economic conditions. A 
company may improve profitability in the short run by 
taking on additional risk and cutting back on investments 
but it may be the kind of growth one comes to regret. 
Our commitment is to build UCL Group that can thrive in 
any environment.

To reach that level of performance requires using a 
balanced scorecard that goes beyond earnings to 
address many questions, such as:

• Are we recruiting and developing talented people?

• Are we innovating better products?

• Are we relentlessly improving our core processes?

• Are we making good returns on capital?

As important as strategy is, we have got to execute to win. 
Execution involves every employee and every contact we 
have with customers. We must act quickly on problems; 
drive for results, not just activities; and ensure detailed 
follow-up so that we meet our commitments.

BUILD A GREAT AND WINNING CULTURE

Operate with the highest standards of integrity 

Ethical behavior does not just happen rather it needs 
to be cultivated and repeatedly affirmed throughout 
the organization. Maintaining the highest standards of 
integrity involves being honest and doing the right thing 
for our customers, employees, shareholders and all other 
partners.

Train and retain great people 

We need to continually hire and train talents. They always 
drive for superior performance, building teamwork 
within and across our group business. They act quickly on 
tough issues, relentlessly strive to improve performance, 
demonstrate a passion to win and develop their 
colleagues. 

...Business principles are so fundamental to the success that we would like to follow in every business we operate. If we can adhere to those 
principles we will reach our goal of becoming one of the best financial services provider in Bangladesh.
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Be open and honest with ourselves, our colleagues, our 
shareholders and our community. 

We must build a culture based on truth, knowledge, 
constructive debate, a passion to win, and the courage 
to face and fix mistakes. Our responsibility is to create 
a company that promotes this kind of constructive 
exchange. We believe this is the hardest part of leadership  
we must have the fortitude and courage to take action 
and do the right thing. Leadership is an honor and a 
privilege, and carries the responsibility to set the right 
example.

All our employees must be engaged in facing the 
challenges and solving problems. The key is to never 
stop learning, to share ideas and always acknowledge 
mistakes. Our commitment is to create a self sustaining 
culture that strives for continual improvement, which will 
ensure the health of this company in the coming years.

Fair share of performance

We want employees to think and act like owners and 
partners. We want to offer them an appropriate share of 
financial performance.

A successful Company always provides people with 
competitive compensation, the opportunity to benefit 
as the company grows and a rewarding career path.

Foster an environment of respect and inclusiveness

We need to constantly remind ourselves that the most 
important thing we can do for employees is to build a 
healthy and vibrant company that treats people with 
respect and creates opportunity. We have to remember 
that we all support one another. Above all, it means doing 
what is right for the company and the customers.

We strive to create a more inclusive work environment that 

develops the best talent. Building a diverse and inclusive 
work environment requires effort and perseverance, 
which is why we will make inclusiveness and diversity an 
integral part of how we manage the Group.

Give back to our society

We believe that building a strong and vibrant company, 
will eventually benefit not only our shareholders, but 
everyone we touch. It is what enables us to give back to 
our community. In one sense, we view ourselves as a small 
business. But we are striving to be as supportive as we can. 
We are committed to adding value by focusing on issues 
that are universally important, including education and 
community development.

Our greatest source of pride, however, is our employees, 
who contribute a good amount of time and talent to 
worthwhile causes of the society. Our employees continue 
to volunteer their participation in community work.

Eventually, it all comes down to people. Creating a 
winning team and a self-sustaining culture takes hard 
work, and there is no substitute for it. Teams win because 
they are disciplined, they work well together, they execute 
consistently and they have a passion to win.

We follow our guiding principles to:

•	 Deliver legendary customer experiences;

•	 Be an extraordinary place of work;

•	 Operate with excellance;

•	 Understand our business;

•	 Take only risk we unerstand and can manage;

•	 Enhance our brand;

•	 Increase shareholders’ value

...As important as strategy is, we have got to execute to win. Execution involves every employee and every contact we have with customers. 
We must act quickly on problems; drive for results, not just activities; and ensure detailed follow-up so that we meet our commitments.



17Union Capital Limited

Annual Report 2019

The Company is committed to conducting business on the basis of morality and to create added value to its 
shareholders and also to put unwavering efforts to ensure that all stakeholders are fairly treated. It is the duty 
and responsibility of all Directors, Executives and Staffs presence to faithfully follow the Business Ethics and comply 
with the policies and practices stated in this Code of Conduct. the Company’s ultimate goal is to achieve its 
business objectives for the benefit of all Stakeholders.

ETHICAL PRINCIPLES
The qualities of virtue, truth and justice that guides our decision making

...Behaving in an ethical manner can create positive business results. A business environment that promotes and upholds strong values is usually 
a happier and more productive workplace, and customers receive good service so they keep coming back.

ETHICAL RESPONSIBILITIES TO THE CUSTOMERS

•	 We always think from the customers’ point of view.

•	 We treat our customers with care and courtesy, and 
accommodate customer complaints and suggestions 
with humility.

•	 We safeguard customer assets.

•	 We avoid unfair dealing with customers.

•	 We do not accept gifts or entertainment from 
customers.

•	 Illicit monetary dealing with customers is not tolerated 
for whatever reason.

•	 Management of customer assets is, in principle, done 
only with customer consent.

•	 Customer assets must not be used for the benefit of 
the Company, directors or employees.

•	 We handle customers’ personal and financial 
information as required by law.

ETHICAL RESPONSIBILITIES TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

•	 We provide long-term, stable return to shareholders 
through sensible investment and prudent  management.

•	 We prepare and retain financial records in accordance 
with BFRS and applicable rules, and provide company 
information to shareholders accurately and fairly.

ETHICAL RESPONSIBILITIES TO THE SOCIETY

•	 We comply with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations, 
and uphold the highest standard of  business ethics and 
business principles.

•	 We compete fairly, relying on the merits of our  products 
and services.

•	 We refrain from unreasonable business practices and 
create new standards for competition, to promote  
healthy growth of the industry.

ETHICAL RESPONSIBILITIES TO THE COMPANY

•	 We respect the dignity and rights of each other.

•	 We are a family committed to common values.

•	 Supervisors, subordinates, and co-workers all must work 
to build mutual trust and respect.

•	 Supervisors must not take advantage of their position 
to give unjust orders or demand gifts from 	
subordinates. Any kind of harassment in the workplace 
is not tolerated.

•	 We safeguard corporate property.

•	 We safeguard company’s tangible and intangible 
assets.

•	 Company’s assets must not be used for personal gain, 
and all reasonable measures must be taken to keep 
business information secure.

ETHICAL RESPONSIBILITIES TO THE PROFESSION

•	 We maintain professional competence and keep 
abreast of cutting edge information and knowledge, 
continually developing professional and financial 
expertise.

•	 We fulfill our fiduciary duty to customers, and faithfully 
do our part as members of UCL Group.
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PRODUCTS & SERVICES 
The strength of diversity

FINANCING AND INVESTMENT PRODUCTS

•	 Lease Finance

•	 Term Finance

•	 SME Finance

•	 Project Finance

•	 Corporate Finance

•	 Syndication Finance

•	 Apartment Finance

•	 Bridge Finance 

•	 Car Finance 

•	 Student Finance

•	 Professionals Loan

•	 Venture Capital

•	 Real Estate Finance

•	 Unsecured Personal Loan

•	 New Entrepreneur Finance

•	 Women Entrepreneur Finance

•	 Construction & Renovation Finance

•	 Retail Service

DEPOSIT PRODUCTS

•	 Fixed Term Deposit

•	 Monthly Income Deposit

•	 Periodic Income Deposit

•	 Double Money Deposit

•	 Triple Money Deposit

•	 Cumulative Income Deposit

•	 Millionaire Plus (MPlus)

•	 Marriage Deposit

•	 Monthly Saving Scheme (MSS)

•	 Profit First Deposit

•	 Home Planning Deposit

•	 Education Deposit

•	 Women Entrepreneur Deposit

•	 Widow / Senior Citizen Deposit

Across our business group, we offer a complete range of financial services to help clients achieve their goals. 
We provide strategic advice, lend money, raise capital, help manage funds and extend supports, and hold 
leadership positions in all of our major business areas. As a full service financial institution, UCL Group offers 
tailored products and services to meet appropriate and diverse needs of our customers, which include:

CAPITAL MARKET SERVICES

•	 IPO Management

•	 Rights Issue Management

•	 Underwriting

•	 Portfolio Management

•	 Margin Loan

•	 Pre-IPO Placement

•	 Share Trading

•	 Investment Management 

•	 Corporate Restructuring 

•	 Corporate Advisory Services

•	 Equity Investment

•	 Fund Raising
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The smoothly-run economy 
was hit by a liquidity crisis. Most 
of the NBFIs rely on Banks for 
considerable amount of fund 
flow. This huge dependency on 
bank borrowing & bank deposit 

has landed NBFI sector into severe 
crisis as Banks are unwilling to 

extend fund to NBFI sector due to 
spillover effect of liquidity crisis in 

the banking sector.

Statement
From The Chairman

I extend a warm and gracious welcome to all our esteemed 
shareholders to the 22nd Annual General Meeting of Union 
Capital Limited (“UCL”) on behalf of the Board of Directors. I 
feel greatly honored and privileged in taking this opportunity 
to report to our valued shareholders and present the Annual 
Report for the financial year ending on 31 December 2019 
along with the Auditors’ report for the year.

Now, please let us have an overview on the macroeconomic 
scenario and overall performance of the Company at a 
glance. Bangladesh economy sustained strong growth 
in FY19 led by rising exports and record remittances. 
Remittances grew by 9.8 percent, reaching a record $16.4 
billion in FY19. The contribution of net export growth 
was positive, supported by a diversion of garment export 
orders from China and a decline in imports, agricultural 
and pharmaceutical exports led non-RMG export growth. 
However, leather and leather product exports declined by 
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6 percent. Net foreign direct investment (FDI) increased 
by 42.9 percent from a low baseline with investments in 
the power, food, and textile sectors. Private consumption 
grew by 5.4 percent. Private sector credit growth was 
weak and bank liquidity remained constrained. Non-
performing loans continued to rise in the banking sector.
The foreign currency was under constant pressure 
amid balance of payment and current account deficit 
continued throughout 2019. The smoothly-run economy 
was hit by a liquidity crisis mainly due to current account 
deficit of the country. Most of the NBFIs rely on Banks for 
considerable amount of fund flow. This huge dependency 
on bank borrowing & bank deposit has landed NBFI sector 
into severe crisis as Banks are unwilling to extend fund to 
NBFI sector due to spillover effect of liquidity crisis in the 
banking sector. The financial sector passed a difficult time 
in the year 2019 with liquidity issues, increasing classified 
loans and decreasing spread. Lending portfolio of NBFI’s 
saw marginal growth, mainly resulting from the scarcity 
of fund. The financial institutions suffered from lack of 
confidence of the depositors and lenders following some 
adverse developments in the sector. Higher provisioning 
requirements from rising classified loans have eroded the 
profitability of the sector to some extent. 

In 2019, the financial sector including Union Capital 
Limited passed through horrible challenges. Lack of trust 
of depositors to deposit their money in the NBFI sector, 
rising NPL rate, poor performance of Stock Market, high 
cost of deposit and withdrawal of funds by the Banks 
from NBFI’s etc. were the noteworthy challenges, the 
industry faced during the year under review. The bearish 
state of the capital market that persisted throughout 
2019 has further deteriorated profitability of NBFIs that 
have capital market operation. The fresh lending was 
almost halted for liquidity crisis. Average interest rate on 
NBFI deposits jumped to double digit in Jan’19 & further 
increased 44bps to stand at 10.5% in Dec’19. Average 
difference between interest rate of NBFIs deposits and 
bank deposits was 4.9 percentage points in 2019. The 
average interest spread difference between banks & 
NBFIs has been 1.6 percentage points in the past two 
years, indicating poor profitability of NBFIs. Total loans & 
advances stood at BDT 647 billion, an increase by 1% on 
the year on year basis whereas year on year growth in 
previous period was 7.9 percent. The negative growth in 
loans and deposits during the year was mainly due to the 
tight liquidity condition which prevailed during the year 
2019. 

Due to an alarming increase in non-performing loans in 
2019 proved to be an immensely difficult year for the 
overall financial sector of Bangladesh and in particular 
for UCL. Due to default in a few large client portfolios, UCL 
was required to build fresh provision of around BDT 503.06 
million against such accounts, which had a significant 
adverse effect on our profitability in comparison with 

the previous year. Due to withdrawal of huge fund by 
the depositors, we could not extend fresh finance facility 
to our clients. Moreover, owing to the aging of some 
large clients our provision against loans increased and 
resultantly, our profit from business took a big dent. But, 
our principle is to honor the encashment request of our 
depositors on demand. We have already paid Tk. 2,828.89 
million to our depositors and banks as encashment 
of deposits. As the broad Index fell by a sharp 17.3% in 
2019, our two subsidiaries, operating through the capital 
market, experienced adverse repercussions on its income 
during the year under review. For the first time, UCL has 
experienced huge financial loss since its commencement 
of business in the year 1998. We could not overcome the 
adverse situation in spite of our all concerted efforts. 
Suspension of interest income & keeping significant 
provision resulting from non-payment of loan utilized 
by our fully owned merchant banking subsidiary, loss of 
subsidiaries in capital market operation and increase in 
provision against non-performing loans contributed a lot 
for incurring loss for the year under review. We are putting 
all possible efforts to come out of the adverse situation. 

The Management has significantly intensified its’ efforts 
to recover the defaulted loan accounts. Additionally, 
the Board of Directors have laid down guidelines to 
the Management for (i) focusing on SME and retail loan 
portfolio; (ii) putting greater emphasis on asset quality; 
and (iii) adopting all conventional and non-conventional 
measures for recovery of bad loan and iv) to pay back the 
depositor’s money on their demand. 

Compared to government’s GDP growth of 5.2% for 
FY-2020, World Bank projects the growth rate would 
drop to 1.6%, while IMF projects 2.0%. It is presumed a 
gloomy global and domestic outlook and vulnerability in 
the financial sector. Exchange rate appreciation is also a 
challenge for Bangladesh’s trade competitiveness. RMG 
perhaps has been hit hardest owing to the pandemic 
as it already experienced wave of order cancellations 
by foreign buyers amounting to USD 3.2bn as reported. 
Trade tension between USA and China that had already 
caused slowdown in economic activities is likely to persist 
throughout CY20. In addition, Bangladeshi migrants 
would lose jobs owing to economic recessions in the 
host countries, in particular the Middle Eastern countries 
where lower crude oil price has already battered their 
economies. Private investment is predicted to drop to 
12.7% of GDP in FY20 against initial projection of 24.2%. 
Investment-to-GDP ratio is projected to jump to 33.5% in 
FY21, which was revised down to 20.8% for FY20 budget. 

I convey my sincere appreciation to my colleagues in the 
Board of Directors for their supervision, guidance and 
foresight which showed us right path and helped us in 
overcoming challenges that the our Company faced 
over the years. We are grateful to regulators especially 
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Bangladesh Bank for their constant support and prudent 
guidance all the way. I take this opportunity to thank our 
regulators, Bangladesh Bank, Bangladesh Securities and 
Exchange Commission and the Stock Exchanges for their 
continued guidance and support extended to us.

I conclude by reiterating my appreciation to all the 
shareholders of the Company who have taken the time 
and efforts to attend the Annual General Meeting in 
this pandemic situation. The suggestions, advice and 
constructive criticism offered by our shareholders at the 
general meeting have always proved to be immensely 
helpful. I eagerly look forward to receiving your thoughtful 

inputs at this 22nd Annual General Meeting which will 
contribute towards UCL’s improvement in the coming 
days.

With warm regards,

Sd/-

Chowdhury Tanzim Karim
Chairman
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It is a pleasure for me to present the Annual Report of 
Union Capital Limited (UCL) for the year 2019 before you all. 
The upcoming Annual General Meeting is scheduled on 17 
September 2020 where all the shareholders will jointly take 
core decisions that serve as the directions & guidance for 
all activities of the Company.

Before deeping into our own issues, let us take a look back to 
the year 2019 on macro-economic perspective. Bangladesh 
is making progress in various socio-economic indices and 
made a remarkable progress in GDP growth, harnessing 
inflation, industrial growth, per capita GDP growth and 
so on. Being one of the fastest growing economies of the 
world, Bangladesh economy registered a commendable 
growth of 8.15% in FY 2019 and is striding boldly to become 
a middle income country with GDP per capita reaching 
1,909 USD. In 2019, foreign exchange reserve reached 
to $32.69 billion compared to last year’s $32.02 billion. 
Exports increased by 10.1% to $39.94 billion while imports 
grew by only 1.79% to $55.44 billion. Remittance flow also 

Like previous years, recovery and 
regularization of classified and 
non-performing loans (NPLs) will 
remain the top priority. More 

emphasize will be given to ensure 
genuine recovery from rescheduled 

and default loans and recovery from 
written-off loans.

Letter from 

The Managing Director & CEO
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experienced significant growth in FY 2019 reaching $16.42 
billion while it was $14.98 billion in FY 2018. Financial Sector 
of Bangladesh had to face some challenges in 2019 like 
rising non-performing loans (NPL), drop in private sector 
credit growth, upward trend of exchange rate against 
USD etc. The private sector credit growth stood at 10% 
compared with 13% in 2018. At present, NPL is the most 
critical factor for the stabilization of banking industry. 
In FY 19, private sector credit grew by 11.7% against 
the target of 16.5%. Government borrowing from the 
financial sector increased by 15% from the last financial 
year, largely owing to disappointing revenue mobilization. 
The weighted average lending rate of commercial banks 
decreased to 9.58% at the end of FY 19 from 9.95% in 
the previous year and deposit rate decreased to 5.43% 
from 5.50%. However, interest rate spread has decreased 
to 3.81% in FY19 from 4.45% in the previous year.Stock 
investors in Bangladesh witnessed a prolonged bearish 
trend from the very beginning of the year 2019. The 
market was affected by liquidity crisis, money market 
volatility, low participation of investors, tussle between 
BTRC & mobile telecom operators, liquidation of Peoples 
Leasing & Financial Services Ltd. (PLFSL), rising non-
performing loans in the banking sector, different scams 
in non-banking financial sector and more net sell by 
foreign investors. The bearish state of the capital market 
that persisted throughout 2019 has further deteriorated 
profitability of NBFIs that have investment in capital 
market. 

Financial sector continued to face liquidity pressure 
in FY19 despite the increase in the minimum Loan to 
Deposit Ratio by Bangladesh Bank which was intended to 
increase the cash flow to the economy to bring down 
the lending rate and stimulate private credit growth. 
The liquidity crunch in the banking sectorhad restricted 
NBFIs’ borrowing activities in 2019. Most of the NBFIs 
depend on considerable amount of fund flow from 
the banks. This huge dependency on Bank borrowing & 
Bank deposits has landed the Sector into severe crisis as 
Banks are unwilling to extend further fund to NBFI sector 
due to spillover effect of liquidity crisis prevailed in the 
market. The Classified loan of NBFI stood at 10.40 % as of 
September 2019, putting pressure on the bottom line of 
FIs. NBFI’s spread came down to 2.4% in the FY 2018-2019 
mainly due to the increase in the cost of fund as a direct 
consequence of the liquidity crisis. NBFIs are currently 
suffering from the dent of customer confidence due 
to poor performance of some institutions. The growth 
of loan and advance was remain flat in the NBFI sector. 
Average interest rate on NBFI deposits jumped to double 
digit in Jan’19 and further increased to stand at 10.5% in 
Dec’19. The average interest spread difference between 
banks & NBFIs has been 1.6 percentage in the past two 
years, indicating poor profitability of NBFIs. Total loans & 
advances stood at BDT 647 billion, an increase by 1% on 
the year on year basis whereas year on year growth in 
previous period was 7.9 percent. The negative growth in 
loans and deposits was mainly due to the tight liquidity 
condition which prevailed throughout the year 2019. 

UCL experienced negative growth for the first time in 

the history of its operation.Consolidated Pre-tax loss 
was recorded at BDT 1,014.56 million for the year 2019, 
compared with Profit of BDT 184.99 million in the previous 
year. Union Capital Ltd. generates income from the 
Capital Market by its own Investment Departmentand its 
fully owned Subsidiaries (Unicap Securities Ltd and Unicap 
Investments Ltd.).However, the extent to which the major 
indices suffered in 2019 did surpass expectations of most 
market analysts. Our subsidiaries also incurred loss of BDT 
(68.96) million for the first time. UCL’s operating income 
decreased to BDT (638.18) million in the year 2019 as 
compared to that of BDT 471.31 million of 2018. The 
decrease of operating income in the year 2019 was 
due to loss of Subsidiaries in capital market operation, 
higher provision requirement for NPL, shrinkage of income 
generating portfolio, increase in cost of fund etc.Due 
to suspension of interest income and keeping significant 
provision resulting from non-payment of the loan 
currently exposed with our merchant banking subsidiary 
contributed a lot for incurring loss for the year under 
review.

However, I must acknowledge that in the recent years, 
the Company has faced some headwinds. It is affected 
by the overall financial sector trend of asset quality 
deterioration due to slowdown in the overall corporate 
segment of the economy. There was also an increase in 
operational risks in recent couple of years. We are not yet 
out of the woods, but we are cautiously optimistic about 
the future. We need to learn from the mistakes of the past 
and ensure that they will never repeat again. We realize 
changing ourselves will be arduous and time consuming 
but we also strongly believe that we are ready for the 
battle ahead and have the team in place to overcome 
any odds. However, growth in disbursement volumes is 
expected to restrict further deterioration in incomes. 
We are continuing our focus on strong recoveryfrom 
bad loans for sustainable sources of Income. We will 
accelerate our focus on long term public deposits for 
reducing dependency on bank borrowing strengthening 
our deposit mix. We would remain cautious in lending and 
will rebalance our portfolio to higher yield segments as 
a measure to keep our desired margin while the money 
market situation becomes favorable to us.

We may face some challenges in 2020 which are to be 
properly addressed and need to deal with due care. As 
projected by IMF, growth rate for Bangladesh stands 
at 2.0% for 2020. However, the economy is expected 
to bounce back to its trend growth rate in 2021 which 
is projected to be 9.5%. But that projection is entirely 
dependent on how soon Bangladesh is able to bring the 
pandemic under control. Lack of good governance in the 
banking and financial sector could impair its capacity to 
extend credit and support growth if the economy slows 
down. Global economic ramifications of the Covid-19 
will adversely impact the previous growth projections for 
Bangladesh in 2020. As all major advanced economies 
are showing signs of recession, this will adversely affect 
Bangladesh through trade shocks and disruptions in 
supply chains. The Covid-19 crisis has caused increased 
economic vulnerability as reflected in rapid slowdown 



25Union Capital Limited

Annual Report 2019

in projected growth away from the trend. Two pillars of 
the Bangladesh economy, remittances sent by migrant 
workers and RMG exports will take inevitable hit. Already, 
there have been several large-scale order cancellations 
for RMG clients, many loans may go into default, which is 
very worrisome for the sector.

Keeping this adversary in mind, we are going to set the 
strategies and priorities to achieve our business target in 
2020.In 2020, our top most challenges will be to attain 
quality asset portfolio, to reduce the amount of classified 
loans, to increase non-interest earning businesses and 
to reduce operating cost of our Company. Like previous 
years, recovery and regularization of classified and non-
performing loans (NPLs) will remain the top priority. We 
will emphasize on regular monitoring of existing loan to 
restrain deterioration to overdue and SMA.

UCL is always committed to serve its customers well, 
increase efficiency of its employees and reward its 
shareholders. We have a good team of professionals who 
have been involved in the delivery of quality and value-
added services to our customers. We are maintaining a 
compliance culture to eliminate deviations in regards 
to regulations of Bangladesh Bank, laws of the land 
and industry best practices to safeguard the interest 

of the Company and its Shareholders. In recognition of 
quality of Annual Report, transparency, ethical practices, 
true compliance, good corporate governance and fair 
disclosures, Union Capital Limited received awards from 
ICSB and ICAB for several times. As always, I would like 
to thank our customers, the Ministry of Finance, Policy 
Makers, Bangladesh Bank, BSEC, DSE, CSE, RJSC, Banks, 
other regulatory authorities, the shareholders, print & 
electronics media, the Board of Directors and all fellow 
colleagues of Union Capital Limited as well the Subsidiaries 
for their valuable support, advice and guidance extended 
to us. Last but not the least, I would also like to express my 
sincerest gratitude to all the stakeholders who have been 
providing us constant and unfaltering support over the 
years.

Wishing you the best,

Sd/-

Chowdhury Manzoor Liaquat
Managing Director  & CEO
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW & FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Outlines UCL’s operations and financial condition

The Managing Director & CEO and the Chief Financial 
Officer have signed a statement which can be found 
on page 86 outlining management’s responsibility for 
financial information in the annual consolidated financial 
statements.

This report describes UCL’s operations and financial 
condition for the year ended 31 December 2019. This 
should be read in conjunction with our consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2019. Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts are stated 
in Bangladesh Taka and have been derived from financial 
statements prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), International 
Accounting Standards (IAS) as adopted by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Bangladesh (ICAB), the 
Circulars issued by Bangladesh Bank, the Securities and 
Exchange Rules 1987, the Companies Act 1994 and other 
applicable regulatory requirements.

Certain prior year data has been reclassified to conform 
to the current year’s presentation, including restatements 
arising from transaction of certain businesses between 
subsidiaries.

Who We Are

Established in 1998, Union Capital Limited Financial 
Group is a diversified financial service provider based 
in Dhaka. UCL has operations in both the principal 
segments of financial market: capital market and 
financing & investment activities. Together with its 
principal subsidiaries, UniCap Securities Limited and 
UniCap Investments Limited, UCL Group offers a 
wide range of complementary investment products 
like term/lease finance, SME finance, real estate 
finance, equity finance, etc. brokerage services, issue 
management, underwriting, portfolio management 
and corporate advisory services. UCL has 8 offices 
located in Dhaka, Chattogram, Sylhet, Gazipur, 
Narshingdi and Bogura. UCL is a publicly traded 
Company listed in both the Dhaka and Chattogram 
Stock Exchange.

UCL’s business planning process is rigorous and considers 
the prevailing economic conditions, customers’ 
growing needs and the opportunities available 
across our lines of business. It includes clear and 
direct accountability for annual performance that is 
measured against internal and external benchmarks 
and progress towards our strategic priorities.

Our Strategy

Changes in the economic environment and their effects 
on our customers are ongoing. UCL focuses on helping 
its customers and giving them confidence that they 
are making the right financial choices. It also drives 
the employees to deliver their best in all endeavors. 

Recognizing that a company’s first responsibility is to 
be well managed, we believe that the strength of 
our business model, balance sheet, risk management 
framework and leadership team will continue to generate 
sustainable growth. We remain steadfastly committed to 
our strategy, our customers, our shareholders, regulators, 
lenders and the society as a whole which we operate in.

Our Priorities in 2020

•	 Drive quality earnings growth across all of our businesses 
by focusing on industry leading customer experience 
and enhancing operating efficiency;

•	 Build deeper customers’ relationships to deliver growth 
in net income and strong ROE, while maintaining an 
appropriate risk/return profile;

•	 Develop our businesses in selected markets to grow 
with our customers;

•	 Expand our capabilities and reach new customers, 
particularly environmentally sustainable projects;

•	 Sustain a culture that focuses on customers, high 
performance and our people;

•	 Become the employer of choice.

Caution regarding forward-looking statements

Our communications often include written or oral 
forward-looking statements. Statements of this type are 
included in this Annual Report, or in other communications 
are regarded as forward-looking statements. Forward-
looking statements may involve, but not limited to, 
comments with respect to our objectives and priorities 
for 2020 and beyond.

Such forward looking statements may include, without 
limitation, statements relating to the following:

•	 our strategies, objectives, goals or business plans;

•	 our future economic performance or prospects; 

•	 the probable effect on our future performance of 
certain contingencies; and 

•	 assumptions underlying any such statements.

By their nature, forward-looking statements require us to 
make assumptions and are subject to inherent risks and 
uncertainties. There is significant risk that predictions, 
forecasts, conclusions or projections will not prove to 
be accurate, that our assumptions may not be correct 
and that actual results may differ materially from such 
predictions, forecasts, conclusions or projections. We 
caution readers of this Annual Report not to place undue 
reliance on our forward-looking statements as a number 
of factors could cause actual future results, conditions, 
actions or events to differ materially from the targets, 
expectations, estimates or intentions expressed in the 
forward looking statements. 

These factors include the followings but not limited to:

•	 general economic and market conditions of 
Bangladesh;
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•	 strength of the regional and global economy;

•	 degree of competition in the business areas in which 
we operate;

•	 changes in laws or in supervisory regulations, 
guidelines including additional capital requirements, 
strict monitoring about interest rate and liquidity 
requirements and guidance;

•	 accuracy and completeness of the information we 
obtain with respect to our customers;

•	 changes to our credit ratings;

•	 general political environment;

•	 performance of our capital market;

•	 ability to maintain sufficient liquidity;

•	 ability to repay the liabilities as and when they fall due;

•	 market and interest rate fluctuations and interest rate 
levels; 

•	 the ability of customers to meet their obligations to us; 

•	 the effects of, and changes in fiscal, monetary and tax 
policies;

•	 operational factors such as systems failure, human 
error, or the failure to implement procedures properly; 

•	 the effects of changes in accounting policies or practices; 

•	 the ability to retain and recruit qualified personnel; 

•	 the ability to maintain our reputation and promote 
our brand image; 

•	 the ability to increase market share and control 
expenses; 

•	 ability to adopt technological changes;

•	 compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and 

•	 our ability to anticipate and effectively manage risks 
associated with all of the foregoing factors.

We caution that the foregoing list is not exhaustive of all 
possible factors. Other factors could adversely affect our 
actual performance.

For more information, please see the discussion below, which 
outlines in detail certain key factors that may affect our 
future results. When relying on forward-looking statements 
to make decisions with respect to UCL, investors and 
others should carefully consider these factors, as well as 
other uncertainties and potential events, and the inherent 
uncertainty of forward-looking statements. UCL does not 
undertake to update any forward-looking statements, 
whether written or oral, that may be made from time to 
time by the Company or on its behalf, except as required 
by law. The forward-looking information contained in this 
document is presented for the purpose of assisting our 
shareholders in understanding our financial position as at 
and for the period ended on the dates presented, as well 
as our strategic priorities and objectives, and may not be 
appropriate for other purposes.

Factors That May Affect Future Results

As noted in the preceding caution regarding forward-
looking statements, all forward-looking statements and 
information, by their nature, are subject to inherent 

risks and uncertainties, both general and specific, which 
may cause actual results to differ materially from the 
expectations expressed in any forward-looking statement. 
The report on risk management starting on page 132 
describes a number of risks, including credit, market, liquidity 
and funding, operational, legal and regulatory, business, 
strategic, reputation and environmental. Should our risk 
management framework prove ineffective, there could be 
a material adverse impact on our financial position. The 
followings outline some additional risks and uncertainties:

Company’s business and earnings are affected by general 
business and political conditions

The performance of UCL is influenced by economic 
conditions prevailing in the country as well as global 
economy. Downturn in economies especially liquidity crisis 
could result in a general reduction in business activity and 
a consequent fall in income of our Company. It could also 
cause a slow recovery of our investments.

The financial performance of the Company is affected 
by customers’ credibility

Risks arising from changes in portfolio quality and the 
recoverability of loans/leases are inherent in a wide range 
of our business. Adverse change in portfolio quality of our 
customers or deterioration in economies of Bangladesh 
and even global economic conditions, or events arising 
from systematic risks could affect the recoverability and 
value of Company’s investments. This would deteriorate 
the asset quality as well as reduce earnings and require 
an increase in the provision for doubtful losses resulting in 
lower profitability.

Changes in interest rates and other market factors may 
affect our business

Changes in interest rate levels, yield curves and spreads 
may affect our interest income. The performance 
of financial markets, monetary and fiscal policy may 
cause changes in the value of Company’s investments 
and portfolios. UCL has implemented risk management 
systems to mitigate and control these risks and other 
market risks to which the Company is exposed. However, 
it is difficult to predict with accuracy the likely changes in 
economic and market conditions and to anticipate the 
effects that such changes could have on the company’s 
financial performance and business operations.

Operational risks are inherent in Company’s business

Our businesses are dependent on the ability to process 
a very large number of transactions efficiently and 
accurately. Operational losses can results from fraud, 
errors by employees, failure to document transaction 
properly, failure to comply with regulatory requirements 
and code of business conduct and inadequacy in design of 
policies, procedures including ineffective implementation 
of those policies and procedures. Although, UCL has 
implemented risk controls and loss mitigation actions and 
substantial resources are devoted to developing efficient 
procedures and to staff training. It is only possible to 
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be reasonably, but not absolutely, certain that such 
procedures will be effective in controlling each of the 
operational risks faced by our company.

Each of the Company’s business is subject to stringent 
regulations and regulatory overseeing.

The Company is subject to laws, regulations and 
guidelines issued by Bangladesh Bank, Bangladesh 
Securities and Exchange Commission, the Companies Act 
1994, the Financial Institution Act 1993, the Income Tax 
Ordinance 1984, other applicable laws and regulations. 
Our capital market activities are also monitored by Stock 
Exchanges. This supervision and regulation, if changed 
could materially affect Company’s business, the products 
and services offered or the value of assets.

Future growth of Company’s earnings and shareholders’ 
value depend on strategic decisions

The Company devotes substantial management and 
planning resources to the development of strategic plans 
for organic growth. If these strategic plans do not meet 
with success, the Company’s earnings could grow more 
slowly or decline.

The risk of litigation is inherent in Company’s operation

In the ordinary course of the Company’s business, legal 
actions, claims by and against the Company may arise. 
The outcome of such legal proceedings could materially 
affect the financial performance of the Company.

The Company is exposed to the risk of changes in tax 
legislation and its interpretation 

The Company’s activities are subject to tax at various rates. 
Actions by the Government to withdraw any tax benefit or 
impose additional taxes would affect the profitability of the 
Company. Revisions to tax legislation or its interpretation 
might also affect Company’s results in future.

A description on specific risks that UCL may likely to face 
is given in the last part of this section.

Changes in Accounting Policies, Estimates and IAS/IFRS

We did not adopt any new significant accounting 
policies during the year 2019. The following standards, 
interpretations and amendments thereto will be relevant 
to UCL Group. The Group’s initial view of the impact of 
these accounting changes is outlined below:

Pronouncement Nature of change Effective date Impact

IFRS 16 Leases The development of a new leases standard was 
originally a joint project between the IASB and 
FASB, and though they will not issue converged 
standards, both will bring leases on balance 
sheet for lessees. IFRS 16 removes the distinction 
between operating (“off balance sheet”) and 
finance (“on balance sheet”) leases for lessees. 
This will result in significant changes for lessees’ 
financial statements, including:

•	 All leases being recorded on balance sheet 
(except, as an option, for low value and short-
term leases)

•	 Increased disclosure about the entity’s leasing 
activities including tables for the types of 
assets leased

Annual periods 

beginning on or 

after 1 January

2019.

The Group is assessing the 

impact of adopting the 

amended.

IFRS 17 Insurance 
Contracts

IFRS 17 provides consistent principles for all aspects 

of accounting for insurance contracts. It removes 

existing inconsistencies and enables investors, analysts 

and others to meaningfully compare companies, 

contracts and industries.

Financial periods 

beginning on or 

after 1 January 

2021

The Group is assessing the 

impact of adopting the 

amended.

Disclosure on Control Procedures and Internal Control 
over Financial Reporting

Disclosure on Control Procedures

Disclosure on control procedures are designed to provide 
reasonable assurance that all relevant information is 
gathered and reported to senior management, including 
the Managing Director & CEO and the Chief Financial 
Officer (CFO), on a timely basis so that appropriate 
decisions can be made regarding public disclosure.

An evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and 
operation of our disclosure on control procedures was 

conducted as at 31 December 2019 by UCL Management 
under the supervision of the CEO and the CFO. Based on 
this evaluation, the CEO and the CFO have concluded 
that as at 31 December 2019, our disclosure on control 
procedures are adequate, appropriate and effective 
both in terms of design, implementation and monitoring.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Internal control over financial reporting is designed to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with IAS/IFRS and the 
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requirements of Bangladesh Bank and Bangladesh 
Securities and Exchange Commission, the Company Act 
1994 and other applicable laws and regulations.

Management is responsible for designing, establishing 
and maintaining adequate internal control systems over 
financial reporting for UCL Financial Group. UCL’s internal 
control over financial reporting includes policies and 
procedures that:

•	 pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and disposal of the assets of UCL; 

•	 provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of the 
financial statements in accordance with IAS/IFRS and 
the requirements of Bangladesh Bank, Bangladesh 
Securities and Exchange Commission, Companies Act, 
as applicable, and that receipts and expenditures 
of UCL are being made only in accordance with 
authorization by management and Board of Directors 
of UCL; and

•	 provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of the unauthorized acquisition, use 
or disposal of UCL’s assets that could have a material 
effect on the financial position as described in the 
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 
financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance 
and may not prevent or detect all sorts of misstatements.

The Management, under the supervision of the CEO, the 
CFO and Head of ICC has evaluated the effectiveness 
of our internal control over financial reporting using the 
framework and criteria established in Internal Control. 
Based on this evaluation, management has concluded 
that internal control over financial reporting was 
appropriate and effective as at 31 December 2019.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over 
financial reporting in 2019 that have materially affected, 
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal 
control over financial reporting. The ongoing preparation 
of financial statements in accordance with the 
amendments in IASs/IFRSs did not change the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

Auditors services and fees

The external auditors of UCL, K. M. Hasan & Co., Chartered 
Accountants were not engaged to perform any of the 
following services other than annual statutory audit of 
the company and the audit of its subsidiaries namely, 
UniCap Securities Limited and UniCap Investments Limited:

•	 Appraisal or valuation services or fairness opinions;

•	 Financial information systems design and 
implementation;

•	 Book-keeping or other services related to the 
accounting records or financial statements;

•	 Broker-dealer services;

•	 Actuarial services;

•	 Internal audit services.

•	 Audit/certification services on compliance of corporate 
governance 

•	 Any other service that the Audit Committee determines.

The Auditors are paid an amount of Tk. 2,00,000 net of 
VAT for their audit of Union Capital Limited.

2019 Financial performance and financial condition review

Challenges faced in 2019

•	 Liquidity crisis

•	 Volatile capital market;

•	 Lack of confidence of investors;

•	 Increased competition;

•	 Raising in interest rates environment;

•	 Maintenance of asset quality;

•	 Increased cost of fund;

•	 Higher corporate tax rate.

Major Financial indicators of 2019

Major performance indicators in 2019 were as under:                   

•	 Investment of the Group decreased to Tk. 14,932.89 
million from Tk. 16,935.59 million registering negative 
growth of (11.83) percent due to liquidity crunch in 2019;

•	 Consolidated net profit/ (loss) for the year was Tk. 
(1,057.39) million as against profit of Tk. 92.39 million 
of 2018 due to not account for income from UniCap 
Investments Limited, classification of previous year’s 
income by the Bangladesh Bank for the same;

•	 Customers deposits was amounting to Tk. 9,914.10 
million in 2019 and Tk. 12,729.21 million of 2018 
registering 22.12% negative growth;

•	 Shareholders’ equity was Tk. 1,243.94 million in 2019 
and 2,301.32 million in 2018;

•	 Total operating income was Tk. (514.69) million as 
against Tk. 728.46 million of 2018;

•	 A consolidated Earnings Per Share was Tk. (6.13) as 
against Tk..0.54 of 2018.
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Operating performance Review

Summary of Profit and Loss Account
(Figures in million Taka) 

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2018 % of increase/ (decrease)
Revenue from loans, advances and leases 1,611.63 2,119.80 (23.98)
Revenue from Capital Market activities (76.93) 136.44 (156.38)
Fee based income 129.98 206.48 (37.06)
Other operating income 55.05 26.17 110.37
Total revenue 1,719.72 2,488.9 (30.91)
Financial expenses 2,234.42 1,760.43 26.93
Management expenses 386.22 393.75 (1.92)
Provision for doubtful losses & investments 113.66 149.72 (24.09)
Total expenses 2,734.28 2,303.91 18.69
Profit before tax (1,014.56) 184.99 (648.44)
Provision for taxation 42.83 92.6 (53.76)
Net profit after tax (1,057.39) 92.39 (1,244.46)

Revenue from loans, advances and leases

The following table shows the income generated from loans, advances and leases:
(Figures in million Taka)

For the year ended 31 December
2019 2018

Amount % Amount %

Income from lease finance 165.05 10.25 183.46 8.66

Income from term finance 613.22 38.05 913.51 43.09

Income from SME finance  88.07 5.47 173.22 8.17

Income from margin loan 620.38 38.5 647.49 30.54

Interest on bank deposits 123.64 7.68 200.86 9.48

Income from others 1.29 0.08 1.26 0.06

Total 1,611.63 100.00 2,119.80 100.00

A substantial portion of Company’s revenue is earned from financing activities like lease finance, term finance, SME 
finance and margin loan. Earnings from loans, advances and leases represent 93.71 percent of total revenue earned by 
the Company during 2019 (2018: 85.17 percent).

Total Operating Expenses
Figure in million Taka

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2018 % of increase/ (decrease)

Financial expenses 2,234.42 1,760.43 26.93

Management expenses 386.22 393.75 (1.92)

Provision for doubtful losses 113.66 149.72 (24.09)

Total expenses 2,734.28 2,303.91 18.69

Financial expenses

In 2019 financial expenses increased by 26.93 percent 
due to change of interest rates. UCL pays interest on 
funds mobilized from different sources like deposits from 
individuals and institutions, loan from banks/FIs, call loan 
and security deposits from customers. Interest rates vary 
depending on the nature and tenure of sources of funds. 
Interest expenses consisted of 81.72 percent of total 
expenses (2018: 76.44 percent). In 2019 financial expenses 
was 129.93 percent of total revenue (2018: 70.73 percent). 

Management expenses

Management expenses include salaries and allowances, 
office rent, promotional expenses, office maintenance 
expenses, depreciation on fixed assets, legal and 
professional fee etc. Details of the expenses are given in the 
Notes to the Financial Statements of this Annual Report. 
Management expenses decreased by 1.92 percent to Tk. 
386.22 million in 2019 (2018: Tk. 393.75 million). During 
2019, management expense was 22.46 percent of total 
revenue as against 15.82 percent in 2018.
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Provision for doubtful losses

Provision for doubtful losses has been made as per guidelines of Bangladesh Bank and Bangladesh Securities and 
Exchange Commission. During the year total provision of Tk. 113.65 million has been provided compared to Tk. 149.72 
million in 2018.

Financial Condition Review
(Figures in million Taka except percentage)

Assets and Investments 2019 2018 % of increase/ (decrease)

Loans, advances and leases 13,983.69 15,504.10 (9.81)

Investment in securities 949.20 1,431.49 (33.70)

Fixed assets 457.79 40.22 1038.31

Cash & cash equivalent 1,624.25 3,377.76 (51.92)

Other assets 2,623.16 2,770.11 (5.31)

Total assets and investments 19,638.08 23,123.68 (15.08)

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities 2019 2018 % of increase/ (decrease)

Shareholders’ equity 1,243.94 2,301.32 (45.95)

Deposits 9,914.10 12,729.21 (22.12)

Borrowings from banks and NBFIs 4,133.72 4,700.96 (12.07)

Provisions and others liabilities 4,346.33 3,392.20 28.13

Total shareholders’ equity & liabilities 19,638.08 23,123.68 (15.08)

Loans, advances and leases

Total outstanding balance of loans, advances and leases as at 31 December 2019 was Tk. 13,983.69 million against Tk. 
15,504.10 million in 2018. 

Outstanding balance of loans, advances and leases as on 31 December 2019 and 2018 was as under:
(Figures in million Taka except percentage)

Particulars
2019 2018

Amount % Amount %

Lease finance 1,489.82 10.65 1,785.39 11.51

Term finance 6,008.38 42.97 7,051.21 45.48

Margin loan 6,434.86 46.02 6,627.41 42.75

Other finance 50.63 0.36 40.10 0.26

Total 13,983.69 100.00 15,504.10 100.00

In 2019, our total loans, advances and leases decreased by 
9.81 percent compared to 2018 mainly due to decrease in 
term finance and lease finance. In 2019 we focused more 
on acquisition of new quality loan/leases both in SME and 
corporate segments maintaining the quality of present 
portfolio with a special drive on recovery of slow moving 
and stuck up loan/leases. Management has always been 
trying to concentrate on adding quality investments in 
its portfolio rather than achieving high target of business 
volume, keeping in mind our previous experiences in our 
financing activities.

Liquidity Statement

Maturity of assets and liabilities has been determined as 
per agreements with our customers and fund providers. 
Management always maintains long-term and short-
term strategy to address the probable liquidity gap 
properly.

The Company meets its funding requirements through 
its prudent assets and liability management. Liability 
structuring is made in such a way so that it matches 

with the tenure of asset structure. Liquidity is monitored 
continuously to ensure the company’s ability to 
support investment growth, deposit encashment, meet 
contractual obligations, maintain reserve requirements 
and otherwise sustain operations. Union Capital maintains 
its liquidity in the form of readily encashable deposits 
with banks/FIs, collection of rentals/installments and 
investment in listed securities. 

On the other hand, in order to meet company’s urgent 
requirement UCL can, on the basis of its net assets, 
borrow significant amount in the form of call money, 
which is another point of liquidity support as far as fund 
management is concerned. A statement of liquidity 
profile is sent to Bangladesh Bank on monthly basis. 
Management, however, believes that the company’s 
present position is adequate to meet its current and 
future liquidity requirements. Maturity analysis indicates 
that the company maintains reasonable maturity gap 
between assets & liabilities in case of one year maturity 
buckets and above one year maturity buckets. Given 
below is the maturity table of investment activities:
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Loans, deposits & investments:
(Figure in million Taka)

Particulars
Up to 1 
month

1-3 month 3-12 month 1-5 years Above 5 years Total

Balance with banks and 
other financial institutions

295.28 422.73 484.10 - - 1,202.12

Investments in shares 5.4 11.70 9.57 - - 26.67

Loans, advances and leases  167.00                            354.00                    3,457.30           8,328.45 531.31 12,838.06 

Total 467.68 788.43 3,950.97 8,328.45 531.31 14,066.85 

Maturity table of borrowings and other liabilities are given below:
(Figure in million Taka)

Particulars
Up to 1 
month

1-3 month 3-12 month 1-5 years
Above 5 

years
Total

Borrowings from banks and 
financial institutions

305.97 522.50 1,515.51 1118.42 - 3,462.39

Term Deposits 114.63 268.92 2,955.88 6,408.83 13.25 9,761.51

Other Deposits 2.87 6.08 59.39 143.06 2.7 214.13

Total 423.47 797.50 4,530.77 7,670.32 15.98 13,438.03

Investment in shares

Union Capital Limited invested in diversified listed securities with highest investment in manufacturing and other 
companies representing 100 percent of total investment. The market value of the securities at 31 December 2019 was 
Tk. 26.48 million. The following table shows the concentration of investment in major sectors of listed securities as at 31 
December 2019 and 2018:				                

(Figure in million Taka except percentage)

Particulars
2019 2018

Amount % Amount %

Bank companies - - 163.29 35.46

Insurance companies - - - -

Fuel and power - - 79.78 17.32

Manufacturing companies and others 26.67 100 217.43 47.22

Total 26.67 100 460.50 100

Performance of Capital Market

In 2019, DSE Broad Index DSEX decreased 18.52%. Over 2018, the DSEX decreased 1012.32 points, closed at 4452.93. 
DSEX reached its highest at 5950.01 on 24 January 2019. In comparison to other developed capital markets, our 
velocity ratio is lower, showing that the DSE has room to grow and has leveraged on the opportunities available as 
reflected by the improvements achieved in the last few years.

The DSE 30 Index (DS30) which comprises of the BLUE-Chip stocks clocked at its highest point at 2049 on 24 January 
2019 while the lowest level of DS30 was recorded at 1494.54 on 23 December 2019 and the yearend closing was 
1513.34.

NBFI sector also followed the overall market as evidenced by its around 5.09 percent share in total capitalization. Market 
price of Union Capital Limited started its journey on January 01, 2019 with the price of Tk. 12.70 in DSE and closed at 
Tk. 6.30 on 30 December 2019. The highest price was recorded at Tk. 16.70 on 27 January 2019 and the lowest was Tk. 
5.90 on 13 November 2019.

Following table shows the capital market picture of DSE for the last four years:
(Figure in million Taka except percentage)

Particulars 2016 2017 2018 2019 Change % (2018 Vs 2019)

Total Trading Days 241 248 242 237 (2.07)

Total Turnover value (BDT in Billion) 1,191.57 2169.60 1,333.64 1,138.40 (14.64)

Daily Average Turnover value (BDT million) 4,944.28 8,748.38 5,510.90 4803.39 (12.84)

Market Capitalization (BDT in Billion) 3,412.44 4218.75 3869.70 3394.08 (12.29)

Total Number of Listed Securities 560 569 578 587 1.56

Total Newly Listed Securities 7 9 9 9 -
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Non-performing loans, advances & leases (NPL)

Loans, advances & leases are classified as non-performing 
when it is marked as substandard category or worse 
even if there exists no reasonable doubt as to collectivity. 
Bangladesh Bank’s guidelines are strictly followed for 
determining the classification of loans, advances and leases. 
Interest accrued against overdue rental/installments of 
classified loans, advances and leases are not taken into profit 
and loss account rather kept in interest suspense account. 

Moreover, interest accrued against overdue rentals of 
loans, advances and leases falling under the category 
of ‘Special Mention Account (SMA)’ account are also 
transferred to interest suspense account instead of 
crediting the same to profit and loss account as per 
Bangladesh Bank’s guidelines.

Non-performing loans/leases of Union Capital Limited as 
of 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

(Figure in million Taka except percentage)

Particulars
2019 2018

Outstanding NPL NPL % Outstanding NPL NPL %

Loan/Lease finance 11,798.88 1,672.32 13.03 12,505.96 1,117.03 8.02

SME finance 1,021.31 505.67 3.94 1,391.78 231.14 1.66

Other finance 17.87 - - 24.68 - -

Total 12,838.06 2,177.99 16.97 13,922.42 1,348.17 9.68

Rate of non-performing loans, advances and leases was 
16.97 percent in 2019 as against 9.68 percent of 2018. 
Adequate provision has been made against the classified 
loan accounts as per Bangladesh Bank guidelines and 
permission from Bangladesh Bank. UCL’s recovery policy is in 
place and there has been a rigorous monitoring process to 
recover from the classified loan/lease including litigation. The 
Management has been continuously following up the status 
of litigation and possible outcomes in liaison with external 

and internal lawyers in order to strengthen recovery.

Coverage/reserve against non-performing loans, 
advances and leases

The following table summarizes the allocation of the 
provision and interest suspense against loans, advances 
and leases of Union Capital Limited as of 31 December 
2019 and 2018:

(Figure in million Taka)

Particulars
2019 2018

Provision 
for NPL

Interest 
suspense

Total NPL
% of 

coverage
Provision 
for NPL

Interest 
suspense

Total NPL
% of 

Coverage

Lease finance 110.27 83.30 193.57 537.98 35.98 122.68 95.20 217.88 507.15 42.96

Term finance 163.20 147.94 311.14 1640.01 18.97 133.76 89.62 223.37 841.02 26.56

Real estate 

finance
- - - - - - - - - -

Margin loan - - - - - - - - - -

Loan against 

deposit
- - - - - - - - - -

Total 273.47 231.24 504.71 2,177.99 23.17 256.43 184.82 441.25 1,348.17 32.73

Union Capital Limited has maintained total provision of 
Tk. 464.20 million against loans, advances and leases as 
of 31 December 2019 compared to Tk. 405.43 million of 
last year. Provision against classified loan has increased by 
6.64 percent compared to 2018. Management’s periodic 
evaluation of the adequacy of the provision is based on 
the companies past experience, known and inherent risk 
in the portfolio, adverse situations that may affect the 
clients’ ability to repay and current economic conditions. 
Management has also taken the qualitative aspects while 
classifying an account.

We always adhere to the principle of classification as 
guided by Bangladesh Bank for making interest suspense 
and provisioning against loans, advances and leases. 
Interest amount is transferred to interest suspense 
account rather than showing as income in the profit & 
loss account when installments fall overdue for 3 months 
or more, in case of loan/lease with tenure of less or equal 
5 years and 6 months or more, in case of loan/lease with 
maturity of more than 5 years. Base for provision is made 

after deducting interest suspense and value of eligible 
security (considered 50 percent of market value of the 
security in case of mortgage of land, building and 50 
percent of face value or 50 percent of market value, 
whichever is lower, in case of shares and 100 percent 
against cash security) from outstanding amount of a 
particular loan, advance and lease. Rate of provision for 
loans, advances and leases classified as Sub-standard, 
Doubtful and Bad & Loss is 20 percent, 50 percent and 
100 percent respectively.

Coverage ratio of loans advances and leases decreased. 
As at 31 December 2019 coverage was 23.17 percent 
compared to 32.73 percent of 2018. We believe that 
coverage is satisfactory as the company maintain 
adequate provision as per guidelines of Bangladesh Bank.

Management has taken adequate measures to reduce 
the rate of classified loans, advances and leases by 
regular monitoring, examining, appraising, evaluating 
the position/status of the classified clients/customers. 
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Appropriate legal action has been taken where necessary 
against the classified loan accounts where prospect of 
recovery from the customer through negotiation and 
amicable settlement is uncertain. Moreover, formation 
of internal monitoring and recovery committee for 
effective monitoring and follow-up of problem accounts 
are the initiatives for improving recovery situation.

Credit Monitoring Function

A continuous monitoring of loans/leases is one of the most 
important tools for ensuring the quality of advances 
assets for any lending institution. UCL too has a well-
established system of monthly monitoring of its loans, 
advances and leases accounts at various levels to prevent 
asset quality slippages and to take timely corrective steps 
to improve the quality of its overall portfolio. At UCL, a 
separate department, Special Asset Management for 
monitoring function at the corporate level, has been 
functional. UCL has placed special focus on sharpening 
of the credit monitoring process for improving the 
asset quality, identifying the areas of concern and the 
branches requiring special attention. It has also worked 
out strategies to ensure implementation in a time-bound 
manner. The primary objectives of UCL’s Special Asset 
Management Department at the corporate level are 
fixed as under:

•	 Identification of weakness/potential default/ incipient 
sickness in the account at an early stage;

•	 Initiation of suitable and timely corrective actions for 
preventing impairment in credit quality, whenever signals 
are noticed in any account, e.g. decline in credit rating, 
delay in servicing of rentals/installments etc;

•	 Prevention of slippage in the asset classification through 
a vigorous follow up;

•	 Identification of suitable cases for restructuring/ 
rescheduling;

•	 Taking necessary steps/regular follow up, for review of 
accounts and compliance of terms and conditions, 
thereby improving the quality of UCL’s portfolio;

•	 Regular monitoring progress of classified accounts.

Shareholders’ Equity and Capital

Capital Management

Objective

UCL is committed to a disciplined approach to 
capital management that balances the interests and 
requirements of shareholders, regulators, depositors and 
rating agencies. Our objective is to maintain a strong 
capital position in a cost-effective structure that:

•	 is appropriate subject to our target regulatory capital 
ratios and internal assessment of required capital;

•	 is consistent with our targeted credit ratings;

•	 underpins our business strategies; 

•	 is in line with our growth potentials; and

•	 builds depositors’ confidence and long-term 
shareholder value.

Capital Management Framework

The principal and key elements of UCL’s capital 
management framework are outlined in our capital 
management policy which includes the results of the 
internal capital adequacy assessment process.

This process evaluates capital adequacy, and is used to 
establish capital targets and capital strategies that take 
into consideration the strategic direction of the Company. 
The internal capital adequacy assessment process and 
capital plan are developed in conjunction with UCL’s annual 
business plan, promoting alignment between our business 
and risk strategies, regulatory capital requirements. Stress 
testing framework and scenario analysis are also used to 
assess the impact of various stress conditions on UCL’s risk 
profile and capital requirements. The framework seeks to 
ensure that we are adequately capitalized given the risks 
we take, and supports the determination of limits, goals 
and performance measures that are used to manage 
balance sheet positions, risk levels and capital requirements. 
Assessments of actual and forecast capital adequacy are 
compared to the capital plan throughout the year.

UCL uses regulatory capital to evaluate business 
performance and as the basis for strategic and 
transactional decision-making. This approach aims to 
protect our stakeholders from the risks inherent in our 
various businesses, while still allowing the flexibility to 
deploy resources to the high-return, strategic growth 
activities of our operational areas. 

Governance

The Board of Directors and the Risk Management 
Committee provide ultimate oversight and approval of 
capital management, including our capital management 
policy and capital plan. We regularly review our capital 
position, capital adequacy and key capital management 
activities. The Risk Management Committee provides 
senior management oversight, and also reviews and 
discusses capital policies, issues and action items that 
arise in the execution of our strategy. 

2019 Regulatory Capital Review

Regulatory capital requirements for UCL are currently 
determined on the basis of guidelines of ‘Capital 
Adequacy and Market Disciplines (CAMD), commonly 
known as Basel II accord issued by Bangladesh Bank. UCL’s 
capital adequacy is determined based on risk weighted 
assets (RWA) in our portfolio. UCL’s total consolidated RWA 
were Tk. 19,762.57 million at 31 December 2019, whereas 
Tk. 21,790 million in 2018. The table below provides a 
breakdown of our RWA by risk type.

Risk-Weighted Assets (Consolidated)
(Figure in million Taka)

As at 31 December 2019 2018

Credit risk 17,801.98 18,355.79

Market risk    1,164.67   2,139.10

Operational risk    795.92   1,295.11

Total RWA 19,762.57 21,790.00
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Basel II Regulatory Capital (Consolidated)
(Figure in million Taka)

As at 31 December 2019 2018

Tier 1 Capital    1,243.94    2,301.32

Tier 2 Capital 322.52 429.45 

Total regulatory capital 1,566.46 2,730.77

The above table details the components of regulatory 
capital. Tier 1 capital is primarily comprised of paid up 
share capital, reserves and surplus. Our shareholders’ 
equity and Tier 1 capital were Tk. 1,243.94 million as at 31 
December 2019.

Total capital includes Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital, net of 
certain deductions. Tier 2 capital is primarily comprised of 
subordinated debt and a portion of the general provision 
for credit losses. UCL does not have any subordinated 
debt. Total regulatory capital as of 31 December 2019 
was Tk. 1,566.46 million.

Our objective is to maintain strong capital ratios that 
exceed regulatory requirements. The Equity Ratio, Tier 1 
Capital Ratio and Total Capital Ratio are key measures of 
capital adequacy.

The Equity Ratio and the Basel II Tier 1 Capital Ratio, Tier 
2 Capital Ratio, Total Capital Ratio and Capital to Assets 
multiple are the primary capital measurements. The 
ratios are as under:

As at 31 December 2019 2018

Tier 1 Capital Ratio 6.29 10.56

Tier 2 Capital Ratio 1.63 1.97

Total Capital Ratio 7.93 12.53

The Equity Ratio reflects shareholders’ equity divided by 
RWA. The Tier 1 Capital Ratio reflects Tier 1 capital divided 
by RWA. The Total Capital Ratio reflects total capital 
divided by RWA. Total Capital Ratio of Union Capital 
Limited was 7.93 percent against the minimum capital 
adequacy ratio of 10 percent as per Bangladesh Bank 
guidelines. Therefore, the Company has shortfall capital 
of 2.07 percent over the minimum rate of regulatory 
capital as per Basel II accord.

Borrowings from banks and financial institutions

Total outstanding loan from banks and other financial 
institutions as at 31 December 2019 was Tk. 4,133.72 
million compared to Tk. Tk. 4,700.96 million in 2018. 
Interest on bank loans is paid on monthly/quarterly basis 
as per terms of loan arrangements. During the year 2019, 
a total loan of Tk. 198.66 million was taken from the banks 
and financial institutions and Tk. 608.23 million was repaid.

Union Capital has been enjoying credit facility from 
Bangladesh Bank for SME financing, women entrepreneur 
finance and received JICA fund under the refinancing 
scheme. During 2019 UCL received loan of Tk. 129.70 
million from Bangladesh Bank under re-finance scheme

Treasury Operation

In order to minimize the asset-liability mismatch, UCL 
always strives for mobilizing funds for longer term 
perspective. In the current money market scenario it is 

difficult to mobilize deposit. For that reason, we need to 
borrow a large portion of our fund from banking sources 
which is of course a costlier source of fund and new 
banks facilities were almost stopped in 2019. During the 
year 2019, an amount of Tk. 3,899.36 million has been 
received/renewed as term deposits from various sources 
which was Tk. 6,423.69 million in 2018. As at 31 December 
2019, total outstanding amount of term deposit was 
Tk. 9,761.51 million compared to Tk. 12,375.211 million 
in 2018. Interest on deposits and borrowings amounting 
to TK. 1,658.47 million was paid during the year 2019 as 
against Tk. 1,654.88 million in 2018. The Company offers 
different deposit products which is available on page 18.

Cash Flows analysis

Union capital prepares its cash flow statement in line with 
the format prescribed by Bangladesh Bank. We manage 
our cash flow preparing statement for different maturity 
period i.e. within 7 days, 2 weeks, 1-12 months, between 
1-3 years, 3-5 years, 5-10 years, 10-15 years, 15-20 years 
as per the situation demands.

A considerable portion of our total assets representing 
36 percent is liquid in nature and consists mainly of cash 
and balance with various banks and financial institutions 
and investment in listed securities. The highly liquid nature 
of our assets provides us with flexibility in financing 
and managing our anticipated operating needs. The 
company’s asset and liability management policy is 
intended to manage Balance Sheet Risk, especially 
for managing of liquidity risk and interest rate risk. We 
manage the risk re-pricing the interest earning assets 
and interest-bearing liabilities though in some cases it 
is difficult to re-price the loans, advances and leases.  
The Company is always maintaining the CRR and SLR as 
prescribed by Bangladesh Bank.

Cash flow from operating activities

Union Capital maintained a negative net cash flow from 
its operating activities during the year 2019. Net cash 
outflows from operating activities was Tk. 850.49 million 
due to a significant amount of payment to depositors.

Cash flow from investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities were Tk. 12.65 million 
mainly due to purchase of property, plant & equipment 
and purchase of securities. During the year, a total 
amount of Tk. 649.48 million (2018:Tk. 578.50 million) 
has been invested for purchase of listed securities while 
total sale of securities was Tk. 1,015.54 million (2018:Tk. 
922.58 million). Moreover, UCL invested Tk. 387.94 million in 
acquisition of fixed assets.

Cash flow from financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities shows a net cash 
outflow that means the money borrowed from banks 
and financial institutions was less than the money repaid 
to banks and financial institutions. During the year a total 
amount Tk. 354.36 million was borrowed as fresh loans 
from banks and financial institutions while an amount 
of Tk. 1,244.73 million was repaid to banks and financial 
institutions.
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Specific Risk and its Management

Compliance risk

Regulatory risk

This is the risk whereby the procedures implemented 
by UCL to ensure compliance to relevant statutory, 
regulatory and supervisory requirements are not adhered 
to and/or are insufficient and ineffective.

Impact on business

Non-compliance with regulatory risk could result in 
significant financial loss, impairment of shareholders’ 
funds and/ or outright closure of business occasioned by 
sanction/fine on UCL, or loss/ suspension of banking license 
by the regulatory bodies.

Mitigation measures

Proactive implementation of UCL’s sound compliance 
programme that ensures compliance by all stakeholders 
with relevant laws and regulations. This includes continuous 
update of UCL’s policy guidelines as well as training of 
employees to understand regulatory obligations and the 
consequence of non-compliance.

Credit risk

Default risk, performance risk, payment risk, diversion risk, 
managerial risk.

Impact on business

•	 Poor asset quality arising from high level of non-
performing loan/leases and ultimately low yield on 
earning assets;

•	 Financial loss due to increased provisions and charges 
on impaired assets;

•	 Could lead to impairment of shareholders’ funds.

Mitigation measures

•	 Strong credit analysis to identify the risk; 

•	 Clear loan covenants and transaction dynamics; 

•	 Effective credit control and monitoring processes; 

•	 Prompt identification of early sign of deterioration; 

•	 Adequacy and realizability of collateral; 

•	 Adoption of risk-based pricing for earning assets;

•	 Risk management systems and processes have been 
strengthened to optimize portfolio quality and to 
ensure appropriate pricing of risk assets.

Portfolio Concentration risk

Impact on business

Breaches of portfolio limits and regulatory provisions 
could lead to sanctions and increased financial loss.

Mitigation measures

Adherence to portfolio limit as has been set by the 
Sectoral Investment Policy approved by the Board and 
regulatory requirements.

Responsibility

Business Units, Chief Risk Officer and Credit Risk 
Management Department.

Market and liquidity risk

Interest rate risk

Impact on business

Could result in significant financial loss, impairment of 
interest rate related instruments including fixed-rate 
instruments.

Mitigation measures

•	 Experienced Asset-liability Management Committee 
that meets regularly;

•	 Daily reporting to executive management;

•	 Strict adherence to UCL’s internal policies such as the 
use of limits and management action triggers.

Investment risk

Impact on business

Could lead to diminution in the value of investments.

Mitigation measures

•	 Significant investments are approved by the Board and 
all others by the Board Executive Committee and the 
Credit Committee;

•	 Experienced executives in the respective business units;

•	 Supervision by the parent company’s Directors 
nominated to act as Directors of the subsidiaries;

•	 Portfolio selection and diversification strategies.

Liquidity risk

Impact on business

Could lead to insolvency and eventual reputational risk.

Mitigation measures

•	 Efficient Asset and Liability Committee that oversees 
liquidity management;

•	 Diversified sources of funding;

•	 Contingent funding plan;

•	 Effective cash flow planning.

Responsibility

The primary responsibility for mitigating the above risks 
lies with the treasury department. However, the risk 
identification, measurement, monitoring, control and 
reporting lies with the ALCO and the Chief Risk Officer.

Operational risk

People risk

The risk of loss – financial, reputational or otherwise – 
arising from a failure to properly manage UCL’s human 
capital. This could manifest in the form of staff fraud, 
high staff attrition, knowledge gaps and a demotivated 
and disgruntled workforce.
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Impact on business

This would impact UCL by way of negative service 
experiences for our customers and the attendant loss 
in market share, financial loss and reputational damage 
and the cumulative effect of being unable to deliver 
strong business performance that meets or exceeds 
stakeholders’ expectations.

Mitigation measures

•	 UCL has put in place comprehensive service rules to 
achieve a strong workplace;

•	 Effective background checks on new hires;

•	 Competitive remuneration package to attract and 
retain the best talent;

•	 Enforcement of strong supervisory control;

•	 Zero tolerance to staff integrity issues and fraud;

•	 A fully fledged HR Department to cater for the training 
and development needs of staff;

•	 A HR and Compensation Committee that deal with 
and resolve employee issues.

•	 Implementation of National Integrity Strategy as a 
part of uplifting the morale, ethics, integrity of the 
employees.

System or technology risk

The risk of failing to develop, implement or operate UCL’s 
technology platforms and solutions to meet stakeholders 
requirements.

Impact on business

This could manifest in the form of: system downtime resulting 
in irate customers and tarnished reputation; software 
failures; systems change process management failures; 
seizure of technical support; hardware failures; obsolete 
hardware; and no support from the system providers.

Mitigation measures

•	 UCL has a Disaster Recovery Plan;

•	 UCL execute Service Agreement with IT service providers;

•	 Regular IT supervision and control;

•	 Hardware management covering hardware purchase, 
use, replacement and disposal;

•	 Extensive software selection process is in place 
covering purchase or design, use, enhancement and 
replacement;

•	 Building resilience into UCL’s network platform through 
the installation of a back-up link.

Information security risk

Confidentiality, integrity and availability of UCL operations 
and information assets.

Impact on business

Information assets are critical to UCL’s operation and the 
confidentiality, integrity and availability of these assets 
are crucial to the effective and efficient delivery of 
service by UCL to its customers.

Disruption or interruptions to these assets would have dire 
consequences on UCL operations.

Mitigation measures

•	 Documenting and standardizing the processes within 
UCL while building appropriate controls into these 
processes;

•	 Classifying all information assets with appropriate 
priorities and assigning ownership for those assets;

•	 Developing awareness programme and making 
information security the responsibility of all UCL staff.

Responsibility

The primary responsibility for security of UCL information 
assets and applicable legislations lies with all employees, 
while the Executive Management has the overall 
responsibility to ensure that all information assets within 
UCL are protected and thus adequately secure.

Legal risk

Impact on business

Increased costs, loss of revenue, abuse and/or loss 
of intellectual property, distraction, negative brand 
equity, strained relationships with customers, depositors, 
employees, service providers, investors, regulators and other 
stakeholders, and possible disruption of business activities.

Mitigation measures

Consistent application of professional standards, 
transparency and fairness while transacting to reduce 
areas of possible conflicts, availability of a dependable 
record retention system, engagement of external 
counsel with proven competence in the prosecution of 
UCL’s claims against third parties and in the conduct of 
UCL’s defense, and exploring alternative dispute resolution 
mechanisms, among others.

Regulations

UCL has been operating under the license from Bangladesh 
Bank. Our operations are subject to regulation, inspection, 
and supervision. This supervision and regulation is intended 
primarily to bring financial discipline in the functioning 
of NBFIs and for the protection of the depositors. We 
are required to provide reports to our regulators on our 
activities on certain intervals; some are regularly, some are 
weekly, monthly, quarterly, half-yearly, yearly and so on. 
Regulations applicable to UCL generally relate to lending 
and investment activities, maintenance of appropriate 
level of capital, maintenance of cash and liquidity 
reserve, appointment of Directors, Managing Director 
and auditors, loan to Directors and associates etc. Failure 
to comply with these regulations may be considered as 
an unsafe and unsound practice and may result in the 
imposition of penalties by Bangladesh Bank. The company 
is required to submit periodic reports/statements to 
Bangladesh Bank describing its activities and financial 
conditions. Our capital market operations are also 
monitored and supervised by BSEC and Stock Exchanges. 
The periodic reports are required to submit to Bangladesh 
Bank, BSEC and Stock Exchanges are given below:
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Schedule of Bangladesh Bank Reporting

Reporting Type Frequency

Statement of shareholding information Quarterly

Statement of lease/loan rescheduling Monthly

Statement of lease/loan write off Quarterly

CIB return Monthly

Statement of business activities Quarterly

Statement of industrial loan Quarterly

Statement on money laundering Quarterly

Statement of loans/leases of bank/FIs directors Quarterly

Statement of top 10 defaulters Quarterly

Statement of litigation cases Half-yearly

Statement of large loan/lease Quarterly

Risk management paper Monthly

Report on national integrity strategy Quarterly

Call money transactions Daily

Report on product and services Yearly

Report on green banking Quarterly

NBDC return Monthly

Schedule of fees/charges/commission Half-yearly

Inter-bank transaction matrix Monthly

Statement of corporate social responsibility Half-yearly

Classification of leases & loans (FICL) Quarterly

Sector wise investment Quarterly

Capital adequacy & market disciplines (BASEL II) Quarterly

Stress testing Report Quarterly

Minutes of board/committee meetings
5 working 

days

Statement of cash reserve requirement Monthly

Statement of statutory liquidity reserve Monthly

Statement of lending/deposit rate Quarterly

Liquidity profile Monthly

Audited financial statements & 
management report

Annually

Statement of SME loan/lease disbursement Quarterly

Statement of SME  loan/lease disbursement 
for women entrepreneur

Quarterly

Statement of SME loan/lease outstanding Quarterly

Statement of SME loan/lease recovery/
collection  status

Quarterly

Statement of SME  loan/lease cluster wise 
disbursement

Quarterly

Statement of SME  loan/lease cluster wise 
outstanding

Quarterly

Statement of SME monitoring refinance 
scheme for women entrepreneur

Quarterly

Statement of SME target report Yearly

Report on integrated supervision system Monthly

Statement of asset & liability and profit & loss Quarterly

Report on Large Loans Quarterly

Cash Transaction Report (CTR) Monthly

Suspicious Transaction Report (STR) Monthly

Diagnostic Review Report (DRR) Yearly

Statement of NBFI-II & NBFI-III Quarterly

Reporting to BSEC

Shareholding position Monthly
Quarterly financial statements Quarterly
Half-yearly  report Half-yearly
Annual report Annually
Changes in the position of BOD/MD/CS/CFO When occurred

Dhaka & Chittagong Stock Exchange
Shareholding position Monthly
Statement of free float shareholding Monthly
Quarterly financial statements Quarterly
Half-yearly  report Half-yearly
Annual report Annually
Changes in the position of BOD/MD/CS/CFO When occurred

Recent legislations

During the year 2019, Bangladesh Bank has issued certain 
circulars/guidelines which inter alia include as under:

•	 Bangladesh Bank issued a new circular regarding call 
money limit of NBFIs (i.e. 40% of equity) and the previous 
one was replaced by this new circular.

•	 Bangladesh Bank issued a new circular for all NBFIs 
regarding write off of clients and the previous one was 
replaced by this new circular. 

•	 Bangladesh Bank issued a new circular whereby NBFIs 
are required to take prior approval from Bangladesh 
Bank in case of renewal of office rent more than two 
years @10% and more than 3 years @15%.

Bangladesh Securities and Exchange Commission has also 
issued guidelines for listed companies, which inter alia 
include as under:

•	 BSEC issued a circular regarding not to use same NID, 
mobile number and bank account in different BO 
accounts.

•	 A new Gazette has been published regarding the 
lock in period and the provision of lock in period shall 
be counted from the first trading day in the stock 
exchange instead of the date of issuance of prospectus.

•	 A new Gazette has been published in 1 August 2019 
by imposing conditions on utilization of IPO fund raised 
and right issue.

•	 BSEC issued an order wherein re-investment system of 
dividend has been cancelled for mutual fund and only 
cash dividend is allowed to declare.  

•	 BSEC issued an order restricting any provident fund of 
private institution not to be a sponsor of any mutual fund.

Competition

UCL faces intense competition in all the markets where 
it operates. Its principal competitors are the others non-
bank financial institutions. Because of involvement of banks 
in our core product i.e. leasing business, competitiveness in 
leasing has been intensified further. Some banks are also 
offering capital market related products like brokerage 
services, portfolio management etc. 

COMMUNICATION WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS

The investor relation activities of the Company are 
designed to provide a balanced level of communication 
between the Company and its stakeholders. Established 
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procedures are in place to ensure the timely release of 
price sensitive information. The Company also publishes 
its quarterly, half-yearly and annual results well within the 
time periods prescribed by the regulators.

The Company promotes the use of Company’s website in 
all Company announcements. The website also contains 
corporate information which is updated on a regular 
basis and includes a corporate governance information 
which contains details of the Company’s adherence to 
the guidelines and the full terms of reference of the Board 
and its Committees. All the Directors normally attend the 
Annual General Meeting and shareholders are invited to ask 
questions during the meeting and to meet with Directors 
after the formal proceedings have been concluded. The 
Twenty Two Annual General Meeting will be held on 17 
September 2020. All shareholders of the Company are 
invited to attend the Company’s Annual General Meeting. 
An invitation latter has been given to the shareholders 
available on page 301 of this Annual Report.

The Directors appreciate the importance of general 
shareholders of the Company and use the Company’s 
Annual General Meeting as further opportunities to 
communicate with them. UCL provides copies of its annual 
report in order that these are made available to them 
well in advance for detail and constructive discussion. 
It is the company’s policy to give the shareholders 
the opportunity at Annual General Meeting to ask 
questions about its activities and prospects. The Board 
also structures these meetings so that shareholders can 
vote separately on each matter, by proposing separate 
resolutions for each item to be considered.

In accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 1994 the notice of the twenty two Annual General 
Meeting was sent to shareholders more than 14 clear 
days before the meeting. Notice of AGM is also published 

in two widely circulated daily newspapers, one in 
English and the other in Bangla. Shareholders have the 
opportunity to vote separately on each proposal at the 
Annual General Meeting, either in person or by proxy. The 
proxy form is attached to the annual report to represent 
the original shareholder in the meeting and vote on his/
her/their behalf in case of preoccupation or otherwise. 

As in previous years, the Chairman of the Company will be 
available to answer questions from shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting.

The Company maintains a corporate website 
www.unicap-bd.com containing a wide range of 
information of the Company. 

Human Resources

Our human capital strategy focuses on attracting and 
retaining the key skills needed to achieve organizational 
objectives, improving individual capabilities, placing the right 
people in development programmes, increasing the focus 
on achieving organizational goals through performance 
management, identifying a pipeline of leaders needed 
by the organization now and in the future, improving 
change capability, fostering sound employee relations, 
and organizational transformation, improving employee 
engagement, promoting the wellbeing of our employees, 
and ensuring competitive rewards for employees.

In line with our objective of increasing ownership concept 
among employees, we introduced among others 
employee provident fund, gratuity, performance bonus, 
home loan facility, transport facility and so on. The 
total human resource strength of UCL Group as on 31 
December 2019 was 136. Management considers that 
the relation amongst its employees is satisfactory. The list 
of senior executives of UCL as on 31 December 2019 is 
given below:

Name Age With UCL Present Position

Chowdhury Manzoor Liaquat 53 February-18 Managing Director & CEO

Tauhidul Ashraf FCS 41 August-13 EVP & Company Secretary 

A. N. M. Golam Shabbir 49 December-98 Executive Vice President 

Fazle Karim Murad  46 June-00 Senior Vice President 

Abul Kalam Azad 45 April-19 Senior Vice President

Selim Khan Hindol 46 July-16 Vice President

Shaheen Mohammad Qumrul Hasan 46 April-17 Vice President

Tareq Ahmed Salah Uddin Khan 44 May-17 Vice President

Syed Arefeen Jubyed 37 August-18 Vice President

Mohammed Ibrahim 44 October-18 Vice President

Muhammad Salah Uddin 40 August-16 Vice President

Khandaker Muhammad Forhad Abedin 41 August-16 Vice President

Muhammad Shohidur Rahman 42 March-16 Assistant Vice President

Mahbub Alam 42 October-16 Assistant Vice President

Fahim Ahasan Choudhury 33 March-18 Assistant Vice President

Mohammad Balayet Hossain 38 May-10 Assistant Vice President

Md. Shariful Alam 35 March-16 Assistant Vice President

Md. Rakibul Islam 57 August-10 Assistant Vice President 
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Name Age With UCL Present Position

Md. Moinul Islam Bhuiyan 39 November-06 Senior Manager 

Asif Raihan Chowdhury 34 January-14 Senior Manager

Deenesh Kumar Raha 37 December-13 Senior Manager

Mohammed Zakir Hossain 41 November-02 Senior Manager

Sk. Md. Rezwanul Haque 35 Aug-13 Senior Manager 

A. B. M. Qamrul Hasan 41 May-17 Senior Manager

Md. Zahidul Islam 35 August-19 Senior Manager

Mohammad Jahangir Alam Khan 42 February-11 Manager

Md. Abdul Bashed 43 March-11 Manager

S. M. Mehedi Hasan 32 February-10 Manager

Mohammad Salah Uddin Pallab 38 October-16 Manager

A. K. M. Sazzad Hossain 36 April-16 Manager

Operational Hub

The head office of UCL is located at bti Landmark 
(Level-8), plot-16, Gulshan Avenue, Gulshan-1, Dhaka-1212. 
We provide financial services from our 8 offices located 
in Dhaka, Chattogram, Sylhet, Gazipur, Narsingdi and 
Bogura. We conduct our merchant banking operations 
and securities trading activities through our subsidiary 
companies.

Annual Report and other important documents available 
in website

This Annual Report, prepared and presented on the basis 
of disclosure requirements by the regulatory authorities 
is made available on our website at www.unicap-bd.
com as soon as reasonably practicable after furnishing 
the same to Bangladesh Bank, Bangladesh Securities and 
Exchange Commission (BSEC), Stock Exchanges where the 
shares of the Company are traded.

Market for UCL’s ordinary shares

The ordinary shares of UCL are traded on the Dhaka Stock 
Exchange Ltd. and Chittagong Stock Exchange Ltd. under 
the symbol of ‘UNIONCAP’. The following table indicates 
the high and low prices for the shares of Union Capital, as 
reported by DSE during each quarter end of 2019:

Fig. in Taka

Quarter High Low
Q1_19 16.7            12.0 

Q2_19           12.9            10.8 

Q3_19           10.8 7.2

Q4_19           8.2            5.9

UCL’s market share in industry

Across our business group, UCL offers a complete range of 
financial services to help our customers achieve their goals. 
We provide strategic advice, lend money, raise capital, help 
manage funds and extend supports and hold leadership 
position in all of our major business areas. UCL believes in 
product innovativeness. As a part of it, UCL always delivers 
tailor-made financial products to meet appropriate and 
diverse needs of our customers and innovates new financial 
products for existing and future customers. 

As per the latest reports of NBFI published by Finance 
Ministry which were prepared on the basis of data of 
31 December 2018, UCL’s market share in the industry 
was 2.08 percent (14th position). We have prepared the 
analysis by compiling data of 34 Non-bank Financial 
Institutions working in Bangladesh. As on 31 December 
2017 market share of UCL, out of the same 26 Non-bank 
Financial Institutions, stands at 3.21 percent (9th position).

UCL/Industry
Market share 
(31-Dec-18)

Market share 
(31-Dec-17)

Market share 
(31-Dec-16)

Market share 
(30-Sep-16)

Market share
(30-Sep-15)

Market share 
(30-Sep-14)

Position 
(31-Dec-18)

UCL 2.08 3.21 3.48 3.76 4.05 4.79 14th 

Others 97.92 96.79 96.52 96.23 95.95 95.21

Total 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00
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Union Capital Limited

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
(BDT in million except ratios and per share data)

OPERATING PERFORMANCE

 PARTICULARS 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Operating revenue  1,719.72  2,488.90  2,456.63  2,288.81  2,145.60 

Operating profit  (514.69)  728.46  827.93  943.02  754.25 

Profit before tax  (1,014.56)  184.99  280.89  440.40  437.17 

Net profit after tax  (1,057.39)  92.39  177.90  205.40  186.75 

Earnings per share (EPS)  (6.13)  0.56  1.14  1.44  1.40 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Current assets  7,764.38  8,455.59  9,110.88  6,697.30  6,342.61 

Total assets  19,638.08  23,123.68  26,069.62  22,950.79  20,265.73 

Property, plant and equipment  457.78  40.22  51.17  35.78  29.25 

Net current assets  253.80  345.97  858.83  538.19  149.34 

Long term liabilities  10,451.87  11,047.79  13,232.05  12,405.34  10,463.26 

Current liabilities  7,510.58  8,109.62  8,252.05  6,159.11  6,193.27 

Total liabilities  18,394.14  20,822.36  23,860.69  20,919.76  17,771.81 

Shareholders' fund  1,243.94  2,301.32  2,208.93  2,031.03  1,993.93 

Capital employed  12,127.50  15,014.06  17,817.57  16,791.68  14,072.46 

PROFITABILITY AND OTHER FINANCIAL RATIOS

Gross operating margin ratio (%)  (31.94)  34.36  43.06  48.53  37.21 

Earning before interest, depreciation and tax  1,239.74  1,967.14  1,926.59  1,798.54  1,839.60 

Price earnings ratio (Times)  (1.03)  22.06  17.69  14.20  10.33 

Current ratio (Times)  1.03  1.04  1.10  1.09  1.02 

Return on capital employed (%)  (59.65)  4.10  8.19  9.95  10.89 

Debt/Equity (Times)  1.21  1.05  1.44  1.09  0.80 

Financial expense coverage (Times)  0.77  1.41  1.51  1.70  1.54 

Net profit margin (%)  (61.49)  3.71  7.24  8.97  8.70 

Rate of dividend (%)  -    5.00  5.00  10.00  12.00 

Operating expense to operating revenue (%)  (61.49)  3.71  7.24  8.97  8.70 

BUSINESS RATIOS
Statutory liquidity reserve ratio (%)  26.45  42.20  29.17  13.39  7.62 

Cash reserve ratio (%)  3.63  2.62  3.07  2.55  2.52 

Net interest income as a % of working funds  (4.45)  2.32  1.65  3.49  4.06 

Cost/Income ratio (%)  (75.04)  54.05  45.52  26.36  28.03 

Return on average assets (%)  (4.95)  0.38  0.73  0.95  0.97 

Net asset value per share  7.21  14.00  14.11  14.99  14.99 

Profit per employee  (4.60)  0.34  0.71  1.03  1.09 

Capital adequacy ratio (%) 7.93 12.53 11.34  11.83  13.34 

Operating profit as a percentage of working funds  (3.68)  4.70  4.64  5.51  4.82 

Dividend cover ratio (Times)  (6.13)  0.56  1.14  1.44  1.40 

Non-Performing Loans to Total Loans (%)  16.97  9.68  8.73  8.44  7.78 

EQUITY STATISTICS
Authorized capital  2,000.00  2,000.00  2,000.00  2,000.00  2,000.00 

Paid up share capital  1,725.74  1,643.56  1,565.30  1,423.00  1,329.90 

Number of shares  172.57  164.36  156.53  142.30  132.99 

Shareholders' equity  1,243.94  2,301.32  2,208.93  2,031.03  1,993.93 

Year end market price 6.30 12.40 20.10  20.50  14.50 

Market capitalization  1,087.22  2,038.01  3,146.24  2,917.14  1,928.36 

Market value addition  (156.72)  (263.31)  937.31  886.11  (65.57)
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Graphical data of  

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

Deposits

Amount of deposit is 
Tk. 9,914 million in 
2019 comapared to 
Tk. 12,729 million in 
2018 registering 
negative growth of 
22.11%  due to 
settlement of Bank 
deposits as well as 
individual deposits and 
slowdown of deposit 
mobilization during 
2019.
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NPL

UCL maintained the 

NPL rate at 16.97 

percent which was 

singnificantly higher 

than 2018. Moreover, 

the down gradation 

of few loan/lease 

accounts on the basis 

of qualitative 

judgement has 

impected on such 

increase.
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Operating 
revenue

In 2019 operating
revenue has been 
decreased by 30.90 
percent to Tk. 1,720 
million from Tk. 2,489 
million of 2018. This is 
a result of keeping 
significant amount of 
provision against 
receivable of UIL as 
well as suspending 
income from UIL in 
2019.
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Investments
In 2019, investment was 
Tk. 14,933 million as 
against Tk. 16,936 million 
of 2018 registering a 
nagative growth of 11.83 
percent due to lack of 
fresh investment in 2019  
as well as significant 
number of pre-settlement 
of loan/leases clients.
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Shareholders' fund has 
been Decreased by 
45.94 percent due to 
maintain provision 
against receivable 
from UniCap 
Investments Ltd. (UIL) 
and suspending  
income of UIL in 
current year.
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Operating profit

In 2019, operating 
income has been 
significantly reduced 
by more than 170 
percent to Tk. ( 515 ) 
million from Tk. 728 
million of 2018 due to  
decrease of 
commission income 
from securities trading 
and suspending 
interest income from 
UIL and reduction of 
clients.2018 2017 2016 2015
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Cost of fund

Cost of fund has been 
increased by 1.85 
percent mainly for 
over all money market 
rate move to upward 
trend.
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Earnings per 
share

Our EPS has been 
decreased by more 
than 1,190 percent 
due to maintain 
provision for down 
graded loan/leases, 
increase operating 
expenses as well as 
reduction of 
commission income 
and suspending 
interest income from 
UIL in 2019.
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Interest income

In 2019, interest 
income decreased by 
23.96 percent to Tk. 
1,612 million from 
2,120 million of 2018 
due to decreasing 
loans, leases portfolio 
and suspending 
interest income of UIL 
in 2019.
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Net assets growth

Net assets has been 
decreased by 45.95 
percent due to 
earning profit 
decreased by Tk.
1,057.39 million in 
current year.

2018 2017 2016 20152019

1
,2

4
4

2
,3

0
1

2
,2

0
9

2
,0

3
1

1
,9

9
4

(1
,0

5
7

)

Net profit

In 2019, net profit has 

been reduced to 

negative 1057 million 

from 92.39 million in 

2018 due to increase 

operating expenses as 

well as suspending 

interest income of UIL 

in 2019.
2018 2017 2016 20152019

9
2

.3
9 1
7

7
.9

0

2
0

5
.4

0

1
8

6
.7

5

(5
9

.5
5

)

Return on 
shareholder fund

Our return on equity 
has been decreased 
by 1,555.97 percent 
due to maintain 
excess provision 
against default loan, 
increased operating 
expenses as well as 
reduced commission 
income from securities 
trading and 
suspending interest 
income of UIL in 2019.
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Agriculture 4.61%

Telecommunication and IT 2.33% Textile 11.40%

Trade and Commerce 37.82%

Transport and Aviation 1.24%

Power, Gas, Water and 
Sanitary Service 18.14%

Ship Manufacturing Industry 2.76%

Plastic Industry 1%

Food Production and
Processing Industry 5.76%

Others 2.49%

Garments and Knitwear 4.56%

Iron, Steel and Engineering 8.11%

Capital adequacy 
ratio

Capital adequacy 
ratio has decreased 
to 7.93 percent in 
2019 from 12.53 
percent of 2018 as 
against regulatory 
requirement of 10 
percent. This is the 
result of increament 
of the risk weighted 
assets as well as the 
decreased of 
regulatory capital.

2018 2017 2016 20152019

7
.9

3

1
2

.5
3

1
1

.3
4

1
1

.8
3 1

3
.3

4

Operating profit 
per employee

Operating profit per 

employee has 

decreased by more 

than 18 percent 

compared to last 

year due to 

decreasing operating 

income in 2019.
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Sector wise classification-2019
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Staffing level 2019 2018

Management Cadre 51 45

Non Management Cadre 60 83

Support Staff 25 28

Total Work force 136 156

Male 121 132

Female 15 24

Average age of employees

Management Cadre 22.45 26.20

Non-management Cadre 39.64 31.90

Support Staff 25.89 26.60

Change in Staffing level

Total employee at beginning 156 149

Recruitment during year 21 45

Departures (retirement/resignation) 41 38

Changes during the year 136 156

Training

Average number of days in training per employee 0.43 0.57

% of employees who participated in at least one 100 100

No. of employees who participated in at least one  
training program during the year 111 128

No. of training programs participated by 
employees during the year 24 26

Business Review 

2019 SOCIAL INDICATORS

Department wise employee (in number)

Total work force (in number)

Total work force (in number)

Gender wise employee (in number)

Gender wise employee (in number)

Management

Non Management

Support Staff

51

60

25

2019

Management

Non Management

Support Staff

45

83

28

2018

Male

Female

15

121

2019

Male

Female

24

132

2018

SME

Finance & Accounts

Corporate Finance

Treasury

Legal

ICC

Special Asset Management

CRM

CAD

Board Secretariates

ICT

HR & Admin

Executive Office

Investment

Retail

Support Staff

Support
Staff 25

Finance &
Accounts 8

Corporate
Finance 12

Treasury 13

Legal 5ICC 5

Special Asset
Management 9

CRM 4

CAD 7

Board
Secretariates 2

ICT 2

HR &
Admin 9

SME 29

Executive
Office 2

Investment 1

Retail 3
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AWARDS & RECOGNITIONS

Union Capital Limited has received many awards in last couple of years. 
Winning such exciting awards has always been very prestigious. It is a 
testament to the quality of our report, transparency, compliance, good 
governance practices in our operations and adequate, timely & fair 
disclosure to the stakeholders. We dedicate these triumphs to or customers, 
depositors, shareholders, regulators and others stakeholders.
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Awards & Recognitions
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At the beginning of the year 2020, the Management of 
the Company deliberated and agreed on certain key 
priorities for UCL Group. These priorities will serve as the 
platform for driving the overall performance for the year 
2020. They are:

Strengthening our Value Proposition

Strengthening our value proposition to our target 
customer segments including corporate, SME and retail 
customers with the objective of improving our share of 
businesses of financing operations and becoming an 
institution amongst the top performers in key areas.

Consolidating UCL and its Subsidiaries

Reinforcing our business in each of our operating 
segments in order to deepen our penetration, achieve 
positive contribution to the group’s profitability and 
deliver commensurate returns on working fund.

Driving for Low Cost Term Deposit

Augmenting our market share of low cost deposits by 
leveraging our superior reach and personalized to drive 
growth building a strong and dedicated team for deposit 
mobilization.

Aggressive Investment Growth

Improving our investment by creating quality investment 
portfolio with the customers having good repayment 
track record in key sectors of the economy as well as 
leveraging the opportunities linked to SME financing.

Commitment to Lean Growth

Focusing on achieving aggressive revenue growth with 
minimal cost growth by leveraging our existing operational 
platform to improve our cost-to-income ratio.

Process Improvement

Removal of process, organizational and policy bottlenecks 
affecting efficiency improvements within the group.

Driving quality earnings across all of our business by focusing on industry leading customer experience and enhancing operating efficiency 
we shall strive for achieving our strategic goals.

Process
Improvement

Aggressive
Investment

Growth

Commitment
to Lean
Growth

Consolidation

Driving 
for low

cost fund

Value
Proposition 2020

Key Priorities

2020 KEY PRIORITIES
Outlines important actions for achieving strategic goals
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The Board is responsible for the strategic direction and ultimate control of the Company according to its Memorandum & Articles 
of Association and Board Charter.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
who governs the Company
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CHOWDHURY TANZIM KARIM

Chairman

(Nominated by EC Securities Ltd.)

Mr. Chowdhury is a full time practicing lawyer 
specialized in company, commercial, banking and 
securities law. He is the Head of Chamber at C. T. 
Karim & Partners, a Dhaka based law farm primarily 
engaged in dealing with civil matters. He has been 
providing legal services to a number of leading 
banks, financial institutions, merchant banks and 
asset management companies in Bangladesh. Mr. 
Karim was called to the Bar of England and Wales 
from the Honorable Society of Lincoln’s Inn upon 
successful completion of Bar Vocational Course at 
Inns of Court, School of Law. He obtained his L.L.B 
degree from Cardiff University, UK and Diploma-in 
Law from University of London. Mr. Karim is enrolled 
as an Advocate of Supreme Court of Bangladesh 
and also a member of Dhaka Bar Association and 
Supreme Court Bar Association.

First appointment to the Board 25 April 2011

Born in May 1985 

Nationality Bangladeshi

Committee Membership 

Nill

External Appointment 

Chairman, UniCap Securities Limited

Chairman, UniCap Investments Limited

M. FAIZUR RAHMAN *

Director

Mr. Rahman comes of a nationally known & 
respectable family of Moulvibazar, Sylhet. He 
graduated from Dhaka University and then went to 
London for higher studies and training. In London, 
he was trained by the Commercial Union Assurance 
Co. Ltd. in 1962. He also studied in the Institute of 
Chartered Secretaries and Chartered Insurance 
Institution, London. He was one of the senior most 
executives of Insurance Company in the then East 
Pakistan. After the liberation of Bangladesh, he 
started his own business and formed Asian Surveyors 
Ltd., one of the largest and globally renowned 
firms of Surveyors, Valuers and Loss adjusters. He 
was the Director of National Tea Company Ltd. 
and Infrastructure Investment Facilitation Centre 
for many years. Mr. Rahman is also associated with 
many social and welfare oriented organizations.

First appointment to the Board 28 May 2002

Born in May 1939 

Nationality Bangladeshi

Committee Membership 

Audit Committee 

Executive Committee

External Appointment 

Chairman & Managing Director, Asian Surveyors Ltd.

Director, UniCap Securities Limited

* Mr. M. Faizur Rahman died on 28 June 2020.
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WAQAR AHMAD CHOUDHURY

Director

Mr. Waqar Ahmad Choudhury is the Managing 
Director & CEO of Vanguard Asset Management 
Limited, an Asset Management Company licensed 
& regulated by Bangladesh Securities & Exchange 
Commission (BSEC) for managing Mutual Funds, 
providing Corporate Advisory Services and Portfolio 
Management. He did his Bachelor of Finance & 
Banking (Finance Concentration) from Adelphi 
University, Long Island, N.Y. USA in 1995. Then he 
started his career in the year 1996 as a Director 
of Nascom (Pvt.) Ltd. and Sponsor Shareholder of 
Green Delta Insurance Company Limited. He is a 
member of various Associations and Clubs including 
Metropolitan Chamber of Commerce & Industry 
(MCCI), American Alumni Association, Dhaka Club 
Limited, Gulshan Club Limited, Kurmitola Golf 
Club Limited, Uttara Club Limited, Gulshan Youth 
Club, Weekend Cricket Club Association and Old 
Laboratories Association.

First appointment to the Board 21 October 2015

Born in April 1966 

Nationality Bangladeshi

Committee Membership 

Chairman, Executive Committee

External Appointment 
Director, Vanguard Asset Management Limited

Director, WAC Equity Management Limited

Director, Rancom Trading Private Limited

NADEEM A. CHAUDHURY 

Director
(Nominated by Enrilco Limited)

Mr. Nadeem A. Chaudhury is representing Enrilco 
Limited in the Board of Union Capital Limited. 
Mr. Chaudhury holds a Bachelor of Professional 
Science degree in Construction Management and 
Civil Engineering from Pratt Institute, New York, 
USA. He is also an MBA. He has been involved in the 
Infrastructure Development business internationally 
for over 22 years. He is also a highly skilled contract 
negotiator with international concerns. Presently, he 
is the Chief Executive Officer of Bengal Development 
Corporation Ltd.

He was a Director of Green Delta Insurance 
Company Limited. He was also the Managing 
Director of Navana Pharmaceuticals Ltd, concern 
of Islam Group.

First appointment to the Board 22 November 2001

Born in May 1965 

Nationality Bangladeshi

Committee Membership 

Audit Committee

Executive Committee

External Appointment 
Director, Enrilco Limited

Green Delta Securities Ltd.

Green Delta Capital Ltd.
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MEHERUNNESA HAQUE

Director

Mrs. Meherunnesa Haque was born in 1954. As a 
businesswoman she is involved with business activities 
since 1984. Mrs. Haque holds position of Director 
in good number of business entities in the area 
of garments, garments accessories and finance. 
She was a Director of Prime Bank Ltd. Mrs. Haque 
has travelled various countries including U.S.A, UK, 
Canada, Germany, Singapore, and Thailand for 
business purposes. She enthusiastically takes part 
and contributes to various social activities.

First appointment to the Board 26 June 2004

Born in December 1954 

Nationality Bangladeshi 

Committee Membership
Nil

External Appointment
Director, Palmal Garments Hosiery Ltd.; Palmal 
Garments Ltd.; Palmal Knitwear Factory Ltd.;  Palmal 
Garments Washing Ltd.; Palmal Styles Ltd.; Palmal 
Packaging Ltd.; Palmal Dresses Ltd.; N.K.K. Knitwear 
Ltd.; N.K.K. Sweaters Ltd.; Pragati Fashionwear Ltd.; 
Pragati Metalex (Pvt) Ltd.; Al-Hamra Garments 
Ltd.; Amazan Garments Ltd.; The Dacca Dyeing 
Garments Ltd.; UniCap Investments Ltd; UniCap 
Securities Limited.

SABITA REZWANA RAHMAN  

Director

Sabita Rezwana Rahman, a Professor in the 
Department of Microbiology of Dhaka University, 
did her PhD from United Kingdom and M.Sc. in 
Microbiology from Dhaka University. She got 
elected for the position of Joint Secretary of Dhaka 
University Teachers Association in 2012, Member of 
Dhaka University Teachers Association in 2013-16 
and Senate Member of Dhaka University in 2013-16. 
She was also involved in the political affiliation as a 
Convenor of Blue Panel in the Faculty of Biological 
Sciences of Dhaka University during 2010-12 and 
as a Joint Convenor of Blue Panel in the Faculty of 
Biological Sciences of Dhaka University during 2008-
12. She got international gold medal on Champions 
of the Champions in 2010 for outstanding research 
amongst young scientists and also awarded gold 
medal by Third World Academy of Sciences in Italy 
for outstanding research performance in 2009. 
She got international award on Commonwealth 
Scholarship for PhD degree in the United Kingdom by 
Commonwealth Scholarship Commission in London, 
Govt. Merit Scholarship in Microbiology and Dean’s 
Award in BAS-Third World Academy of Sciences. 
She has 58 original scientific papers Peer Reviewed 
publication.

First appointment to the Board 22 May 2006

Born in July 1970 

Nationality Bangladeshi

Committee Membership 

Audit Committee 

Executive Committee

External Appointment
Nil
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KAZI RUSSEL MAHBUB 

Director
(Nominated by Palmal Garments Hosiery Ltd.)

Dr. Kazi Russel Mahbub graduated from Dhaka Dental 
College in 1996. After finishing his training in Dhaka, Dr. 
Mahbub went on to pursue further training in Australia, 
where he also obtained his Masters Degree from the 
prestigious University of Wollongogng, New South Wales 
(NSW) in 2002. Since then he has attended numerous 
scientific sessions and CME conferences in various 
countries. Dr. Mahbub setup his private practice in 
Gulshan called BIODENT Dental Clinic in 2003. He is one 
of the few private practitioners in Dhaka well known at 
home and abroad for his skills and high quality work. 
Skilled in Oral Surgical Procedures, Dr. Mahbub was 
one of the first few Bangladeshi Dentists to train and 
qualify for the placement of Dental implants from the 
BICON Institute of Boston, USA in 2009. Dr. Mahbub is 
also the founder and Chairman of Floral Accessories 
Limited, a reputed packaging industry setup in 2010. 
Dr. Mahbub is an avid golfer, and is a member of both 
The Army Golf Club and Kurmitola Golf Club. He is also 
a long standing member of Dhaka Club. In his personal 
life, Dr. Mahbub is married and a loving father of one 
son and two daughters. He is the son of Engr K A S 
Md. Abdur Rahim, retired Chairman of Dhaka Electric 
Supply Authority.

First appointment to the Board 21 May 2012

Born in October 1971 

Nationality Bangladeshi 

Committee Membership
Nil

External Appointment 
Chairman, Flora Accessories Ltd.

TAJRINA SIKDER

Director
(Nominated by Palmal Garments Hosiery Ltd.)

Mrs. Tajrina Sikder obtained BBA degree from 
ABAC University of Thailand. Subsequently, she 
involved herself with Palmal Group as a Director. 
As a businesswoman, Mrs. Sikder is associated with 
business activities in the area of apparels, fashion, 
accessories and packaging. She has travelled various 
countries for business purpose. She is also involved 
with many social work and welfare organization.

First appointment to the Board 9 August 1998

Born in January 1974 

Nationality Bangladeshi

Committee Membership 

Nil

External Appointment
Director, Palmal Garments Hosiery Ltd.; Palmal 
Garments Washing Ltd.; Amazon Garments Ltd.; 
NKK Knitwear Ltd.; Max Speed Plastic Ltd.; Designer 
Line (Pvt.) Ltd.; Palmal Knitwear Factory Ltd.; Palmal 
Garments Ltd.; UniCap Investments Limited; UniCap 
Securities Limited.
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MD. FAYEKUZZAMAN *

Director
(Nominated by EC Securities Ltd.)

Mr. Md. Fayekuzzaman did his Masters with First 
Class in Management and subsequently attended 
various post-graduation studies mainly in leadership, 
strategic management and finance in Bradford 
University, UK, Columbia University, USA and 
Cambridge University, UK. He has over 32 years of 
diversified experience in Government, Investment 
Banking, Commercial and Corporate Banking, Islamic 
Banking, Asset Management, Teaching, Research and 
Consultancy. He had worked in different national 
and sectorial committees as Chairman/Convener 
and had extensive and diversified experience to 
work on the Board of Directors of more than 20 
national and multinational organizations. He got a 
lot of national and international recognitions during 
his tenure as CEO/Deputy CEO. He was a former 
CEO of the Investment Corporation of Bangladesh 
(ICB) for the period from July 2010 to December 
2015. He worked in South Asia Development Fund 
which was created to have joint venture projects of 
SAARC countries for regional development. He had 
promoted hundreds of companies through Equity & 
Entrepreneurship Fund (EEF), a flagship program of 
the Government of Bangladesh.

First appointment to the Board 28 December 2016

Born in October 1953

Nationality Bangladeshi 

Committee Membership
Member, Board Audit Committee

External Appointment
Director, HF Asset Management Limited

Independent Director, National Tea Company Limited

*  Mr. Md. Fayekuzzaman resigned from the Board on 
10 June 2020.

NASIRUDDIN AHMED

Independent Director

Mr. Nasiruddin Ahmed started his banking career by 
joining State Bank of Pakistan in early seventies. He 
has a successful banking career of almost forty-six 
years having exposure in almost every area of banking 
operations and management including finance 
and investments, human resources management 
and development, performances, integration of 
information technology and quality control in banking 
operations while rendering responsibilities at State 
Bank of Pakistan (SBP), Habib Bank Limited, Agrani Bank 
Limited, Islami Bank Limited and Prime Bank Limited. He 
joined the then Habib Bank Limited (now Agrani Bank) 
in 1971. During his 26 years career in Agrani Bank he 
worked in all the key areas of Banking with reputation 
and outstanding success.

Thereafter, he joined Islami Bank Bangladesh Limited 
in July, 1996 as Executive Vice President and served 
there as Head of Operations wing and later as Deputy 
Executive President till September, 2003.

Mr. Nasiruddin Ahmed joined Prime Bank limited as 
Deputy Managing Director on 7th January, 2004 and 
later on he acted as Additional Managing Director 
from 1st February, 2008 to 7th January, 2009. He was 
also engaged as project Director and served till 31st 
August, 2018. He was entrusted with the responsibilities 
of formulation and updating of various policy 
guidelines & standard operation procedures for Prime 
Bank Limited such as- Exchange House operations, 
Off-Shore Banking Operations, Islamic Banking & 
Investment, Logistic Support Services, Retail Credit, and 
Treasury Operation etc.

Mr. Ahmed was also appointed as Member Secretary to 
Shariah Supervisory Committee of Prime Bank Limited.

First appointment to the Board 29 July 2019

Born in 23 October 1945

Nationality Bangladeshi 

Committee Membership
Chairman, Board Audit Committee

External Appointment Nil
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MUNSHI SHAFIUL HAQUE

Independent Director

A retired senior Government Officer, Mr. Munshi 
Shafiul Haque did his Masters in Economics from 
Rajshahi University in 1982. Later he obtained LLB 
and LLM from a renowned University.

He started his career as an Assistant Commissioner 
and served the Government in various important 
capacities before his retirement as the Additional 
Secretary of the Government of Peoples Republic 
of Bangladesh.

Mr. Haque was the former Council Member of the 
Institute of Chartered Secretaries of Bangladesh 
(ICSB) and the Institute of Cost & Management 
Accountants of Bangladesh (ICMAB). He was also the 
member of the Scrutiny Committee for approval 
of Foreign Loan/Supplier’s Credit. He was also the 
Chairman of National Tea Company Limited.

Mr. Haque attended many academic training, 
workshop and seminars in both home and abroad.

First appointment to the Board 29 September 2019

Born in 04 February 1960

Nationality Bangladeshi 

Committee Membership

Nil

External Appointment

Nil

MD. ABDUS SALAM, FCA, FCS

Independent Director

After completion of B. Com (Hons’) and M. Com in 
Accounting from the University of Dhaka in 1976, Mr. 
Salam started Chartered Accountancy Course with 
the support of two scholarships: Burmah Eastern and 
Bangladesh Chemical Industries Corporation awarded to 
the CA profession. Now, he is a Fellow Member of ICAB 
and ICSB.

Presently, Mr. Salam is a partner of ARTISAN, Chartered 
Accountants. Before starting Public Practice, Mr. Salam 
was the Technical Adviser of the World Bank Project and 
the Asian Development Bank and Director Accounts (In 
charge) of Bangladesh Power Development Board (BPDB).

He was elected President of ICAB for year 2013, Mr. Salam 
has been in the Council since 2010. He was the Member of 
Education Committee for the years 2010-2012 of South 
Asian Federation of Accountants (SAFA- a body of the 
SAARC) and was the Board Member of the SAFA for the 
year 2013. Mr. Salam was also a Council Member of the 
Institute of Chartered Secretaries of Bangladesh (ICSB) 
since its inception and served ICSBas the Treasurer for 
the year 2004-2005 and the Vice President for the year 
2005-2006. Mr. Salam is a life Member of Bangladesh 
Economic Association.

He was an Independent Director in the Board of Islami 
Bank Bangladesh Ltd for the years 2010-2015 and IBN 
Sina Pharmaceuticals Industry Ltd and also served in 
these two organizations as the Chairman/Member of Risk 
Management and Audit Committees.

He also served as the Govt. Nominated Board Director of 
Coal Power Generation Company of Bangladesh and the 
Electricity Generation Company of Bangladesh, DSE, CSE 
and SME foundation.

First appointment to the Board 28 November 2019

Born in 25 January 1954

Nationality Bangladeshi 

Committee Membership
Nil

External Appointment
Nil
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BOARD STRUCTURE OF UCL

Chaired by Chowdhury Tanzim Karim, the Board of 
Directors determines Company’s objectives and supervises 
their implementation. The operating procedure of the 
Board is governed by the internal rules and regulations of 
the Board of Directors. The internal rules and regulations 
of Board of Directors also define the composition, duties 
and operating procedures of the committees established 
by the Board, which have their own charter of functioning. 
The Board is assisted by three committees as under:

•	 Board Audit Committee

•	 Executive Committee

•	 Green Banking Committee

SIZE OF THE BOARD

The Board of UCL comprises of twelve members including 
three Independent Directors. As per DFIM Circular no. 9 
dated 11 September 2002 of the Bangladesh Bank, the 
size of the Board of a Non-banking Financial Institution 
shall be minimum of nine and maximum eleven excluding 
Independent Directors. As per BSEC’s Notification, a listed 
company should have Independent Director of at least 
one-fifth of total Directors. As per Articles of Association 
of the company the Managing Director is an Ex-officio 
Director.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

The Board of UCL comprises of the following:

Non-executive Directors

Nine (out of whom five are Nominated Directors)

Independent Director

Three

Executive Director

One (The Managing Director)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

There are nine non-executive Directors in the Board. None 
of the Directors takes part in the day to day affairs of 
the Company. They attend only in the Board/Committee 
meetings to discuss the agenda reserved for the Board/
Committees.

INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR ON THE BOARD

There are three Independent Directors on the Board. 
In order for a Director to qualify as an Independent 
Director, the Board affirmatively determines that the 
Director has no material relationship with UCL either as 
a partner, shareholder or officer of an organization that 
has a relationship with UCL that would preclude that 
nominee from being an Independent Director. For the 
purpose of such determination, the Directors consider 
that the independent Director does not hold any share 
or holds less than one percent shares of the total paid up 
capital of the Company, who is not connected with the 
Company’s Promoters or Directors or Shareholders who 
holds one percent or more than one percent shares of 
the total paid up shares of the company, on the basis 
of family relationship; who does not have any other 
relationship, whether pecuniary or otherwise, with the 
company or its subsidiary/associate companies, who is 
not a member, Director or Officer of any Stock Exchange 
and who is not a shareholder, director or officer of any 
stock exchange or an intermediary of the capital market.

The Independent Director is appointed for a period of 
three years which may be extended by one term only. 
A person cannot be appointed as Independent Director 
who has already been appointed as Independent Director 
of five listed Company.

TENURE AND RETIREMENT

As per Companies Act, the office of Non-Executive 
Directors is subject to retirement. At least one-third of 
the non-executive Directors shall retire by rotation in 
every Annual General Meeting. The Managing Director is 
appointed for a minimum period for three years subject to 
approval of the Central Bank. The office of the Managing 
Director being an Ex-officio Director is not subject to 
retirement. The tenure of an Independent Director is 
three years and may be extended by another three years.

The Primary responsibility of the Board of Directors is to protect the shareholders’ interest. The Board, elected by the shareholders, is the 
highest governing authority within the management structure. 

BOARD STRUCTURE & ITS OPERATION
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DIRECTORS’ COMPENSATION

Except the Managing Director & CEO, none of the 
Directors holds any position of profit and receives any 
remuneration other than the fees for attending the 
Board/Committee meetings. An amount of BDT 8,000 
was paid to each Director for attending each Board/
Committee meeting.

The Board in its 270th Meeting held on 29 September 
2019 decided that the Board Members would not take 
any meeting fee for attendance in the Board/Committee 
Meetings until further notice. However, Independent 
Directors will be entitled to fee for an amount BDT 5,000 
for attending board and it’s committee meetings.

MEMBERSHIP OF THE BOARD COMMITTEE

All the Board Committees are comprised entirely of Non-
executive Directors. Membership of Directors in the Board 
Committees is given in their biographies. on pages 51 to 
56 of this Annual Report.

SUB-COMMITTEE

The Board has three Sub-Committees namely Board Audit 
Committee, Executive Committee and Green Banking 
Committee. The Board Audit Committee comprises of 
five non-executive Directors. The Executive Committee 
is also consisted of four Non-Executive Directors. The 
Green Banking Committee consists of five Non-Executive 

Directors. All the Board Committees have a written 
charter that describes the Committees’ purpose, 
duties and responsibilities. The Committee Charters are 
available on page 59 to 60 of this Annual Report. 

BOARD MEETING

The Board holds at least four regularly scheduled meetings 
in each year. In the year 2019, the Board met twelve times 
to discuss scheduled business.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Each Director uses his or her best efforts to attend in all 
the meetings of the Board and the Board Committees 
to which such Directors is appointed. The Directors 
are responsible for developing and upgrading UCL’s 
Governance Principles, Code of Business Conduct and 
the Charter of each Committee on which such Director 
serves. For review, working papers relating to business 
to be transacted in the meeting are provided well in 
advance to the members of Board/Committees. 

COMMUNICATION TO DIRECTOR

Interested parties may communicate with any Director 
by sending letter to the attention of the Directors in care 
of the Company Secretary of Union Capital Limited, bti 
Landmark, Level - 08, Plot - 16, Gulshan Avenue, Gulshan- 
01, Dhaka - 1212.
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The Board of Directors is responsible for supervising the 
management of the business and affairs of the Company 
in a way which ensures that the interests of shareholders 
and stakeholders are promoted and protected. ln 
discharging this duty, the Board has the following overall 
responsibilities:

Strategic planning process

•	 Supervising the formulation of the strategic direction, 
plans and priorities of the Company and approving the 
strategic Plan;

•	 Reviewing and approving the organizational structure 
of the Company;

•	 Monitoring implementation and effectiveness of the 
approved strategic and operating plans;

•	 Reviewing and approving the corporate financial 
objectives and operating plans and actions of the 
Company;

•	 Approving major business decisions;

Identification and management of risks

•	 Ensuring that processes are in place to identify the 
principal risks of Company’s business;

•	 Reviewing the systems that are implemented by 
management to manage those risks;

•	 Reviewing the processes that ensure compliance with 
applicable regulatory, corporate, securities and other legal 
requirements.

Succession planning and evaluation of management 
performance

•	 Supervising the succession planning processes of the 
Company, including the selection, appointment and 
development of the Chief Executive Officer and the 
senior management team;

•	 Evaluating and approving compensation of the Chief 
Executive Officer and the senior management team in 
a manner that is consistent with regulatory guidelines;

•	 Overseeing Company’s control functions’ having regard 
to their independence and effectiveness.

Oversight of communications and public disclosure

•	 Assessing the effectiveness of Company’s 
communications, including measures for receiving 
feedback from stakeholders;

•	 Overseeing establishment of processes for accurate, 
timely and full public disclosure;

•	 Reviewing due diligence processes and controls in 
connection with certification of the Company’s financial 
statements.

Internal controls

•	 Reviewing the effectiveness of Company’s internal 

controls and management information systems;

•	 Reviewing and approving the Company’s annual 
and quarterly financial statements and other public 
disclosure documents that require Board approval.

•	 Overseeing compliance with applicable audit, 
accounting and reporting requirements;

•	 Approving dividends, as well as capital expenditures and 
transactions which exceed threshold amounts set by the 
Board.

Culture of Integrity

•	 Establishing Company’s values;

•	 To the extent feasible, satisfying itself as to the integrity 
of the Chief Executive Officer and other senior officers 
and that the Chief Executive Officer and other senior 
officers create a culture of integrity throughout the 
organization.

Governance

•	 Developing a set of corporate governance principles 
and guidelines;

•	 Appointing from its members a Chairman of the Board;

•	 Establishing appropriate structures and procedures 
to allow the Board to function independently of 
management;

•	 Establishing Board committees and defining their 
mandates to assist the Board in carrying out its roles 
and responsibilities;

•	 Setting expectations and responsibilities of directors, 
including attendance at, preparation for, and 
participation in meetings;

•	 Review the composition of the Board with a view to the 
effectiveness and independence of the Board and its 
members.

CHARTER OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, within the delegated authority and 
in fulfilling the regulatory requirements has the following 
terms of reference (TOR):

A. Internal Control

•	 Review the implementation of key accounting policies 
and financial reporting;

•	 Evaluate the implementation of the internal control 
systems and the risk management process.

B. Internal Audit

•	 Review the adequacy of internal audit function;

•	 Consider  the scope of work and review approve and the 
annual audit plan and ensure no unjustified restrictions 
or limitations are made;

•	 Review and approve the annual audit report;

CHARTER OF BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEES
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•	 Review the activities, resources and organizational 
structure of Internal Audit;

•	 Contribute to the selection process for the appointment 
of the Head of Internal Audit; and

•	 Ensure that findings and recommendations 
communicated by Internal Audit and Management’s 
proposed responses are received, discussed and 
appropriately acted on.

C. Compliance

Review the effectiveness of the company’s system for 
monitoring compliance with relevant laws and regulations 
(including internal rules) and the measures taken by 
Management as a result of its investigation of material 
incidents of non- compliance.

D. Relationship with the external auditor

•	 Review the scope of work and audit plan;

•	 Review Management Letters issued by external Auditors;

•	 Review the Report on the annual audit of the Company;

•	 Consider the independence of the external auditor 
and any potential conflicts of interest;

•	 Review the “Terms of Engagement” of the external 
auditor;

•	 Discuss with the external auditor any audit problems 
encountered in the course of audit work, including any 
restriction on audit scope or access to information;

•	 Discuss with the external auditor the appropriateness 
of the accounting policies applied in the company’s 
financial reports;

•	 Ensure that significant findings and recommendations 
communicated by the external auditor and 
Management’s proposed responses are received, 
discussed and appropriately acted on; and

•	 Review the performance of the external auditor and 
make recommendations to the Board of Directors for 
the appointment, reappointment or termination of 
appointment of the external auditor.

E. Reporting to the Board

•	 Report on the conflict of interests;

•	 Suspected or presumed fraud or irregularity or material 
defect in the internal control system;

•	 Suspected infringement of laws, rules and regulations;

•	 Any other matters that requires immediate reporting.

F. Others

•	 Oversee the financial reporting process;

•	 Monitor choice of accounting policies and principles;

•	 Review the annual financial statements before 
submission to the Board for approval;

•	 Review the quarterly and half yearly financial 
statements;

•	 Review the statement of significant related party 
transactions submitted by the management.

CHARTER OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee, in fulfilling its purpose, will:

•	 Guide the Management in achieving the organization’s 
vision/mission;

•	 Review implementation of the business policy;

•	 Approve credit proposals upto BDT 10 million under 
each agreement;

•	 Review credit proposals prepared by the management 
and recommend to the Board where the amount 
exceeds BDT 10 million under each agreement;

•	 Review the proposals relating to write off loan/leases 
and recommend to the Board for consideration.

CHARTER OF THE GREEN BANKING COMMITTEE

•	 Formulate a Green Banking policy;

•	 Guide and advise the green banking unit/cell to prepare 
an in-house green banking guide;

•	 Ensure regular training on in-house green banking  
activities for creating green banking awareness within 
the company;

•	 Ensure incorporation of environmental risk in core risks 
management;

•	 Ensure environmental due diligence applied as part 
of environment risk management before making 
investment decision;

•	 Ensure allocation of fund in the annual budget for 
green banking investment and proper utilization of 
climate risk fund; and

•	 Find avenues for innovation of new green banking 
products and green marketing.
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Dear Shareholders,

The Board of Directors of Union Capital Limited (UCL) 
takes the pleasure to present the Annual Report and 
the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for 
the year ended 31 December 2019 together with the 
Auditors’ Report thereon, for consideration and approval 
of our respected Shareholders. The Board of Directors of 
the Company approved the same in its Meeting held on 
30 July 2020.

This Directors’ Report has been prepared in compliance 
with the Section 184 of the Companies Act 1994, BSEC’s 
Notification on 03 June 2018, the Listing Regulations of 
DSE & CSE, Financial Institutions Act, 1993, Bangladesh 
Bank guidelines, Bangladesh Financial Reporting Standards 
and other applicable rules and regulations. Relevant 
disclosures and explanations relating to certain issues have 
been given by the Directors, which they consider relevant 
and important to ensure compliance, transparency and 
good governance practices. We believe that this report 
will provide the insights of the Company’s performance 
during the year under reporting.

GLOBAL ECONOMY OVERVIEW 2019

The global economy has experienced dismal output 
growth of 2.9% in 2019, the slowest following the global 
financial crisis back in 2007-08. IMF attributes rising trade 
barriers, US-China trade tensions and low productivity 
growth as contributory factors behind slowdown. 
Emerging markets, Latin America, and MENA economies 
had underperformed well below their historical averages, 
while growth in output from Euro-area dropped to 1.2%. 
Global trade experienced a meagre 0.9% growth in 2019. 

Growth of World GDP (in percentage)
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Manufacturing activities and aggregate demand 
experienced slowdown in EU region, offset by resilience 
from service sector. U.K. is still reeling from the Brexit, 
as OECD predicts that, in absence of a clearly defined 
trade-agreement with EU, uncertainties would continue 
to take toll on both private consumption and investment 
growth. China’s aggregate demand had taken a toll from 
the trade tensions with USA, coupled with regulatory 
initiatives to reign over debt and shadow banking in 
the domestic economy. Meanwhile in India, slowdown in 
manufacturing, banking, service, and construction sectors 

have contributed to slowdown in output growth. India’s 
financial sector was handed with dual blows, confidence 
crisis and credit squeeze, caused by non-performing loans 
in non-bank financial companies and state-owned banks. 

Moreover, energy price dropped 12.6% while food prices 
saw 3.8% decline in 2019. Crude oil averaged USD 61.4/
barrel, courtesy of slowdown in global economic activities 
and higher oil output from U.S.A, Iraq and Nigeria, foiling 
steep oil output cuts from OPEC+ members. US equity 
market started off with bearish expectation, stemming 
from global economic slow-down, trade wars, and 
uncertain Federal Reserve policies. 

BANGLADESH ECONOMY OVERVIEW 2019

 Bangladesh GDP Growth Rate
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The economy of Bangladesh attained its record highest 
GDP growth of 8.15% in FY19, surpassing IMF growth 
projection of 7.9% and World Bank growth projection 
of 7.3%. Broad industry sector logged 13.0% YoY growth 
while broad service sector posted 6.5% YoY growth in 
FY19. Industry growth was spearheaded by medium-and-
large-scale manufacturing industries that logged robust 
14.7% growth rate in FY19. Both export & remittances 
posted impressive double-digit growth of 10.5% and 
10.1% respectively.

Foreign Reserve (In BDT Billion)
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With drastic moderation in import growth, current 
account deficit, which was causing major headache 
for the policy makers in FY18, narrowed by 54.9% YoY 
to USD 5.3bn in FY19. Foreign direct investment (FDI) 
also experienced buoyancy, driven by the lucrative tax 
incentives offered to new foreign investments in the 
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Export Processing Zones (EPZ) and rising tension between 
USA & China. Net inflow of FDI jumped 42.9% YoY in FY19 
to USD 2.5bn. With positive outlook, GDP growth rate 
target for FY20 has been set at 8.20%. In FY20 proposed 
budget, the targets for export, import, and remittances 
have been set at 12.0%, 10.0%, and 13.0% respectively. 
For FY20, the government has set an ambitious revenue 
target of BDT 3.78tn, which is 19.3% higher than FY19 
revised budget target.

 Remittance (USD BN)
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Foreign remittance inflows also saw buoyancy as 
expatriates sent USD 18.3bn in 2019, which is 17.9% higher 
than previous year. Foreign exchange reserve (gross) stood 
at USD 32.7bn in 2019 (2018: 32.0bn), and is adequate to 
sustain 6.5 months’ worth of import payment. Exchange 
rate had remained marginally stable, as BDT/USD exchange 
rate depreciated only 1.2% YoY during Jan-Dec’19, slightly 
lower than previous year’s 1.6%. Despite depreciation in 
official exchange rate, Real Effective Exchange Rate (REER) 
appreciated 5.1% in FY19. Strong local currency may result 
in erosion of export competitiveness and less incentives for 
remitting money. In order to offset the adverse impact 
from relatively strong currency, the government has 
offered 1.0% cash incentives for export-oriented RMG 
and textile industries, and 2.0% cash incentives for foreign 
remittances in FY20 budget. Inflation mostly remained 
moderate throughout Jan-Dec’19.

CPI Point to Point Inflation
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GOVERNMENT BORROWING FROM THE BANKING 
SECTOR SPIKED 

Broad money growth stood at 12.0% in Dec’19, higher than 
Bangladesh Bank’s (BB) projection of 11.3%, mainly driven 
by increased borrowing by the government in response 

to poor revenue collection.  Public sector credit growth 
jumped 54.3% YoY in Dec’19. State coffer had already 
dried up owing to persisting lower income tax collection 
and a botched attempt to implement the new VAT and 
Supplementary Duty Act 2012 in FY20 budget. NBR could 
only collect 77.0% of the revenue target for 6 months of 
FY20. As a result, during 6 months  of FY20, government 
had already borrowed BDT 449.5bn from the banking 
sector, which was around 94.5% of targeted government 
borrowing from the banking sector (BDT 473.6bn) for FY20 
budget. In addition, the government also tightened sales 
of National Savings Certificate (NSC) through introducing 
several new regulations in FY20, leading to a sharp  78.3% 
YoY decline in net NSC sales during 6MFY20. 

PRIVATE SECTOR CREDIT GROWTH FELL TO SINGLE DIGIT

Private sector credit fell to single-digit growth rate of 
9.8% YoY in Dec’19, far below of BB’s programmed 14.5% 
growth. The fall sharply diverges from the trend observed 
in total deposit growth, which has posted impressive 12.6% 
YoY growth in Dec’19. Apart from crowding out effect 
due to increased government borrowing from banking 
sector, formation of large volume of default loans led to 
cautious lending practice from banks. Non-performing 
loans (NPL) ratio jumped to 12.0% in Sep’19 from 10.3% 
in Dec’18. In a bid to help banks manage non-performing 
loans on their books, BB issued a circular by giving ease in 
loan classification. Responding to the circular, NPL ratio 
rapidly declined to 9.3% in Dec’19. 

BANGLADESH ECONOMY OUTLOOK 2020

The momentum of the economy has greatly shifted from 
optimism to pessimism, following the outbreak of COVID-19 
pandemic. Considering the economic activities sustained 
up to Mar’20, the GDP growth is expected to reach 
4-5% in FY20, in contrast to IMF and World Bank’s growth 
projection of 2.0% and 1.6% respectively. The economy 
is expected to experience some major challenges, in 
terms of lost employment, reduced business activities, and 
drastic fall in private investment. RMG is expected to be 
hit heavily on poor growth outlook & social distancing in 
export destinations. Furthermore, slump in the global oil 
prices may result in layoffs from Middle Eastern countries, 
the destination of majority of Bangladeshi migrant workers, 
resulting in drastic fall in remittances.

GDP Growth Forecast Bangladesh (In Percentage)
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To tackle the blow from the pandemic, the government 
has stepped up efforts to roll out BDT 1,000 bn worth 
of stimulus packages for businesses, while the central 
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bank may opt for quantitative easing to provide 
necessary support. Revenue collection would remain 
the primary concern for the economy. It is expected 
that gap between government expenditure & revenue 
collection would widen significantly, leading to a drastic 
rise in government borrowing. However, on the positive 
note, Bangladesh has government debt-to-GDP ratio 
of 33.5% in FY19 according to IMF, far lower than many 
peer frontier & emerging economies. Government 
debt-to-GDP ratio of 60.0% is considered prudent limit 
for developed economies, hence the ratio provides the 
government with some cushion to tackle the deficit.  The 
Economist ranked Bangladesh as 9th financially strong 
economy out of 66 emerging economies in the wake 
of COVID-19 pandemic, whereas Vietnam ranked 12th, 
India ranked 18th, Pakistan ranked 43rd, and Sri Lanka 
ranked 61st. 

NBFI SECTOR OVERVIEW 2019 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2020

NBFIs witnessed unsurpassable challenges in the year 2019. 
The liquidity crunch in the banking sector, partially fuelled 
by excessive government borrowing, had restricted NBFIs’ 
borrowing activities in 2019. Average interest rate on 
NBFI deposits jumped to double digit in Jan’19 & further 
increased 44bps to stand at 10.5% in Dec’19. Average 
difference between interest rate of NBFIs deposits and 
bank deposits was 4.9 percentage points in 2019. The 
average interest spread difference between banks & 
NBFIs has been 1.6 percentage points in the past two 
years, indicating poor profitability of NBFIs. The bearish 
state of the capital market that persisted throughout 
2019 has further deteriorated profitability of NBFIs that 
have capital market operation. Total loans & advances 
stood at BDT 647 billion, an increase by 1% on the year on 
year basis whereas year on year growth in previous period 
was 7.9 percent. Industry loans and advances constituted 
74.7 percent of total assets in September 2019. The 
negative growth in loans and deposits during the year 
was mainly due to the tight liquidity condition which 
prevailed during the year 2019. Consequently, spread 
dropped to 2.3 percent at the end of September 2019 
from 2.9 percent in September 2018. Continued pressure 
on banks and financial institutions may result in further 
reduction in spread.

Classified loan of NBFI (in percentage)

20182019 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

1
1

.9
9

9
.2

2

8
.9

7

7
.2

9

8
.9

2

6
.1

5
.4

5
.3

The government had instructed Bangladesh Bank to 

liquidate People’s Leasing and Financial Services Limited 
(PLFSL). Moreover, the central bank has declared that six 
more NBFIs are in vulnerable state now. The NBFI industry 
is being affected due to financial crisis for those NBFIs. 
The news has put a deep dent on the confidence of the 
depositors and lenders alike. Despite Bangladesh Bank 
has raised the borrowing limit in the call money market 
from 30 percent of the equity to 40 percent, NBFIs may 
experience deposit crunch and increased reliance on 
expensive bank borrowings in future. 

The Government is determined to implement interest 
cap of 6.0% & 9.0% on bank deposits and lending 
respectively from April’20. Capping the deposit rate offers 
some breathing space for the NBFIs as they can borrow 
at relatively lower cost, while improve interest spread. 
Furthermore, the appetite to borrow from NBFIs may also 
increase as banks may prefer big-ticket corporate loans 
over SME loans that incur heavy operational expense 
for the banks. Larger and stronger NBFIs can boost their 
business operations riding on the robust financial health 
and effective corporate governance. 

2019 CAPITAL MARKET OVERVIEW

Fueled by the confidence on the economic growth 
trajectory, Investors and market insiders were optimistic 
of a rebound in 2019 after a disappointing 2018 (DSEX: 
13.8% Down); however, the optimism did not really 
materialize as market shed 17.3% (932.7points), logging 
second consecutive negative year. After the national poll 
of 30 December 2018, the market (DSEX) started off 
strong quickly gaining 356 points throughout the month 
of January. DSEX reached its 2019 peak on 24 January 
2019 to close at 5,950 but tapered off in the remaining 
days of January. However, as the market continued to 
drop from its peak, it failed to revert its slide for the rest of 
the year. DSEX also reached to its lowest point (4,390.67) 
in the last 42-month low on 24 December 2019. DSEX 
eventually slipped to 4,453 points, and in the process lost 
17.3% YoY. Blue-chip index, DS30 also shed 19.5% YoY to 
1,513 at the end of 2019. Average daily turnover dropped 
12.8% to BDT 4,803mn in 2019 from BDT 5,511mn in 2018. 

Market Capitalization (In BDT Billions)
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In addition to unimpressive earnings performance by listed 
companies’ other macroeconomic factors contributing 
to this moribund performance include tight liquidity 
condition in the money market, high interest rates, rising 
non-performing loans in the financial system, overshoot 
in government borrowing due to poor revenue collection, 
depreciation of BDT against USD, and legal tussle on 
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audit claims between GP and BTRC. Government and 
central bank took many initiatives to resolve ongoing 
macroeconomic issues and spur investors’ sentiment. Key 
regulatory changes and policy interventions include less 
stringent loan classification and provisioning requirement, 
lenient policy on loan rescheduling, liquidity support by 
central bank for capital market investment at Repo rate, 
and Directives regarding declaration of bonus shares 
and requirement for minimum shareholding by Sponsors/
Directors.  However, these directives failed to deliver any 
sustaining upturn as the market ended 2019 on 7-year 
low point of 12.40 P/E level, much below 15.2 P/E in 2018.

IPO funds raised in the last 5 Years
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On top of that, withdrawal of foreign investors’ portfolio 
investment in a bid to minimize losses further exacerbated 
the situation. Foreign investors held negative net portfolio 
position for the last 10 months of 2019, which reached 
BDT -4.9bn at the end of Dec’19 according to DSE data.

To encourage cash dividend, Finance minister proposed 
an imposition of 15.0% tax on stock dividend distributed 
to the shareholders by any listed company in FY20 budget. 
Furthermore, Finance Minister also proposed in the FY20 
budget an imposition of 15.0% additional tax on so much 
of retained earnings and reserves as it exceeds 50.0% of 
the paid-up capital of the company. 

HIGHLIGHTS ON FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Key operating and financial data of last 5 (five) years is 
shown under the heading of Operational Highlights and 
Financial Highlights in the page no 41 of this Annual Report.

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE OF UCL GROUP

In 2019 the financial sector including Union Capital Limited 
passed through horrible challenges. Besides that, 2019 
was a year of stock market disappointment, with market 
index and turnover declining. Lack of trust of depositors 
to deposit their money in the NBFI sector, rising NPL rate, 
poor performance of Stock market, high deposit cost and 
withdrawal of funds by the Banks from NBFI etc. was the 
noteworthy challenges the industry faced during the year 
under review. The banking sector also faced huge liquidity 
pressure. As a result, the non-banking financial institutions 
could not get expected deposits and credit facilities from 
bank. The fresh lending almost halted for liquidity crisis. 

As the broad Index fell by a sharp 17.3% in 2019, our 
2 subsidiaries, operating through the capital market, 
attained adverse repercussions on its income. Due to 

withdrawal of huge fund by the depositors and drastic 
fall in deposit mobilization, we could not extend finance 
facility to the prospective clients. Besides that our two 
fully owned subsidiaries operating in the capital market 
experienced decline in income due to sluggish capital 
market. Moreover, we had to transfer of a substantial 
amount of interest to the Suspense Account and to 
keep huge provision due to increase in non-performing 
loan. Consequently, for the first time, UCL experienced 
huge financial loss in the year under review since its 
incorporation in the year 1998. We could not overcome 
the adverse situation in spite of our all concerted efforts. 
We are putting all possible efforts to come out of the 
adverse situation. 

FINANCING AND INVESTMENT OPERATION

Union Capital always tries to be innovative while making 
any investment decision with a focus to identify and 
select emerging sectors for financing and maintaining 
quality portfolio. As a reflection of its corporate vision, 
the company always prefers the segmented business 
proposition which includes corporate, institutional 
clients, SMEs and retail finance. SME financing is making 
a significant contribution to the country’s economy but 
there is still an enormous gap between the sector’s need 
and access to funds within reasonable cost. Keeping this 
in mind, UCL is offering tailored financial products for the 
growth of SME sectors as well as developing Woman’s 
Enterprise. Overall investment was slow due to liquidity 
crisis and unrestful money market throughout the year. 
On top of everything, highest priority was given and 
relentless effort was made to recover loans/lease at the 
utmost level in which the company performed well.

Diversified portfolio

Major financing activities of the company include term 
finance, lease finance, retail finance, SME finance, housing 
finance, syndicate finance, work order finance etc.

CAPITAL MARKET OPERATION

UCL offers services in the area of merchant banking, 
portfolio management and stock brokerage through 
its subsidiaries namely UniCap Investments Limited and 
UniCap Securities Limited.

IPO Management

UCL Group performs public issue management along 
with financial engineering and designing of capital 
structuring services for customers who desires to raise 
fund from capital market for BMRE and repayment of 
debt. During the year 2019, the Company signed with 
Omera Petroleum Limited for issue size of BDT 2,384 
million to raise their capital.

Underwriting

It is one of the core activities of merchant banking operation. 
During the year 2019, the UniCap Investments Limited, one of 
the fully owned Subsidiaries underwrites for capital raising of 
Omera Petroleum Limited for BDT  62.58 million and Baraka 
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Patenga Power Limited for BDT 15.00 million respectively.

Private Placement

UCL Group arranges the private placement of the debt 
and equity securities for companies seeking a wide range 
of corporate finance alternatives. During the period 
under reporting, the company worked for a number 
of projects either in the capacity of an arranger or a 
subscriber of pre-IPO placement.

Corporate Financial and Advisory Services

UCL Group offers professional corporate financial 
services including customized, value added solutions for 
better corporate performance in terms of prolonged 
existence and steady growth. Project advisory services 
include systemic development of an idea into a plan, 
development of financial structure preparing feasibility 
report. During the year 2019, the UniCap Investments 
Limited, one of the fully owned Subsidiaries signed to 
provide corporate financial and advisory services with 
Flagship Dhaka CETP (BD) Limited.

Margin Loan

UCL Group provides margin loan facilities through its 
Subsidiaries namely UniCap Investments Limited and 
Unicap Securities Limited to its portfolio customer 
for purchase of shares and securities. The amount of 
portfolio loan outstanding as on December 2019 was 
BDT 6,434.86 million. The above amount represents the 
aggregate investor’s portfolio loan extended to different 
portfolio customers for purchasing shares listed in the 
stock exchanges against their deposit. Loans are fully 
secured by way of lien on share purchased under margin 
loan account. UCL always maintained its loan ratio in 
very just and reasonable way adjusting with the market 
situation without taking any excessive risk for both the 
company and its customers.

Stock Brokerage

UCL Group also offers stock brokerage services to local 
and foreign investors through its fully owned subsidiary, 
UniCap Securities Limited-which has corporate 
memberships at the Dhaka & Chittagong stock 
exchanges and full service depository participant of 
CDBL. Lack of investor’s confidence, sale of shares by 
foreign investors and liquidity crisis in the money market 
resulted in significant decrease in the market turnover 
during 2019.

Investment in Share and Securities

UCL maintains its own portfolio for investment in listed 
companies shares and securities. These are fully diversified 
with different sector of securities. The investment risk is 
being minimized through diversification and through 
major investments in fundamentally strong securities. In 
2019 the company could not make profit due to dismal 
performance of the stock markets.

Banking Arrangements

The Company maintains sufficient facilities to meet 
its normal funding requirements. These facilities are 

primarily in the form of bank facilities arranged on a 
bilateral basis with a number of commercial banks. In 
2019 the Company obtained BDT 198.66 million from 
banks against different form of borrowings to finance its 
operations and repaid BDT 608.23 million as per terms 
and conditions of contracts. UCL also availed BDT 129.70 
million from Bangladesh Bank under the SME Refinancing 
Schemes. Due to liquidity crisis of the Banking Sector, we 
could not avail expected fund from the Banking sector in 
the form of credit line, deposits and call money.

Deposit Mobilization

UCL mobilizes term deposits from corporate and  
individuals through its wide range of deposit schemes 
with different maturity options, monthly/quarterly/
half-yearly/yearly income options, double/triple money 
options, monthly saving options etc. The deposits base 
of the Company stood at BDT 9,914.10 million as on 
31 December 2019 as against BDT 12,729.21 million of 
31 December 2018. The deposit portfolio squeezed 
significantly due to panic situation created out of the 
liquidation process of a Non-banking financial institution 
and liquidity crisis in the banking sector. 

Call Money Transactions

As a financial Institution UCL actively participates in 
money market on a regular basis and has been dealing 
both borrowing and lending activities with different 
banks/financial institutions to manage its liquidity position 
in an effective way. UCL also maintains very high standard 
in money market operation and build up a strong 
reputation for itself.

OPERATIONAL HUB

UCL provides services through its eight offices 
geographically diversified in the areas namely Dhaka, 
Chattogram, Sylhet, Tongi, Bogura and Narsingdi.

OPERATING RESULTS (Consolidated)

During 2019, the Company generated revenue of BDT 
1,720 million, which concluded in loss from operation of 
BDT 514.69 million. An amount of BDT 42.83 million has 
been provided as provision for taxation in 2019. Earnings per 
share was BDT (6.13) as against BDT 0.54 of last year. The 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year was 172.57 million (2018: 164.35 million). 
The financial results of the Company for the year 2019 
with a comparison of 2018 are summarized below:

(BDT in million except per share data)

Particular 2019 2018

Operating revenue/(loss) (514.69) 728.46

Operating expenses 386.21 393.75

Profit/(loss) before tax (1,014.56) 184.99

Provision for tax 42.83 92.59

Profit/(loss) after tax (1,057.39) 92.39

Earnings per Share (EPS) (6.13)
0.54 

(restated)
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SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

UCL has two fully owned subsidiary companies, namely, 
UniCap Securities Limited a corporate member of both 
Dhaka and Chittagong Stock Exchange; and UniCap 
Investments Limited a full-fledged merchant bank. UniCap 
Investments Limited was incorporated on 24 May 2011. 
During the year 2019, UCL did not receive any dividend 
from the Subsidiary Companies. Separate audited 
financial statements of the Subsidiary Companies are 
given on page 261 to 299 of this Annual Report.

IPO OF THE COMPANY

UCL floated its ordinary shares through IPO in the year 
2007 and raised BDT 75,000,000 at per. The net proceeds 
of IPO was used for Company’s operational activities i.e. 
for investment in lease finance and term finance.

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

As at the date of this report, the Directors are not aware 
of any matter or circumstance that has arisen since the 
end of the year 2019 that has significantly affected or 
may significantly affect the operations of the Company, 
the results of its operations or its state of affairs, which 
is not already reflected in this report other than the 
following:

DECLARATION OF DIVIDEND

Due to suspension of interest income and keeping 
significant provision resulting from non-payment of the 
loan utilized by our wholly owned merchant banking 
subsidiary and increase in provision against non-
performing loans (NPL), the Company incurred a huge 
amount of loss in the year 2019.

Considering these, the Board of Directors in its 275th 

Meeting held on 30 July 2020, did not recommend any 
dividend for the year ended on 31 December 2019 subject 
to approval of the shareholders at 22nd Annual General 
Meeting scheduled to be held on 17 September 2020. 

APPROPRIATIONS OF PROFIT
(Based on separate F/S)

Taking into account the huge amount of loss, the Board 
recommended no dividend for the year ended 31 
December 2019 for approval of the Shareholders in the 
22nd Annual General Meeting. The Board proposed the 
following appropriations:

BDT in million

Net Profit/(loss) after tax (1,057.38)

Retained Earnings brought forward 205.86

Total Profit/(loss)available for appropriation (851.52)

Proposed appropriation:

Transfer to Statutory Reserve Nil     

Dividend on preference share Nil     

Dividend paid in 2018 (82.18)

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The notice of the 22nd Annual General Meeting is given 
on page 302 of this Annual Report.  A summary of the 
agenda is given below:

Ordinary Business

•	 Receive and adopt the Directors’ Report,

•	 Auditors Report and Audited Financial Statements for 
the year 2019;

•	 Declaration of dividend for the year 2019;

•	 Re-appointment of the Directors;

•	 Appointment of the Auditors and fixation of their 
remuneration;

•	 Appointment of Corporate Governance Auditors and 
to fix their remuneration;

OBSERVANCE OF IAS, IFRS & APPLICABLE LAWS

The Directors have the responsibility for ensuring that 
the Company keeps accounting records which disclose 
with reasonable accuracy the financial position of 
the Company enabling us to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act, 1994, the 
Financial Institutions Act, 1993, and the Bangladesh 
Securities and Exchange Rules, 1987. The Directors also 
confirm that the financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the International Accounting 
Standards and other applicable rules and regulations. A 
separate report on Directors’ Responsibilities as to the 
preparation of financial statement is set out on page 85 
in this Annual Report.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND MAINTENANCE OF 
BOOKS OF ACCOUNTS

The Directors consider that in preparing the Financial 
Statements, the Company has applied appropriate 
accounting policies, prudent judgments and estimates 
and all International Accounting Standards as adopted 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Bangladesh 
(ICAB). In preparing financial statements, information has 
been obtained from the books of accounts, which have 
been maintained properly as required by the applicable 
rules and regulations.

FAIRNESS OF THE ACCOUNTS

As per Companies Act, 1994, it is the responsibility of the 
Directors to prepare financial statements for each year 
to be presented before the shareholders in the Annual 
General Meeting. The financial statements and other 
financial information included in this report fairly present 
in all material respects, the financial conditions, results 
of operations, cash flows and changes in equity of the 
Company as of, and for the year ended 31 December 2019.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk is an exposure to a transaction that may result in 
a loss with some probability. In financial institutions, 
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risk results from variations and fluctuations in assets, 
liabilities, incomes and outflows & inflows of cash etc. 
While the types and degree of risks an organization may 
be exposed to, depend upon a number of factors, it is 
assumed that generally FIs face Credit, Market, Liquidity, 
Operational, Compliance, Legal, Regulatory, Environment 
and Reputation risks as summarized below:

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with an obligor’s 
potential inability or unwillingness to fulfill their 
contractual obligations. Credit risk may arise from the risk 
of default of our customers.

Mitigation Measures

•	 Ensuring credit quality;

•	 Diversifying credit risks in transactions and portfolios;

•	 Using our credit risk rating and scoring systems;

•	 Pricing appropriately for the credit risk taken;

•	 Applying consistent credit risk exposure measurements;

•	 Mitigating credit risk through preventive controls;

•	 Ongoing credit risk monitoring and administration;

•	 Strong credit analysis to identify the risk;

•	 Clear loan/lease covenants;

•	 Effective credit control and monitoring processes;

•	 Prompt identification of early sign of deterioration;

•	 Adequacy and realizability of collateral.

Market risk

Market risk is defined as the potential loss in value of the 
firm due to changes in market prices and rates including 
interest rates, foreign exchange, commodity price and 
equity prices. Market risk has a direct impact on earnings 
and impacts the economic value of the company.

Mitigation measures

•	 A Risk Management Committee that meets on a 
regular interval;

•	 Daily reporting of valuation results to executive 
management;

•	 Strict adherence to UCL’s internal policies such as the 
use of limits and Management action triggers.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that we may be unable to generate 
or obtain sufficient cash or its equivalent in a timely and 
cost effective manner to meet our commitments as they 
come due. The nature of financing services inherently 
exposes us to various types of liquidity risk. 

Mitigation measures

•	 Efficient Asset and Liability Committee that oversees 
liquidity management;

•	 Diversified sources of funding;

•	 Contingent funding plan;

•	 Effective cash flow planning.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss or harm resulting from 
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems 
or from external events. Operational risk is embedded in 
all our activities, including the practices and controls used 
to manage other risks. Failure to manage operational risk 
can result in direct or indirect financial loss, reputational 
impact, regulatory censure, or failure in the management 
of other risks such as credit or market risk.

Mitigation measures

•	 Effective background checks and thorough 
confirmation process on new hires;

•	 Competitive remuneration package and other hygiene 
factors to attract and retain the best talent;

•	 Enforcement of strong supervisory control;

•	 Zero tolerance to staff integrity issues and fraud;

•	 A fully fledged HR Department to cater for the training 
and development needs of staff;

•	 The introduction of a functional reporting structure 
to the departmental head for effective supervisory 
control of the operations of UCL;

•	 Automation of our processes;

•	 Putting in place sound business continuity planning and 
disaster recovery programmes;

•	 Stepping up operational risk awareness training and 
programmes;

•	 Monitor and manage key risk indicators in processes/
products/activities.

Regulatory risk

This is the risk whereby the procedures implemented 
by UCL to ensure compliance to relevant statutory, 
regulatory and supervisory requirements are not adhered 
to and/or are inefficient and ineffective.

Mitigation measures

Proactive implementation of UCL’s sound compliance 
programme that ensures compliance by all stakeholders 
to relevant laws and regulations. This includes continuous 
updates of UCL’s rule books as well as training of all 
concerned to understand regulatory obligations and the 
consequence of non-compliance.

Reputation risk

Reputation risk can arise from a number of events and 
primarily occurs in connection with credit risk, regulatory, 
legal and operational risks. Operational failures and 
non-compliance with laws and regulations can have a 
significant impact on our reputation.

Mitigation measures

•	 We operate with integrity at all times in order to sustain 
a strong and positive reputation;

•	 Protecting our reputation is the responsibility of all our 
employees, including senior management and extends 
to all members of the Board.
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Overview of other risks

In addition to the risks described in the Risk Management 
section, there are other risk factors, described below, 
which may adversely affect our businesses and financial 
results.

Government fiscal, monetary and other policies

Our businesses and earnings are affected by the fiscal, 
monetary or other policies that are adopted by the 
Government and Bangladesh Bank and various regulatory 
authorities. As well, such policies can adversely affect our 
clients which may increase the risk of default by such 
clients.

Level of competition

The competition for clients among Financial Institutions in 
the markets in which we operate is intense. Client loyalty 
and retention can be influenced by a number of factors, 
including services offered by our competitors, relative 
service levels, the prices and attributes of our products 
or services, our reputation and actions taken by our 
competitors. Banks are also offering similar services like 
leasing, capital market operations etc. Such competition 
resulted in reduction of net interest income, fee revenue 
and adversely affect our earnings.

Accuracy and completeness of information on clients 
and counterparties

When deciding to extend credit or enter into other 
transactions with clients, we may rely on information 
provided by or on behalf of clients including audited 
financial statements and other financial information. 
Our financial results could be adversely impacted if the 
financial statements and other financial information 
relating to clients on whom we rely are materially 
misleading.

Environmental and Social risk

Environmental risk is the risk of loss to financial, operational 
or reputational value resulting from the impact of 
environmental issues which may suffer the society. It 
arises from our business activities and our operations. 
For example, the environmental issues associated with 
our clients’ purchase and sale of contaminated property 
or development of large-scale projects may give rise to 
credit and reputation risk. Operational and legal risks may 
arise from environmental issues at our different offices. 
Failure to adequately manage those environmental risk 
could adversely impact our reputation.

Other factors

Other factors that may affect actual results include 
changes in  government trade policy, changes in accounting 
standards, the timely and successful development of 
new products and services, technological changes and 
our reliance on third parties to provide components of 
our business infrastructure, the failure of third parties 
to comply with their obligations to us, fraud by internal 
or external parties, the possible impact on our business 

from national or global economies, disruptions to public 
infrastructure, including transportation, communication, 
gas and power, conflicts and political instability and our 
success in anticipating and managing the associated 
risks. A detailed report on risk management is given on 
page 132 to 138 of this Annual Report.

CREDIT RATING

A credit rating is an assessment of the solvency or 
creditworthiness of a company according to established 
credit review procedures. These ratings help investors 
analyze the risks associated with the company by providing 
detailed information of the ability of a company to meet 
their obligations. A rating is being continuously monitored. 
It enables investors to measure their investment risk. The 
company is rated by one of the leading independent 
rating agencies.

UCL has been rated by National Credit Ratings Ltd. and 
adjudged “AA” (Double – A) in the long term and ST -2 
in the Short term. The validity of the rating will expire 
on 31 August 2020. AA rating in the long term signifies 
UCL’s adequate capacity for timely servicing of financial 
obligations offering adequate safety. Institutions rated 
under this scale carry low credit risk.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibilities for UCL’s system 
of internal control and for reviewing its adequacy and 
effectiveness. The system of internal control covers, inter 
alia, financial, operational, management information 
systems, organizational and compliance controls. All 
internal control systems, no matter how well designed, 
have inherent limitations, including the possibility of human 
error and the circumvention or overriding of controls. 
Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective 
can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the 
reliability of financial reporting and financial statement 
preparation and presentation.

Further, because of changes in conditions, the 
effectiveness may vary over time. Our management, 
with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer, 
Chief Financial Officer and Chief of Internal Control & 
Compliance evaluated the effectiveness of our Internal 
Control. Detailed implementation of the system of internal 
control throughout the company has been delegated 
by the Board to the Executive Management and the 
department of ICC. These controls include financial 
controls that assist the Board in meeting its responsibilities 
for the integrity and accuracy of the company’s 
accounting records. The Company’s financial statements, 
prepared from these records, comply with the required 
laws and standards. A separate report on Internal Control 
is given on page 82 to 84 of this Annual Report.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

The emergence of a global economy, transformation 
of industrial economies, transformation of the business 
enterprise, and the emergence of digital firm make 
information systems essential in business today. In many 
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businesses, survival and the ability to achieve strategic 
business goals is difficult without extensive use of information 
technology. To keep pace with the developed world, the 
financial sector of Bangladesh is becoming increasingly 
inclined towards digitization. Now a days, Information & 
Communication Technology (ICT) has become essential 
for financial institutions in ensuring smooth operation and 
providing efficient services. UCL has recognized this fact 
and adopted a comprehensive ICT Policy for its various 
aspects of operations. The Company’s operation has 
grown significantly in terms of business volume, number of 
customers as well as diversified its client and product range. 
In line with this business growth, the challenges and risks of 
conducting business have also grown manifold. Information 
Technology (IT) being one of the key facilitators of sound 
business growth and risk management, is very important 
to ensure a robust, scalable and flexible IT platform. 
UCL holds a fully automated IT structure to support its 
operation which also produces enhanced MIS for decision 
making, improve risk management and most importantly, 
captivate its customers at every opportunity. Recently UCL 
automated its loan appraisal process through a workflow 
driven system to ensure optimum control and paperless 
operation in line with Bangladesh Bank’s green banking 
initiatives. Additionally, UCL installed a comprehensive online 
Human Resource Management Software for efficient 
management of payroll, PF, gratuity, leave and other 
relevant information of the employees of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ MEETING, ATTENDANCE & REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2019 a total 
12 meetings were held. All of the Directors serving on 
the Board attended more than 77.55 percent of the 
aggregate of the total number of meetings of the Board 
of Directors. The attendance in the Board meetings by 
each Director is given in Annexure - I on page 76 of this 
Annual Report. The Directors other than the Independent 
Directors are not receiving any remuneration even for 
attending in the Board/Committee meetings since 29 
September 2019. An amount of BDT 5,000 is paid to 
each Independent Director for attending each Board/
Committee meeting. The details on remuneration paid 
to Directors in 2019 is presented on page 99 to 100 of 
this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT PURSUANT TO THE 
DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY

The Directors confirm that to the best of each Director’s 
knowledge and belief the financial statements prepared 
in accordance with IFRS, give a true and fair view of 
the assets, liabilities, financial position and results of the 
Company and the management report contained in the 
operational and financial review includes a fair review of 
the development and performance of the business and 
the position of the company, together with a description 
of principal risks and uncertainties that may face.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES OF PREPARATION OF 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As per Companies Act 1994, the Directors are responsible 

for preparing the Annual Report and Company’s financial 
statements in accordance with applicable laws and 
regulations. The Board confirms that the Financial 
Statements have been prepared according to IFRS and 
other applicable laws and regulations. A statement of the 
Directors’ responsibility in relation to financial statements 
has been given on page 85 of this Annual Report.

CORPORATE AND FINANCIAL REPORTING 
FRAMEWORK

The Directors in accordance with BSEC Notification 
dated 20 June 2018 confirm that:

•	 The financial statements prepared by the 
management of UCL present fairly its state of affairs, 
the result of its operations, cash flows and changes in 
equity; Proper books of accounts of the Company have 
been maintained; Appropriate accounting policies 
have been consistently applied except for the changes 
disclosed in the financial statements in preparation of 
the financial statements and accounting estimates 
are based on reasonable and prudent judgment;

•	 International Accounting Standards (IAS)/ International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as applicable in 
Bangladesh have been followed in preparation of the 
financial statements and any departure there from 
has been adequately disclosed;

•	 The system of internal control is sound in design and has 
been effectively implemented and monitored; and

•	 There are no significant doubts upon the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern.

KEY OPERATING AND FINANCIAL DATA

Key operating and financial data of last five years as required 
by BSEC is presented on page 41 of this Annual Report.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

UCL is well known for its regulatory compliance and has 
always followed applicable regulations rigorously. UCL has 
a dedicated compliance team for ensuring regulatory 
compliance across all the businesses and operations. 
They are responsible for identification and assessment 
and compliance related matters from a regulatory 
compliance perspective and monitoring and reporting. 
We ensure that these are periodically reviewed in line 
with the changing scenario and taking into account 
modifications if any in the regulatory guidelines.

EVALUATION OF QUARTERLY REPORTS

In order to improve disclosure relating to the functioning 
of Board Audit Committee and to enhance the 
reliability and credibility of financial statements of listed 
companies the Bangladesh Securities and Exchange 
Commission (BSEC) requires the Audit Committee along 
with the Management of the Company to review the 
quarterly and half-yearly financial statements prior to 
placing the same before the Board for approval. The 
Audit Committee of UCL reviews the interim financial 
statements along with the Management before placing 
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the same to the Board. The Charter of the Audit 
Committee clearly includes among others the function 
of reviewing the quarterly and half-yearly financial 
statements of the Company.

SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE THAT OCCURS BETWEEN 
QUARTERLY FINANCIAL PERFORMANCES AND ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Suspension of interest income and keeping significant 
provision resulting from non-payment of the loan utilized 
by our wholly owned merchant banking subsidiary and 
increase in provision against non-performing loans (NPL) 
are the main causes for huge amount of losses in 2019. 
Eventually, a significant variance occurred between the 
annual financial performances of 2019 in comparison to 
that of 2018 and Q-3 financial performance of 2019 of 
the Company.

REPORT ON THE COMPLIANCE OF THE CONDITIONS 
OF BSEC’S NOTIFICATION

As per BSEC Notification dated 03 June 2018, the Directors 
are required to report on the compliance on certain 
conditions in line with Corporate Governance Code. The 
Notification was issued for the purpose of establishing 
a framework for ensuring good governance practices 
in the listed companies for the interest of the investors 
and the capital market. The Directors confirm that we 
have complied with all the conditions stipulated in the 
Notification. A statement on the compliance with the 
conditions is given on page 110 to 121 of this Annual Report.

REPORT ON THE COMPLIANCE ON THE GUIDELINES 
OF BANGLADESH BANK

Bangladesh Bank has issued guidelines on certain issues 
for the NBFIs to be complied with. The Board of UCL 
confirms that we have complied with all the conditions 
of the guidelines. A statement on the compliance with 
the conditions is given on page 122 to 123 of this Annual 
Report.

CERTIFICATE FROM THE PRACTICING PROFESSIONAL 
ON THE COMPLIANCE OF CONDITIONS ON 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

As a measure of good corporate governance practice, 
and as required by BSEC, the Company has appointed 
Ahmed Zaker & Co., Chartered Accountants, 89 Kakrail, 
Green Edge (Level-10), Dhaka - 1000, Bangladesh to 
conduct Audit on the compliance status of Union Capital 
Limited as to the conditions on the corporate governance 
as stipulated in BSEC Notification dated 03 June 2018. 
The professional firm is required to give a certificate after 
review on the practices by Union Capital Limited. Ahmed 
Zaker & Co., Chartered Accountants, 89 Kakrail, Green 
Edge (Level-10), Dhaka - 1000, Bangladesh has given a 
compliance certificate for the year ended December 31, 
2019 which is available on page 109 in the Annual Report. 
The Report confirms that the Company has complied 
with all the conditions stipulated in the BSEC Notification 
on Corporate Governance.

GOING CONCERN

Companies and other entities are experiencing the 
impact of difficult or uncertain economic conditions in 
varying degrees. The effects of such economic conditions 
may be significant in the area of financial reporting, in 
particular, the Directors’ assessment of the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. Going concern 
is a fundamental principle underlying the preparation of 
the financial statements of a listed company. Bangladesh 
Accounting Standards require Directors to consider 
whether there are material uncertainties that would 
lead to significant doubt about a company’s ability to 
continue for foreseeable period. BSEC requires the listed 
companies to make adequate disclosures in the financial 
statements about the going concern of a listed company. 
The financial statements of the Group and UCL have 
been prepared on a going concern basis. In making this 
assessment, the Directors have considered a wide range 
of information relating to present and future conditions 
covering principal activities, strategic directions and 
challenges and uncertainties together with a review of 
the income statement, financial position and risk profile. 
In addition, the Directors have considered the future 
projections of profitability, cash flows, asset quality, the 
outcome of various stress tests and capital resources in 
making their assessment. After assessment, the Directors 
are satisfied that the Company has adequate resources 
to continue its operation for the foreseeable future and 
therefore continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the financial statements. A separate report on 
going concern has been set out on page 129 to 131 of 
this Annual Report.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

BSEC’s Notification requires a listed company to disclose in 
the Directors’ Report, the list of shareholders holding ten 
percent or more voting interest in the Company. None 
of the shareholders hold ten percent or above shares in 
UCL. The shareholding status of all sponsor shareholders 
as of 31 December 2019 is given in Annexure-II, page 76 
of this Report.

THE PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDINGS

The Authorized Capital of Union Capital Ltd. is BDT 
2,000,000,000 divided into 200,000,000 ordinary shares 
of BDT 10.00 each. The paid-up Capital of the Company 
is BDT 1,725,738,430.00 divided into 172,573,843 ordinary 
shares of BDT 10.00 each. The shareholding pattern of the 
Company as at 31 December 2019 is shown in Annexure-
III, on page 77 of this report as per BSEC Notification 
of dated 03 June 2018. As per requirement of listing 
regulations, the distribution schedule of shareholdings of 
the Company as on 31 December 2019 is given under 
Annexure - IV on page 77 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS TO RETIRE AND RE-APPOINTMENT

As per Article 93 of the Articles of Association of the 
Company, the following Directors will retire in the 22nd 
Annual General Meeting and being eligible offered 
themselves for reappointment:
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a)	 Chowdhury Tanzim Karim, Director
	 (Nominated by EC Securities Limited)

b)	 Mr. Waqar A. Choudhury, Director

c)	 Mr. Nadeem A. Chaudhury, Director
	 (Nominated by ENRILCO Limited)

d)	 Mr. Kazi Russel Mahbub, Director
	 (Nominated by Palmal Garments Hosiery Limited)

The Companies Act, 1994 requires that any Director 
appointed by the Board since last Annual General Meeting 
shall retire in the next Annual General Meeting. Accordingly, 
Mr. Munshi Shafiul Haque, Independent Director and Mr. 
Md. Abdus Salam FCA, FCS, Independent Director of the 
Company will retire in the 22nd Annual General Meeting 
and eligible for re-appointment. Full biographical details 
of the Company’s Directors at the date of this report are 
given on page 51 to 56 of this report.

COMMUNICATION, PUBLIC DISCLOSURE 
OBLIGATIONS AND STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS

The Board recognizes that effective communication is 
integral in building stakeholder value and is committed to 
providing meaningful, transparent, timely and accurate 
financial and nonfinancial information to primary 
stakeholders, as defined below. The purpose is to help 
these stakeholders make meaningful assessments and 
informed investment decisions about the group.

We strive to present a balanced and understandable 
assessment of our position by addressing material matters 
of significant interest and concern. We seek to highlight the 
key risks to which we consider ourselves exposed and our 
responses to minimize the impact of these risks. Another 
objective is to show a balance between the positive and 
negative aspects of our activities in order to achieve a 
comprehensive and fair account of our performance.

Our primary stakeholders include employees, 
shareholders, government, regulatory bodies, clients, 
depositors, suppliers, rating agencies, the media, and the 
community. The Board appreciates the importance of 
ensuring an appropriate balance in meeting the diverse 
needs and expectations of all our stakeholders and 
building lasting relationships with them. As a requirement 
of our corporate structure, we comply with the disclosure 
obligations contained in the applicable listing rules of 
exchanges on which our shares are listed and with any 
public disclosure obligations as required by IFRS, BSEC 
and BB. We also recognize that from time to time we 
are required to adhere to public disclosure requirements 
by SAFA. The Investor Relations division has day-to-day 
responsibility for ensuring appropriate communication 
with stakeholders and, together with the Company 
Secretarial and ICC Department, ensures that we meet 
our public disclosure obligations.

The processes we have adopted to ensure that we comply 
with all public disclosure obligations are set out below:

•	 Significant announcements are released directly 
to BSEC. Announcements are released almost 
simultaneously to stock exchanges, where our shares 

are listed thereby ensuring fair treatment of all 
stakeholders. Copies of these announcements are 
placed on our website www.unicap-bd.com as soon 
as possible following confirmation of release on the 
relevant authorities.

•	 We maintain a comprehensive investor relations 
website, which ensures that all stakeholders readily 
have access to historical and current information.

•	 All Shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual 
general meeting and to raise issues and participate 
in discussions on items included in the notice of 
the meeting. The meeting enables the Board to 
communicate with shareholders and for shareholders 
to ask questions in person. The Chairmen of the Board, 
Directors and the Managing Director attend the 
meeting to respond to relevant questions. All valid 
proxy appointments are recorded and counted and, 
at general meetings, a schedule of the proxy votes cast 
is available to all shareholders. We propose a separate 
resolution on each substantially separate issue and do 
not bundle resolutions together inappropriately. All 
resolutions are determined on a voting. Shareholders 
are requested to approve our report and accounts 
and our business.

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholders trust is of particular importance in 
the financial services industry. To cultivate trusting 
relationships with our broad spectrum of stakeholders, we 
are committed to engaging them in a variety of ways. We 
believe engagement is fundamental to creating value for 
all our stakeholders: it assists in identifying issues that are 
material and may otherwise have an impact (negative or 
positive) on their wellbeing. We also believe that engaging 
with our stakeholders promotes the principles of balance, 
comparability, reliability, accuracy and transparency of 
our reporting, both internally and externally. UCL has a 
wide range of stakeholders that include any person or 
organisation that may interact with, or have an interest in, 
UCL and include customers, employees, lenders, suppliers, 
shareholders, communities, governments, etc.

We aim to provide meaningful and transparent 
communications to meet the needs of all stakeholder 
groups and present information to them in the most 
appropriate format. These formats include annual 
report. Following the launch of our corporate website, 
we have continued to develop and update the contents 
and make those available to our stakeholders. We 
communicate with our stakeholders throughout the year 
and engagement is integrated into our business decision-
making processes. This 360-degree dialogue is essential in 
providing all parties with a rounded view of all material 
issues and helps all to shape their actions and strategies 
to move forward on these matters.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

UCL’s Corporate Social Responsibility efforts continue to 
grow along with our business, creating positive change 
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in our communities and deepening those connections 
among our employees, customers, neighbors, and other 
partners. Being a responsible business is integral to our 
success and that of the customers, clients, shareholders 
and communities we serve around the country. Corporate 
social responsibility is embedded in our values and informs 
how we conduct business, develop products and services 
and deliver on our goals and commitments.

Our CSR report demonstrates how our business practices 
and operations impact our local communities. We’re 
working with our stakeholders to strengthen Bangladesh’s 
sustainable future by supporting economic growth, giving 
back to our communities and being responsible to our 
environment. UCL Group supports a number of charities 
in the community where our employees and customers 
live and work. A separate report on CSR activities is given 
in the page 163 to 168 of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors and the Management of 
the Company are committed to strong corporate 
governance and believe it is a vital component for the 
effective and efficient operation and future success of the 
Company. Good corporate governance demonstrates 
the Board’s ability to independently direct and evaluate 
the performance of the Company’s management, as well 
as that of the Board members themselves. This is achieved 
through a well-qualified Board, a strong relationship 
between the Board and senior management, and strong 
governance practices and procedures.

Strong corporate governance is about companies having 
clear and systematic decision-making processes, thus 
providing clarity about responsibilities, avoiding conflicts 
of interest and ensuring satisfactory transparency. 
Commitment to UCL’s mission and vision requires the 
integration of sound corporate governance practices 
into regular business activities in order to, attain – as far 
as possible – a company that is well governed and well 
managed.

The main emphasis is on the Board of Directors in its role 
as the main decision-making body in UCL’s corporate 
governance structure, and the interaction with the 
other bodies to ensure sound corporate governance. 
The Corporate Governance section in this Annual Report 
provides detailed information relating to the UCL’s 
Corporate Governance practices.

HUMAN RESOURCE

In today’s businesses, the right approach and 
management of the company’s employees can greatly 
affect the company’s overall performance. Starting from 
right staffing to maintaining performing employees, HR 
management is key in developing not only the employees, 
but the whole organization itself. Developing not only 
management but also its employees is significant. To 
keep up with competition, employees are given with a 
number of reasons to stay with the company, and do 
their jobs exemplary well. Their continuous growth, the 
right compensation and benefits, and work-life balance 

are ensured that motivate employees to perform better, 
producing better results for the customers and ultimately, 
the company. Union Capital persistently reviews the 
existing human resource policies and implements 
effective management policies and practices to enrich 
its employees. We believe that our human resources are 
our competitive advantage in terms of their sincerity, 
experience and professional expertise. Considering this, 
we uncompromisingly take appropriate policy to recruit 
the best suited persons for the right places, provide them 
adequate training facilities and implement programs to 
develop and retain high quality human resources. UCL 
carefully look into the motivational aspects, health and 
safety of its employees. A separate report on HR is given 
in page 174 to 176 of this report.

BUSINESS CONDUCT POLICY

We have built a strong company that is well regarded 
around the country. Every day our actions, promises, ethics 
and attitudes reflect on UCL as a whole and each of the 
other employees with whom we work. At all times, we will 
strive to operate in a manner that protects employee 
safety and health.

We offer sustainable solutions to environmental problems 
in the fields of energy and waste management, and 
our businesses are heavily regulated and scrutinized. We 
are committed to fostering an ethos of environmental 
responsibility that goes beyond compliance, and our 
environmental policies rest on the core principles i.e. 
compliance, conservation, qualification and commitment. 
We are an equal opportunity employer. We have and will 
continue to recruit, select, train, promote, compensate, 
transfer, discipline and take all other personnel actions 
without regard to race, color, religion, gender, age, 
marital status, or any other characteristic protected 
by applicable law. As a publicly traded company, we 
disclose a great deal of information publicly and are 
responsible to ensure that this information is accurate 
and complete. It is essential that our books, records 
and accounts accurately, fairly and in reasonable detail 
reflect the transactions related to our business so that our 
financial statements are fairly presented in all material 
respects, and all other information we publicly disclose, 
and the reports we file with the Bangladesh Securities 
and Exchange Commission, do not contain any material 
misstatement or omission.

ENVIRONMENTAL & SOCIAL INITIATIVES

As financial service provider, our impact on the 
environment is relatively less and indirect. We’re working 
to reduce our environmental impact by embedding 
the environment into our business – and by involving our 
employees, our customers, and our communities. UCL has 
a commitment to long-term environmental sustainability. 
We are also committed to taking environmental & 
social issues into account when conducting its business 
activities. This includes operational measures to reduce 
our consumption of resources, as well as our contribution 
to climate protection. We also develop products and 
services that address our clients’ financial needs, as well 
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as environmental and social themes. It considers the 
clearance certificate from the regulators in time of 
providing financing facilities.

We’re concentrating our efforts on issues where we can 
be most effective. Based on input from our customers, 
employees and community, we have selected 3 areas of 
focus for operations: responsible paper use, energy and 
emissions, engaging our employees and communities. 
Our environmental initiatives have been reported on 
page 168 of this Annual Report.

CODE OF CONDUCT AND BUSINESS ETHICS

UCL’s code of conduct applies to everyone who is 
employed by our company. Each of us is accountable 
for upholding the highest ethical standards as we 
execute our responsibilities. Managers and leaders are 
also responsible for establishing and nurturing a culture 
in which employees feel fully empowered, supported and 
obligated to do the right thing.

The Code is based on our company’s Core Values. The 
Code of Ethics provides the guidance we need to translate 
our values into action as we compete in the marketplace 
and engage with customers, clients, shareholders, and 
each other. As we work together to achieve our goals, it is 
equally important that we commit to one another that 
we will always do business and grow the right way - with 
the honesty, integrity and fair dealing that our Code of 
Ethics and our Core Values require.

CONTRIBUTION TO NATIONAL ECONOMY

We recognize that Union Capital Limited has the 
corporate responsibilities to the development of the 
community and the country as a whole. We aspire to be 
known as an institution that builds enduring relationship 
with and delivers value for our customers, shareholders, 
employees and the community where we do business. 
As a financial service provider, UCL contributes to the 
economic prosperity by providing financial products and 
services to the industrial undertakings including SMEs. UCL 
contributes to the economy paying out fair share of taxes 
to Government. Union Capital deposits taxes regularly to 
the National Exchequer by way of collection of income 
taxes and VAT at sources from payments and also deposits 
of corporate income taxes. During the reporting period, 
the deposited amount was BDT 145.43 million. We make 
an economic impact by creating employment and a well-
trained workforce. Sustainable economic growth and 
a healthy environment are inter linked. In this backdrop, 
we take supportive role in terms of providing financial 
services by restricting and discouraging those projects 
that cause pollution for environment and health hazard. 
UCL invests in sustainable economic development, and we 
are committed to contributing to the success of people 
and businesses in the community in which we operate. 
We support stimulate economic growth by investing in 
programs that enable economic development with a 
social purpose. We also encourage our employees to 
participate in social and charitable programs. A detailed 
report on the contribution to national economy has been 

given on page 172 to 173  of the Annual Report.

AUDIT INFORMATION

The Directors who held office at the date of this Director’s 
Report confirm that:

•	 So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant 
audit information of which the company’s auditors are 
unaware; and

•	 The Directors have taken all the steps that they 
themselves ought to have taken as Directors in order 
to make themselves aware of any relevant information 
and to establish that the company’s Auditors are 
aware of that information.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

In the ordinary course of business, a number of transactions 
with other entities that fall within the definition of related 
party contained in Bangladesh Accounting Standard 
24: Related Party Disclosures. The Company extends 
loans/leases and takes deposits to/from related parties 
including its Directors and related companies. Details 
of related party transactions along-with their basis has 
been disclosed in note no. 45 of the notes to the Financial 
Statements on page 251 of this annual report.

APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS

The Financial Institutions Act, 1993 and BSEC’s Notification 
dated 28 June 2018 stipulated that an Auditor of a 
Financial Institution cannot be appointed for more than 
three consecutive years. Moreover, section 210(10) of the 
Companies Act, 1994 also gives authority to shareholders 
of the company to fix the Auditor’s remuneration. M/S. K. 
M. Hasan & Co., Chartered Accountants have completed 
their second year as statutory auditors of the company 
and hence eligible for re-appointment. M/S. K. M. Hasan 
& Co., Chartered Accountants having its office at 
Hometown Apartments, 87 New Eskaton Road, Dhaka - 
1000 have expressed their willingness to be re-appointed 
as the statutory Auditor of the company for the year 
2020. The Broad in its meeting held on 30 July 2020 
recommended the shareholders to appoint M/S. K. M. 
Hasan & Co., Chartered Accountants at a remuneration 
of BDT 200,000/- plus VAT for the year 2020 subject to 
the approval of Bangladesh Bank.

APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS FOR CERTIFICATION 
ON COMPLIANCE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
CODE OF BSEC AND FIXATION OF THEIR 
REMUNERATION

The Board recommended M/S. Ahmed Zaker & Co., 
Chartered Accountants having its office at 89 Kakrail, 
Green Edge (Level-10), Dhaka - 1000, Bangladesh as the 
Auditors of the Company to conduct compliance audit 
for certification on the compliance on conditions of 
Corporate Governance Code for the year 2020 at a fee 
of Tk. 30,000 (thirty thousand) plus VAT for approval of 
the Shareholders in the twenty-second Annual General 
Meeting. 
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FUTURE OUTLOOK

2020 is expected to be another challenging year for 
our economy and UCL group as well. The GDP growth 
forecast for FY 2020 is revised somewhat higher still with 
the expectation that exports will grow with continued 
economic recovery in the US and the euro area, strong 
expansion in remittances will boost consumption demand, 
private and public investment will pick up as the business 
climate improves under a stabilizing political situation, 
and spending will increase under the Annual Development 
Program. We recognize a number of challenges, which 
includes increased competition, and slow recovery 
due to adverse investment climate, volatility in capital 
& money market. Because of involvement of banks in 
leasing business, competitiveness in leasing has been 
intensified further. Moreover, banks are charging higher 
interest for NBFIs comparing to their other corporate 
clients. Another big challenge for NBFIs is payment of 
tax on interest suspense account. High corporate tax 
on NBFIs is another challenge for us. NBFIs are taxed at 
the rate of 37.50 percent (in case of listed companies) 
and at the rate of 40.00 percent (in case of non-listed 
companies). While financial products and capital market 
expected to remain dominant in the long run, we expect 
to see continued growth in demand for our products and 
services in the short-run as well, which will require further 
strengthening our existing services, specially as our clients 
move into more comfortable operating environment. We 
have adequate capital and we are quite large in terms of 
providing a full range of financial services. Our presence in 
the market is growing steadily and we have improved our 
presence in all areas of operations. We have professionals 
with profound managerial talents and perhaps most 

importantly, we have a hard earned reputation as one of 
the top service providers in our industry. We are confident 
that we have the right team and the strategy in place 
to achieve our goal. While there has certainly been a 
challenging few years for UCL, we feel good about where 
we are going.
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employees. Their enthusiasm and unstinting efforts 
have enabled the Company to grow better than 
before. We hope similar support from all of you that 
will underpin our continuous growth.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Sd/-

Chowdhury Tanzim Karim
Chairman



76 Union Capital Limited

Annual Report 2019

Annexure – I
Directors’ Meeting and attendance 

Name of the Directors Nominated by
Eligible to 

Attend
Meetings 
Attended

Percent of 
Attendance

Change during 2019

Chowdhury Tanzim Karim EC Securities Ltd. 12 12 100.00% Continuing

Mr. Waqar A. Choudhury Self 12 07 58.33% Continuing

Ms. Sabita Rezwana Rahman Self 12 12 100.00% Continuing

Kazi Russel Mahbub
Palmal Garments 

Hosiery Ltd.
12 02 16.67% Continuing

Mr. M. Faizur Rahman Self 12 09 75.00%
Retired and re-elected on 

20 June

Mr. Nadeem A. Chaudhury Enrilco Limited 12 07 58.33%
Retired and re-elected on 

20 June

Mrs. Meherunnesa Haque Self 12 09 75.00%
Retired and re-elected on 

20 June

Mr. Md. Fayekuzzaman EC Securities Ltd. 12 12 100.00%
Retired and re-elected on 

20 June

Ms. Tajrina Sikder
Palmal Garments 

Hosiery Ltd.
12 05 41.67%

Retired and re-elected on 

20 June

Mr. Abdul Karim *
Independent 

Director
07 06 85.71% Resigned from the Board 

Mr. Mohammad Nurun Nabi, FCA **
Independent 

Director
08 08 100.00% Excluded due to death

Mr. Nasiruddin Ahmed ***
Independent 

Director
04 03 75.00%

Appointment and 

continuing 

Mr. Munshi Shafiul  Haque ****
Independent 

Director
03 03 100.00%

Appointment and 

continuing 

Mr. Md. Abdus Salam FCA, FCS *****
Independent 

Director
01 01 100.00%

Appointment and 

continuing 

* 	 Mr. Abdul Karim, Independent Director of the Company resigned from the Board and the Board of Directors, in its 268th BOD Meeting held on         

10 July 2019 approved his resignation.

**	 Mr. Nurun Nabi FCA, Independent Director of the Company died on 18 September 2019 and eventually excluded from the Board of Directors of 

the Company. 

***	 The Board in its 269th BOD Meeting held on 29 July 2019 appointed Mr. Nasiruddin Ahmed as the Independent Director of the Company.

****	 The Board in its 270th BOD Meeting held on 29 September 2019 appointed Mr. Munshi Shafiul Haque as the Independent Director of the Company.

*****	The Board in its 272nd BOD Meeting held on 28 November 2019 appointed Mr. Md. Abdus Salam FCA, FCS as the Independent Director of the Company.

Annexure – II
Substantial Shareholdings 

Name of Sponsor & Directors Percent of Shareholders

Palmal Garments Hosiery Ltd. 9.73
EC Securities 7.22
Enrilco Limited 4.58
Muhammad Faizur Rahman 4.38
Khurshida Chaudhury 2.77
Sabita Rezwana Rahman 2.20
Kazi Golam Samiur Rahman 2.20
Waqar A. Choudhury 2.03
Meherunnesa Haque 2.02
Engr. M Abu Taher 1.22
Mr. Abdus Salam 1.12
Runa N. Alam 0.81
Rumana Sharif 0.21
Total 40.50
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Annexure – III
Pattern of Shareholdings

Sponsor Shareholder/Directors No. of shares held percentage

Palmal Garments Hosiery Ltd 16,792,968 9.73
EC Securities Ltd. 12,459,305 7.22
Enrilco Limited 7,902,285 4.58
Mr. Muhammad Faizur Rahman 7,560,905 4.38
Khurshida Choudhury 4,780,213 2.77
Sabita Rezwana Rahman 3,803,920 2.20
Kazi Golam Samiur Rahman 3,803,919 2.20
Waqar A. Choudhury 3,503,634 2.03
Meherunnesa Haque 3,494,029 2.02
Engr. M Abu Taher 2,106,826 1.22
Mr. Abdus Salam 1,935,824 1.12
Runa N. Alam 1,397,421 0.81
Rumana Sharif 355,984 0.21

Senior Executives

Managing Director & CEO Nil

Company Secretary Nil

Chief Financial Officer Nil

Head of Internal Audit Nil

Other top five Executives Nil
A N M Golam Shabbir Nil

Fazle Karim Murad Nil

Syed Arefeen Jubyed Nil

Muhammad Salah Uddin Nil

Khandaker Md. Forhad Abedin Nil

Shareholder holing 10% or more voting rights

Shareholder holding 10% or more voting interest in the company Nil

Annexure – IV
Range of Shareholdings

The distribution schedule of shareholdings as on 31 December 2019 was as under:

Shareholding Range No. of shareholders No. of shares % of total

Less than 500 1,937 320,585 0.19

501 to 5,000 3,954 7,948,151 4.61

5,001 to 10,000 881 6,278,671 3.64

10,001 to 20,000 499 6,945,789 4.02

20,001 to 30,000 183 4,402,658 2.55

30,001 to 40,000 90 3,126,289 1.81

40,001 to 50,000 49 2,234,987 1.30

50,001 to 100,000 112 7,677,626 4.45

100,001 to 1,000,000 99 28,882,773 16.74

Over 1,000,000 29 104,756,314 60.70

Total 7,833 172,573,843 100.00 
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Board Audit Committee was formed in compliance with Bangladesh Bank guidelines and Bangladesh Securities 
and Exchange Commission (BSEC) notification on Corporate Governance with a view to providing independent 
oversight of the Company’s financial reporting, non-financial corporate disclosure, effectiveness of internal control, 
compliance and sound monitoring system within the organization as set out in the Committee Charter.

Audit committee of UCL is consisted of a selected 
number of members of the Board of Directors whose 
responsibilities include among others helping auditors 
remain independent of management. The Audit 
Committee also assists the Board of Directors to ensure 
that the financial statements reflect a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Company.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee consists of five Directors of the 
Company appointed by the Board of Directors. In order to 
fulfill a quorum, at least three members of the committee 
must be present in the meeting. The appointment of an 
Independent Director is ratified by the shareholders in 
the Annual General Meeting. An Independent Director 
is in the Chair of the Audit Committee. As required, all 
members of Audit Committee are financially literate and 
are able to analyze and interpret financial statements 
to effectively discharge their duties and responsibilities as 
member of the Audit Committee.

In compliance with Section 3.2 (i) of the Corporate 
Governance Notification issued by the BSEC on 07 August 
2012, the Board Audit Committee was first reformed on 31 
December 2012 by appointing an Independent Director 
as Chairman. As on 31 December 2019 the Board Audit 
Committee comprises the following members:

Mr. Nasiruddin Ahmed, Chairman

Mr. M. Faizur Rahman, Member

Ms. Sabita Rezwana Rahman, Member

Mr. Nadeem A. Chaudhury, Member

Mr. Md. Fayekuzzaman, Member

Biographical details of the current members of the 
Committee are set out on page 51 to 56. The members’ 
fees as fixed by the Board of Directors under the 
guidelines of Bangladesh Bank are shown in the table of 
remuneration of the audit committee members on page 
100 of the report.

Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Head of Internal Control and 
Compliance (ICC) and the representatives of the external 
auditors (if required) are invited to attend the committee 
meetings. As per the requirement of the committee, the 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) or other employees may be 
invited in the meetings.

OBJECTIVE OF THE COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee performs in absolute coherence 
and ensures compliance with the regulators guidelines. By 
effectively carrying out its functions and responsibilities, 
the audit committee helps to ensure that management 

properly develops and adheres to a sound system 
of internal controls, that procedures are in place to 
objectively assess management’s practices and internal 
controls, and that the outside auditors, through their 
own review, objectively assess the company’s financial 
reporting practices. The objective of the committee is 
to assist the Board in fulfilling its corporate governance 
responsibilities, particularly:

•	 The reliability and integrity of information for inclusion 
in Company’s financial statements;

•	 Compliance with legal and regulatory obligations, 
including audit, accounting, tax and financial reporting 
obligations;

•	 The integrity of company’s internal control framework;

•	 Safeguarding the independence of the external and 
internal auditors;

•	 Ensuring that the management has selected 
accounting policies that are in line with applicable 
accounting standards; and

•	 Reviewing interim financial releases i.e., quarterly and half 
yearly unaudited financial statements and recommend 
the same to the Board of Directors for approval.

The engagement partner of the external audit firm is 
invited to attend each Annual General Meeting and to 
be available to answer shareholders questions about the 
conduct of the audit and the preparation and content 
of the auditor’s report.

CHAIRMAN OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Committee is chaired by an Independent Director 
Mr. Nasiruddin Ahmed who has required knowledge and 
extensive experience to serve in this role. 

Mr. Nasiruddin Ahmed  started his banking career by 
joining State Bank of Pakistan in early seventies. He has a 
successful banking career of almost forty-six years having 
exposure in almost every area of banking operations and 
management including finance and investments, human 
resources management and development, performances, 
integration of information technology and quality control 
in banking operations while rendering responsibilities at 
State Bank of Pakistan (SBP), Habib Bank Limited, Agrani 
Bank Limited, Islami Bank Limited and Prime Bank Limited.

The biography of Mr. Nasiruddin Ahmed is given on page 
55 of this Annual Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER 

Purpose

To assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight 
responsibilities for (1) the integrity of the UCL’s financial 
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